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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Peakstone Realty Trust, other than historical facts,
may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We intend
for all such forward-looking statements to be covered by the applicable safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements
contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements relate to
expectations, beliefs, projections, future plans and strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning
matters that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking
terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
or “potential” or the negative of these words and phrases or similar words or phrases which are predictions of or indicate future
events or trends and which do not relate solely to historical matters. You can also identify forward-looking statements by
discussions of strategy, plans or intentions.

99 ¢¢ EENT3 EENT3

The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report reflect our current views about future events and are
subject to numerous known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and changes in circumstances that may cause our
actual results to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. The following factors, among
others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-
looking statements: general economic and financial conditions; market volatility; inflation; any potential recession or threat of
recession; interest rates; the impact of the work-from-home trends; recent and ongoing disruption in the debt and banking
markets; occupancy, rent deferrals and the financial condition of our tenants; whether easing of the pandemic, work-from-home
trends or other factors will impact the attractiveness of industrial and/or office assets; whether we will be successful in renewing
leases as they expire; future financial and operating results, plans, objectives, expectations and intentions; expected sources of
financing and the availability and attractiveness of the terms of any such financing; legislative and regulatory changes that
could adversely affect our business; our future capital expenditures, operating expenses, net income, operating income, cash
flow and developments and trends of the real estate industry; whether the Listing (defined below) will be completed; whether
the proposed Listing will maximize shareholder value; whether we will be successful in the pursuit of our business plan,
including any dispositions; whether we will succeed in our investment objectives; any relationship between the trading price of
our common shares at the proposed Listing and our published net asset value; any fluctuation and/or volatility of the trading
price of our common shares once listed; risks associated with our dependence on key personnel whose continued service is not
guaranteed; risks related to the disruption of management’s attention from ongoing business operations due to pursuit of
requirements related to being a listed company; whether we will comply with Sarbanes-Oxley as required of listed companies;
and other factors discussed in Part [, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and Part II, Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of this Annual Report.

While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, assumptions and expectations, they are not guarantees of
future performance. The forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Furthermore, we disclaim any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in
underlying assumptions or factors, of new information, data or methods, future events or other changes. Moreover, because we
operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, new risk factors are likely to emerge from time to time. We
caution investors not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements and urge you to carefully review the
disclosures we make concerning risks in Part [, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and Part II, Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Annual Report. Readers of this Annual Report should also
read our other periodic filings made with the Securities and Exchange Commission and other publicly filed documents for
further discussion regarding such factors.



Summary of Risk Factors

. There is currently no public trading market for our common shares and there may never be one. While we have
announced our intention to pursue the proposed Listing (as defined below), there is no assurance that the Listing will
be completed, and if it is not completed; it will be difficult for our shareholders to sell their shares.

. If the proposed Listing occurs, trading in our common shares, at the time of and following the proposed Listing, could
experience substantial volatility, and the trading price of our common shares could decline significantly due to actual
or anticipated sales of our common shares by our shareholders or other factors, which could have a material adverse
effect on us. If the proposed Listing occurs, the trading price of our common shares may vary significantly from our
previously published NAV (as defined below).

. Our shareholders are subject to the risk that our distributions to shareholders may change, which could adversely
impact the attractiveness of owning our common shares.

. Our shareholders are subject to the risk that our business and operating plans may change.

. Conflicts of interest may exist or could arise in the future between the interests of our shareholders and the interests of
holders of common limited partnership units (“OP Units”) of PKST OP, L.P., our operating partnership (“Operating
Partnership”), which may impede business decisions that could benefit our shareholders. Additionally, the current
chairman of our board of trustees (the “Board”) is a controlling person of entities that have received OP Units, and
therefore may face conflicts with regard to his fiduciary duties to the Company and those entities.

. If the Company has not redeemed the Series A convertible preferred shares (the “Series A Preferred Shares™),
completed the Listing or listed the Series A Preferred Shares on a national exchange by August 1, 2023, then on or
after such date the holder of our Series A Preferred Shares has a right to require us to redeem the Series A Preferred
Shares for cash. Accordingly, unless we have completed the Listing or listed our Series A Preferred Shares by such
date, if the holder exercises this right we will need to allocate cash to satisfy this redemption when there may be a
shortage of cash or when we may prefer to allocate cash to other uses consistent with our business plans. In addition,
after August 8, 2023, the preferred holder has the right, at its option, to convert its Series A Preferred Shares into
common shares of the Company. Such conversion would dilute the interests of our other shareholders unless the
Company elects to satisfy such conversion by making a cash payment to the preferred holder (in which case we would
have to allocate cash thereto when there may be a shortage of cash or when we may prefer to allocate cash to other
uses consistent with our business plans).

. Our shareholders’ percentage ownership interest in the Company will be diluted if we issue additional shares or if our
Operating Partnership issues additional OP Units.

. A substantial portion of our portfolio is comprised of office assets, which have generally experienced a decrease in
demand. Office assets may experience a further decrease in leasing and investment demand and such decrease in
demand could have a material adverse effect on us. Further, our ability to sell any of our office assets may be limited
in the current economic climate.

. Most of our properties are occupied by a single tenant; therefore, income generated by nearly all of our properties is
dependent on the financial stability of a single tenant at each property. The bankruptcy, insolvency, merger, lack of
access to debt or equity capital or downturn in the business of, or a lease termination or election not to renew by one of
these tenants could have a material adverse effect on us.

. We currently rely on five tenants for approximately a quarter of our revenue and adverse effects to their business could
have a material adverse effect on us.

. Our operating results will be affected by economic and regulatory changes, such as inflation and rising interest rates
that have an adverse impact on the real estate market in general, and we cannot provide any assurance that we will be
profitable or that we will realize growth in the value of our real estate properties.

. Failure to continue to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distributions
because we would incur additional tax liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on us.



PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The use herein of the words “PKST,” “the Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Peakstone Realty Trust, a Maryland
real estate investment trust, and its subsidiaries, including PKST OP L.P., our operating partnership (our “Operating
Partnership”), except where the context otherwise requires.

Overview

Peakstone Realty Trust is an internally managed, publicly registered real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that owns and
operates a high-quality, newer-vintage portfolio of predominantly single-tenant industrial and office properties. These assets are
generally leased to creditworthy tenants under long-term net lease agreements with contractual rent escalations. The Company’s
wholly-owned portfolio contains properties with key characteristics, including difficult-to-replicate locations and significant
tenant investment in the building, which the Company believes make these properties more essential to the tenants. Nearly
75% of the Annualized Base Rent (as defined below) from our wholly-owned portfolio is generated from properties located in
coastal and sun belt markets, areas where we believe demographic drivers such as strong median household income and
educational attainment create a more favorable economic backdrop.

The Company, founded in 2009 and headquartered in El Segundo, California, is led by an experienced, cycle-tested
management team that, through equity ownership, is financially aligned with shareholders. Our executive management team has
an average of approximately 34 years of commercial real estate experience and decades of experience operating public
companies. In addition to the executive team, the Company’s nine senior real estate professionals average approximately 23
years of experience, and the entire senior real estate team has averaged nine years of experience working together. The team has
extensive knowledge of the Company’s existing portfolio and has nurtured a broad network of long-standing industry
relationships, especially in the markets where the Company’s properties are located.

As of December 31, 2022, we owned 81 properties in 24 states. Our contractual base rent before abatements and
deducting base year operating expenses for gross and modified gross leases multiplied by 12 months (“Annualized Base Rent”)
as of December 31, 2022 is approximately $223.9 million. As of December 31, 2022, our portfolio was approximately 95.5%
leased (based on square footage), with a weighted average remaining lease term of 7.1 years and weighted average annual rent
increases of approximately 2.0%. Approximately 61.5% of our Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022 was generated
by properties leased and/or guaranteed, directly or indirectly, by companies that have investment grade credit ratings or what
management believes are generally equivalent ratings.

History and Structure

Our platform was founded in 2009 with the launch of our predecessor, Griffin Capital Essential Asset REIT, Inc. (our
“Predecessor”), a publicly-registered, non-traded REIT that acquired a geographically diversified portfolio of strategically
located, high-quality corporate industrial and office properties primarily leased to single tenants. Our Predecessor’s business
plan was focused on the acquisition of assets that, in Predecessor management’s opinion, were more essential to the tenant.

In 2013, our Predecessor completed its primary offering, and we (then named Griffin Capital Essential Asset REIT I,
Inc.) were launched with the same business plan as our Predecessor.

On December 14, 2018, our Predecessor further aligned management with investors by internalizing management in a
transaction whereby the former sponsor of our Predecessor and us, Griffin Capital Company, LLC (“GCC”), and Griffin
Capital, LLC sold the advisory, asset management and property management business of Griffin Capital Real Estate Company,
LLC to us in exchange for limited partnership units of our Operating Partnership. On that date, we also announced a proposed
combination of operations with our Predecessor and certain other related entities (the “Predecessor Merger”). The Predecessor
Merger closed on April 30, 2019 and the surviving company was renamed Griffin Capital Essential Asset REIT, Inc.

On March 1, 2021, we completed our acquisition of Cole Office & Industrial REIT (CCIT II), Inc. for approximately $1.3
billion, including transaction costs, in a stock-for-stock transaction (the “CCIT II Merger”). On July 1, 2021, we changed our
name from Griffin Capital Essential Asset REIT, Inc. to Griffin Realty Trust, Inc. and our operating partnership changed its
name from Griffin Capital Essential Asset Operating Partnership L.P. to GRT OP, L.P.



On August 26, 2022, we completed the sale of a 41-property office portfolio (the “Office Portfolio Sale”) to a joint
venture (the “Office Joint Venture”) in which we hold a 49% interest and are a member. On December 27, 2022, we completed
a companion sale of a five-property portfolio (the “Companion Office Portfolio Sale”) to the Office Joint Venture.

On February 21, 2023, we announced our intention to list our common shares on the New York Stock Exchange (the
“Listing”). We expect the Listing to occur on or about April 13, 2023, subject to, among other things, obtaining approval from
the NYSE to list our common shares.

Structure

Like many other REITs, we utilize a structure known as an umbrella partnership REIT (“UPREIT”), pursuant to which we
conduct all of our business through our Operating Partnership, with our Operating Partnership, directly and indirectly through
subsidiaries, owning all of our assets and liabilities.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company, as the general partner, controlled our Operating Partnership and owned
approximately 91.0% of the OP Units. The remaining 9.0% of OP Units are owned by GCC and other affiliates of the
Company, as well as unaffiliated, third-party members.

On January 19, 2023, we converted our form of organization from a Maryland corporation to a Maryland real estate
investment trust and changed our name from Griffin Realty Trust, Inc. to Griffin Realty Trust. On March 10, 2023, in
anticipation of our Listing, we changed our name from Griffin Realty Trust to Peakstone Realty Trust and our Operating
Partnership changed its name to PKST OP, L.P.

Our Business Strategy

The Company’s primary long-term objective is to maximize shareholder value over time. Operating through three distinct
business segments — Industrial, Office and Other (for more details on segmentation see “Results of Operations — Segment
Information” below) — the Company is focused on improving per share metrics through internal and external growth, pursuing
multi-channel investments across the risk and capital spectrum, and maximizing strategic flexibility by targeting an investment
grade credit rating. The Company seeks to achieve this objective by leveraging the Company’s experienced, real estate-focused,
cycle-tested management team to pursue the following three-part strategy:

*  Own and operate a stabilized portfolio of wholly-owned, high-quality, newer-vintage single-tenant industrial and
office properties located in diverse, strategic growth markets: The Company intends to prudently and proactively
manage the cash flow generated from its portfolio. With a weighted average remaining lease duration exceeding seven
years as of December 31, 2022, our wholly-owned portfolio’s stability enables management to thoughtfully and
without undue pressure execute the Company’s self-funded business plan.

e Operate a self-funded business plan through capital recycling and free cash flow: Cash generated from the
Company’s portfolio provides management with a range of allocation options, none of which rely upon near term
outside capital. These options include (i) sale of properties, most likely certain office assets, (ii) selective reinvestment
in the portfolio where return on capital warrants such investment, (iii) further repayment of the Company’s outstanding
debt, (iv) return of capital to shareholders, and (v) selective acquisition of industrial properties.

o Selectively acquire high-quality, Class A industrial properties: We intend to acquire additional well-located, high-
quality industrial properties over time to benefit from secular tailwinds expected in this sector. Management has
identified specific markets where access to key transportation arteries including trade ports, intermodal (rail to truck)
hubs and interstate highway systems make these locations more desirable to tenants. The Company believes that
acquiring properties primarily in these areas provides the potential for rent rate growth, lower capital expenditure
requirements and higher returns.



Competition

The commercial real estate markets in which we operate are highly competitive. The leasing of real estate is also often
highly competitive, and we may experience competition for tenants from owners and managers of competing projects. As a
result, we may have to provide free rent, incur charges for tenant improvements, or offer other inducements, or we might not be
able to timely lease the space, all of which may have material adverse effect on us. Competition may also lead to an increase in
tenants electing to not renew their lease, seeking to reduce the amount of space they lease with us and/or seeking shorter lease
terms, which may also have a material effect on us. At the time we elect to dispose of our properties, we will also be in
competition with sellers of similar properties to locate suitable purchasers for our properties which could have a material
adverse impact on us.

Regulatory Matters
Overview

Our business is subject to many laws and governmental regulations. Changes in these laws and regulations, or their
interpretation by agencies and courts, occur frequently. We and any of our operating subsidiaries that we may form may be
subject to state and local tax in states and localities in which they or we do business or own property. The tax treatment of us,
our Operating Partnership, any of our operating subsidiaries we may form and the holders of our shares in local jurisdictions
may differ from our U.S. federal income tax treatment.

Americans with Disabilities Act

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the “ADA”), all public accommodations and commercial facilities are
required to meet certain federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. Failing to comply could result in the
imposition of fines by the federal government or an award of damages to private litigants. Although we diligence compliance
with laws, including the ADA, when we acquire properties, we may incur additional costs to comply with the ADA or other
regulations related to access by disabled persons. Although we believe that these costs will not have a material adverse effect on
us, if required changes involve a greater amount of expenditures than we currently anticipate, our ability to make expected
distributions could be adversely affected.

Environmental Matters

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real
property may be held liable for the costs of removing or remediating hazardous or toxic substances. These laws often impose
clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to whether the owner or operator was responsible for, or even knew of, the
presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The costs of investigating, removing or remediating these substances may be
substantial, and the presence of these substances may adversely affect our ability to lease or sell the property or to borrow using
the property as collateral and may expose us to liability resulting from any release of or exposure to these substances. If we
arrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances at another location, we may be liable for the costs of
removing or remediating these substances at the disposal or treatment facility, whether or not the facility is owned or operated
by us. We may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental
contamination emanating from a site that we own or operate. Certain environmental laws also impose liability in connection
with the handling of or exposure to asbestos-containing materials, pursuant to which third parties may seek recovery from
owners or operators of real properties for personal injury associated with asbestos-containing materials and other hazardous or
toxic substances. We maintain a pollution insurance policy for all of our properties to insure against the potential liability of
remediation and exposure risk. Also, numerous states and municipalities have adopted laws and policies on climate change and
emission reduction targets. If we are unable to meet the required emissions reductions, we may be subject to material fines that
will continue to be assessed each year we fail to comply.

Other Regulations

The properties we own and operate generally are subject to various federal, state and local regulatory requirements, such
as zoning and state and local fire and life safety requirements. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in the
imposition of fines by governmental authorities or awards of damages to private litigants. Through our due diligence process
and protections in our leases, we aim to own and operate properties that are in material compliance with all such regulatory
requirements. However, we cannot assure our shareholders that these requirements will not be changed or that new
requirements will not be imposed which would require significant unanticipated expenditures by us and could have an adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.



We conduct our operations so that we and our subsidiaries are not required to register as an investment company under
the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”), and monitor the structure and nature of our assets so that
we do not come within the definition of an “investment company” under the 1940 Act. If we or our subsidiaries fail to
maintain an exception or exemption from the 1940 Act, we may be required to, among other things, substantially change the
manner in which we conduct our operations to avoid being required to register as an investment company under the 1940 Act
or register as an investment company under the 1940 Act.

Human Capital Management

We are internally managed by an experienced and proven team that specializes in industrial and office properties. As of
December 31, 2022, we employed 36 people. We believe our employees are our greatest asset. Because of this perspective, we
have implemented a number of programs to foster their professional growth and their growth as global citizens.

We offer all of our employees a comprehensive benefits and wellness package, which includes paid time off and parental
leave, high-quality medical, dental and vision insurance, disability, pet and life insurance, fitness programs, 401(k) and long-
term incentive plans. We also encourage internal mobility in our organization and provide career enhancement and education
opportunities, as well as educational grants.

We believe that a wide range of opinions and experiences are key to our continued success, and we therefore value
racial, gender, and generational diversity throughout our organization. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 49% of our
employees were people of color/minorities and approximately 46% were women. In addition, as of December 31, 2022, half
of our eight-member Board was composed of women and/or minorities.

Our social policy extends beyond the individuals within our organization and encourages our employees to have a
positive impact on the community around us. Throughout our organization, we have a shared passion and dedication to giving
back to the communities in which we live and work.

Available Information

We make available on the “SEC Filings” subpage of the investor section of our website (www.pkst.com) free of charge our
annual reports on Form 10-K, including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, proxy statements, ownership reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 and any amendments to those reports as soon as
practicable after we electronically file such reports with the SEC. Our electronically filed reports can also be obtained on the
SEC’s internet site at http://www.sec.gov. Further, copies of our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and the charters for the
Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees of our Board are also available on the
“Governance Documents” subpage of the “Investors” section of our website. The Company also will routinely post important
information to its website about its business, operating results and financial condition and prospects, including, for example,
information about material acquisitions and dispositions, earnings releases and copies of investor presentations.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Shareholders should carefully consider the following risks in evaluating our company and our common shares. If any of
the following risks were to occur, our business, prospects, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, cash flow, ability
to satisfy our debt obligations, returns to our shareholders, the value of our shareholders’ investment in us and/or our ability to
make distributions to our shareholders could be materially and adversely affected, which we refer herein collectively as a
“material adverse effect on us.” Some statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements in the following
risk factors, constitute forward-looking statements. Refer to the section entitled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements” for additional information regarding these forward-looking statements.

Risks Related to Our Common Shares

There is currently no public trading market for our common shares and there may never be one. While we have
announced our intention to pursue the Listing, there is no assurance that the Listing will be completed, and if it is not
completed, it will be difficult for our shareholders to sell their shares.

There is currently no public trading market for our common shares and there may never be one. While we have announced
our intention to pursue the Listing, there is no assurance that the Listing will be completed, and if it is not completed, it will be
difficult for shareholders to sell their shares.



If we do not complete the proposed Listing, we have a share redemption program (the “SRP”), but it currently is
suspended. Even if the SRP was reinstated and is active and in effect, we may not have sufficient cash to satisfy the permitted

quarterly value of redemption requests. Our Board may limit, suspend, terminate or amend any provision of our SRP at any
time upon 10 days’ notice.

Furthermore, to ensure that we do not fail to qualify as a REIT, our charter also prohibits the ownership by any Person (as
defined in our charter) of more than 9.8% (in value or in number, whichever is more restrictive, as determined in good faith by
our Board) of the aggregate of our common shares or more than 9.8% of the value (as determined in good faith by our Board)
of the aggregate of outstanding Shares (as defined in our charter), unless waived by our Board. Such restriction may inhibit
large investors from desiring to purchase a shareholder’s shares, including in connection with a takeover that could otherwise
result in a premium price for our shareholders, and could impose further impediments to a shareholder’s ability to sell their
common shares.

If the proposed Listing occurs, trading in our shares, at the time of and following, the proposed Listing, could
experience substantial volatility, and the trading price of our common shares could decline significantly due to actual or
anticipated sales of our shares by our shareholders or other factors, which could have a material adverse effect on us. In
addition, if the proposed Listing occurs, the trading price of our common shares may vary significantly from our previously
published NAV (as defined below). Further, if you elect to sell your shares following the Listing, you may receive less for
the sale of those shares than the price you paid for those shares.

Our common shares currently are not listed on any national securities exchange and, as noted above, the ability of our
shareholders to liquidate their investments currently is limited. As a result, if the Listing occurs, there may be significant pent-
up demand by our shareholders seeking liquidity by selling their common shares. Therefore, if the proposed Listing occurs,
trading in our shares at the time of, and following, the proposed Listing could experience substantial volatility. The trading
price of our common shares could decline significantly due to the sale of substantial amounts of our common shares in the
public market by our shareholders, or the perception that such sales could occur, or other factors, which could have a material
adverse effect on us. In addition, if the proposed Listing occurs, the trading price of our common shares may vary significantly

from our previously published NAV. Further, if you elect to sell your shares following the Listing, you may receive less for the
sale of those shares than the price you paid for those shares.

Furthermore, the U.S. stock markets, including the NYSE, on which we have applied to list our common shares, have
experienced significant price and volume fluctuations, especially office REITs. As a result, the market price of our common
shares is likely to be similarly volatile, and investors in our common shares may experience a decrease in the value of their
shares, including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects. We cannot assure you that the market price of
our common shares will not fluctuate or decline significantly in the future.

In addition to the risks listed in this “Risk Factors” section, a number of factors could negatively affect the share price of
our common shares or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of our common shares, including:

* the annual yield from distributions on our common shares as compared to yields on other financial instruments;

* equity issuances by us, or future sales of substantial amounts of our common shares by our existing or future
shareholders, or the perception that such issuances or future sales may occur;

* increases in market interest rates or a decrease in our distributions to shareholders that lead purchasers of our common
shares to demand a higher yield,;

* changes in market valuations of similar companies;

« fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes from time to time due to a variety of factors, including from sales of
our common shares sold by our shareholders;

« additions or departures of key management personnel;
 our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;

* actual or anticipated differences in our quarterly operating results;
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« changes in expectations of future financial performance or changes in estimates of securities analysts;
* publication of research reports about us or our industry by securities analysts;
« failure to qualify as a REIT;

 adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we incur in the future, or our failure to establish debt levels that investors
believe are appropriate;

« strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestments, spin offs, joint ventures, strategic
investments or changes in business strategy;

« the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or our industry;
* speculation in the press or investment community;

 changes in our earnings;

* changes in the underlying value of real estate;

« failure to satisfy the listing requirements of the NYSE;

* failure to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

* actions by institutional shareholders;

 changes in accounting principles; and

« general market conditions, including factors unrelated to our performance.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in
the price of their common shares. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention
and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, our ability to execute our business strategy and our
ability to make distributions to our shareholders.

Our shares are subject to the risk that our distributions to shareholders may change, which could adversely impact the
attractiveness of owning our shares.

Considering the need to retain greater liquidity as a listed company, on February 21, 2023, the Company announced that
the Board had declared a reduced distribution rate of $0.90 per common share annualized, subject to adjustments for class-
specific expenses, for the month of February 2023, which was paid to shareholders on February 24, 2023. In addition, for
distributions following the February distribution, the Company will cease calculating and determining record holders for its
distribution rate daily, and instead will pay distributions to holders of common shares in a specific amount and on a specified
record date. Accordingly, on March 24, 2023, the Company announced that the Board had declared a distribution of $0.075 per
common share payable on May 12, 2023 to holders of record of its common shares on May 2, 2023, and if the Listing occurs
after the record date, the distribution will be paid with respect to each class of the Company’s currently outstanding common
shares, with appropriate adjustments for each class.

All distributions will be at the sole discretion of our Board and will depend upon our actual and projected financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows, liquidity and FFO, AFFO, maintenance of our REIT qualification and such other
matters as our Board may deem relevant from time to time. We intend to evaluate distributions throughout 2023, and it is
expected that shareholders will not receive distributions equivalent to those previously paid by us for various reasons, including
need to retain cash to satisfy our current obligations, including debt maturities, for investment purposes, working capital
reserves or other purposes. Shareholders have no contractual or other legal right to distributions that have not been authorized
and declared by the Board. We may not be able to make distributions in the future or may need to fund such distributions from
external sources, as to which no assurances can be given. In addition, as noted above, we may choose to retain operating cash
flow, and these retained funds, although increasing the value of our assets on our balance sheet, may not correspondingly
increase the market price of our common shares. Our failure to meet the market’s expectations with regard to future cash
distributions likely would adversely affect the market price of our common shares.
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Our shareholders are subject to the risk that our business and operating plans may change.

Our Board may change our investment objectives, targeted investments, borrowing policies or other corporate policies
without shareholder approval.

Increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the value of our common shares.

One of the factors that may influence the price of our common shares will be the dividend distribution rate on our common
shares (as a percentage of the price of our common shares) relative to market interest rates. If market interest rates rise,
prospective purchasers of our common shares may expect a higher distribution rate. Higher interest rates would not, however,
result in more funds being available for distribution and, in fact, would likely increase our borrowing costs and might decrease
our funds available for distribution. We therefore may not be able, or we may not choose, to provide a higher distribution rate.
As a result, prospective purchasers may decide to purchase other securities rather than our common shares, which would reduce
the demand for, and result in a decline in the market price of, our common shares.

Risks Related to Our Conflicts of Interest

Conflicts of interest may exist or could arise in the future between the interests of our shareholders and the interests of
holders of OP Units, which may impede business decisions that could benefit our shareholders. Additionally, the current
chairman of our Board is a controlling person of entities that own OP Units, and therefore may face conflicts with regard to
his fiduciary duties to the Company and those entities.

Conflicts of interest exist or could arise in the future between the interests of our shareholders and the interests of holders
of OP Units. Our trustees and officers have duties to the Company under applicable Maryland law in connection with their
management of the Company. At the same time, we, as the general partner of our Operating Partnership have fiduciary duties,
and obligations to our Operating Partnership and its partners in connection with the management of our Operating Partnership
under Delaware law and the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership. Our fiduciary duties and obligations as general
partner to our Operating Partnership and its partners may come into conflict with the duties of our trustees and officers to the
Company. Additionally, the current chairman of our Board is a controlling person of entities that own OP Units, and therefore
may face conflicts of interest with respect to his fiduciary duties to the Company and those entities.

Certain of our executive officers own an interest in an incentive compensation plan controlled by the current chairman
of our Board and pursuant to which they may be entitled to receive substantial payments, which could cause these executive
officers to make decisions with respect to the Company that are not in the best interest of the Company.

Our chief executive officer (Mr. Escalante), chief financial officer (Mr. Bitar), and two of our executive vice presidents
(Messrs. Sohn and Tausk) are participants in a long-term incentive program of GCC, an entity owned and controlled by the
current chairman of our Board (the “GCC Incentive Plan”) as a result of their prior service to GCC, including as a result of their
role in our internalization transaction in 2018. Each of these executives may be entitled to receive certain payments from the
GCC Incentive Plan, which payments could be substantial. The possibility of receiving these payments could cause these
executive officers to make decisions with respect to the Company that are not in the best interest of our Company.

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure

If the Company has not redeemed the Series A Preferred Shares, completed the Listing or listed the Series A Preferred
Shares on a national exchange by August 1, 2023, then on or after such date the holder of our Series A Preferred Shares
has a right to require us to redeem the Series A Preferred Shares for cash. Accordingly, unless we have completed the
Listing or listed our Series A Preferred Shares on a national securities exchange by such date, if the holder exercises this
right we will need to allocate cash to satisfy this redemption when there may be a shortage of cash or when we may prefer to
allocate cash to other uses consistent with our business plans. In addition, after August 8, 2023, the preferred holder has
the right, at its option, to convert its Series A Preferred Shares into common shares of the Company. Any such conversion
would dilute the interests of our other shareholders unless the Company elects to satisfy such conversion by making a cash
payment to the preferred holder (in which case we would have to allocate cash thereto when there may be a shortage of cash
or when we may prefer to allocate cash to other uses consistent with our business plans). Any of the foregoing risks could
have a material adverse effect on us.

We have issued 5,000,000 Series A Preferred Shares that rank senior to all of our other shares, including our common
shares, and grant the holder certain rights that are superior or additional to the rights of common shareholders, including with
respect to the payment of distributions, liquidation preference, redemption rights, and conversion rights. Distributions on the

12



Series A Preferred Shares are cumulative and are declared and payable quarterly in arrears. Under the terms of the original
purchase agreement for the Series A Preferred Shares, the holder of the Series A Preferred Shares agreed to purchase an
additional 5,000,000 Series A Preferred Shares at a later date for an additional purchase price of $125.0 million, subject to
satisfaction of certain conditions. Accordingly, under certain circumstances, the preferred holder may have a right to purchase a
second tranche of the Series A Preferred Shares.

If the Company has not completed the Listing or listed its Series A Preferred Shares on a national exchange by August 1,
2023, then on or after such date, the holder of the Series A Preferred Shares has a right to require us to redeem the Series A
Preferred Shares for cash. Accordingly, unless we have completed the Listing or listed our Series A Preferred Shares on a
national securities exchange by such date, if the holder exercises this right we will need to allocate cash to satisfy this
redemption when there may be a shortage of cash or when we may prefer to allocate cash to other uses consistent with our
business plans. In addition, after August 8, 2023, the preferred holder has the right, at its option, to convert its Series A
Preferred Shares into common shares of the Company. Any such conversion would dilute the interests of our other shareholders
unless the Company elects to satisfy such conversion by making a cash payment to the preferred holder (in which case we
would have to allocate cash thereto when there may be a shortage of cash or when we may prefer to allocate cash to other uses
consistent with our business plans). Any issuance of a second tranche of Series A Preferred Shares and the subsequent
conversion of such Series A Preferred Shares (which may be converted by the holder as soon as five years from the issuance
date thereof) would similarly be dilutive to our common shareholders, unless the Company elects to satisfy such conversion in
cash (in which case we would have to allocate cash thereto when there may be a shortage of cash or when we may prefer to
allocate cash to other uses consistent with our business plans). The Company has the right to redeem the Series A Preferred
Shares (including Series A Preferred Shares that may be issued in any such second tranche) at any time.

We are obligated to pay the holder of the Series A Preferred Shares its current distributions and any accumulated and
unpaid distributions prior to any distributions being paid to our common shareholders and, therefore, any cash available for
distribution is used first to pay distributions to the holder of the Series A Preferred Shares. The Series A Preferred Shares also
have a liquidation preference in the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of our affairs (a
“liquidation’) which could negatively affect any payments to the common shareholders in the event of a liquidation.

If we fail to pay distributions on the Series A Preferred Shares for six quarters (whether or not consecutive), the holder
will be entitled to elect two additional trustees of the Company (the “Preferred Shares Trustees™). The election will take place
at the next annual meeting of shareholders, or at a special meeting of the holder of Series A Preferred Shares called for that
purpose, and such right to elect Preferred Shares Trustees shall continue until all distributions accumulated on the Series A
Preferred Shares have been paid in full for all past distribution periods and the accumulated distribution for the then current
distribution period shall have been authorized, declared and paid in full or authorized, declared and a sum sufficient for the
payment thereof irrevocably set apart for payment in trust.

If any of the foregoing risks were to materialize, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our shareholders’ percentage ownership interest in the Company will be diluted if we issue additional shares or if our
Operating Partnership issues additional OP Units.

Our shareholders’ interest in the Company will be diluted if we issue additional shares. Our shareholders do not have
preemptive rights to any shares issued by us in the future. Subject to Maryland law, our Board may increase the number of
authorized common shares, increase or decrease the number of shares of any class or series of shares designated, or reclassify
any unissued shares without obtaining shareholder approval. Further, our outstanding and any later-issued Series A Preferred
Shares may be converted into our common shares under certain circumstances unless the Company elects to satisfy such
conversion by making a cash payment to the preferred holder. Existing shareholders will experience dilution of their equity
investment or voting power in the Company if we issue additional shares in the future, including issuing restricted common
shares or restricted share units (“RSUs”) to our independent trustees and executive officers, issuing shares in connection with
an exchange of partnership interests of the Operating Partnership, issuing additional OP Units or converting shares of the
outstanding tranche of our Series A Preferred Shares into our common shares.

Our charter contains certain ownership limits with respect to our shares.

Generally, to maintain our qualification as a REIT, no more than 50% in value of our outstanding shares may be owned,
directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals at any time during the last half of our taxable year (except with respect to the
first taxable year for which an election to be taxed as a REIT is made). The Code defines “individuals” for purposes of the
requirement described in the preceding sentence to include some types of entities. Our charter authorizes our Board to take such
actions as it determines are necessary or appropriate to preserve our qualification as a REIT. Our charter prohibits the
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ownership by any Person (as defined in our charter) of more than 9.8% (in value or in number, whichever is more restrictive, as
determined in good faith by our Board) of the aggregate of our common shares or more than 9.8% of the value (as determined
in good faith by our Board) of the aggregate of our outstanding Shares (as defined in our charter), unless waived by our Board.
For these purposes, our charter includes a “group” as that term is used for purposes of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act in
the definition of “Person.” Our Board may exempt a person, prospectively or retroactively, from these ownership limits if
certain conditions are satisfied.

This ownership limit and the other restrictions on ownership and transfer of our shares contained in our charter may:

e discourage a tender offer or other transactions or a change in management or of control that might involve a premium
price for our shares or that our shareholders might otherwise believe to be in their best interest; or

 result in the transfer of shares acquired in excess of the restrictions to a trust for the benefit of a charitable beneficiary
and, as a result, the forfeiture by the acquirer of the benefits of owning the additional shares.

Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control, which may discourage third parties from
conducting a tender offer or seeking other change of control transactions that might involve a premium price for our shares
or that our shareholders might otherwise believe to be in their best interest.

Certain provisions of the MGCL may have the effect of inhibiting a third party from making a proposal to acquire us or of
impeding a change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of common shares with the
opportunity to realize a premium price for our common shares, including:

*  “business combination” provisions that, subject to limitations, prohibit certain business combinations between us and
an “interested shareholder” (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power
of our shares or an affiliate thereof or an affiliate or associate of ours who was the beneficial owner, directly or
indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of our then-outstanding voting shares at any time within the two-year
period immediately prior to the date in question) for five years after the most recent date on which the shareholder
becomes an interested shareholder, and thereafter impose fair price and/or supermajority shareholder voting
requirements on these combinations; and

*  “control share” provisions that provide that a shareholder’s “control shares” of our Company (defined as shares (other
than shares acquired directly from us) that, when aggregated with other shares controlled by the shareholder, entitle the
shareholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges of voting power in electing trustees) acquired in a “control share
acquisition” (defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of ownership or control of issued and outstanding “control
shares”) have no voting rights with respect to their control shares, except to the extent approved by our shareholders by
the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all interested
shares.

As permitted by the MGCL, we have elected to opt out of the business combination and control share provisions of the
MGCL. However, we cannot assure you that our Board will not opt to be subject to such provisions of the MGCL in the future,
including opting to be subject to such provisions retroactively.

Further, Maryland statutory law provides that an act of a trustee relating to or affecting an acquisition or a potential
acquisition of control of a real estate investment trust may not be subject to a higher duty or greater scrutiny than is applied to
any other act of a trustee. Hence, trustees of a Maryland real estate investment trust by statute are not required to act in certain
takeover situations under the same standards of care, and are not subject to the same standards of review, as apply in Delaware
and other corporate jurisdictions.

Our shareholders’ investment return would be reduced if we were required to register as an investment company under
the 1940 Act and we would not be able to continue our business unless and until we registered under the 1940 Act.

We conduct our operations so that we and our subsidiaries are not required to register as an investment company under the
1940 Act.
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To maintain compliance with our 1940 Act exemption, we may be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want to sell
and may sell assets we would otherwise wish to retain. If we or our subsidiaries fail to maintain an exception or exemption from
the 1940 Act, we may be required to, among other things, substantially change the manner in which we conduct our operations
to avoid being required to register as an investment company under the 1940 Act or alternatively, register as an investment
company under the 1940 Act. If we were required to register as an investment company but failed to do so, we would be
prohibited from engaging in our business, and criminal and civil actions could be brought against us. In addition, our contracts
would be unenforceable unless a court required enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of the
Company and liquidate our business.

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to recover claims against our officers and trustees are limited, which
could reduce our shareholders’ and our recovery against them if they cause us to incur losses.

Maryland law provides that a trustee has no liability in that capacity if he or she performs his or her duties in good faith, in
a manner he or she reasonably believes to be in the real estate investment trust’s best interests and with the care that an
ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. Our charter requires us to indemnify our
trustees and officers to the maximum extent permitted under Maryland law. Additionally, our charter limits the liability of our
trustees and officers for monetary damages to the maximum extent permitted under Maryland law. Further, our charter permits
the Company, with the approval of our Board, to provide such indemnification and advancement of expenses to any of our
employees or agents. As a result, we and our shareholders may have more limited rights against our trustees, officers,
employees and agents, than might otherwise exist under common law, which could reduce our shareholders’ and our recovery
against them. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by our trustees, officers, employees and
agents in some cases which would decrease the cash otherwise available for distribution to our shareholders.

We are uncertain of our sources of funding our future capital needs. If we cannot obtain funding on acceptable terms,
our ability to make necessary capital improvements to our properties may be impaired or delayed.

To continue to qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our taxable income
each year, excluding capital gains. Because of this distribution requirement, it is not likely that we will be able to fund a
significant portion of our future capital needs from retained earnings. We have not identified all of our sources of funding, and
such sources of funding may not be available to us on favorable terms or at all. If we do not have access to sufficient funding in
the future, we may not be able to make necessary capital improvements to our properties, pay other expenses, make
distributions or expand our business.

Our bylaws designate the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland as the sole and exclusive forum for certain
actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our shareholders.

Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of a different forum, the Circuit Court for Baltimore
City, Maryland, or, if that court does not have jurisdiction, the U.S. District Court for the District of Maryland, Baltimore
Division, will be the sole and exclusive forum for: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company,
(ii) any action asserting a claim of breach by any trustee, officer or other employee of the Company of a duty owed to the
Company or our shareholders or of any standard of conduct set forth in the Maryland General Corporation Law (“MGCL”), (iii)
any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the MGCL including, but not limited to, the meaning,
interpretation, effect, validity, performance or enforcement of our charter or our bylaws, (iv) any action asserting a claim
governed by the internal affairs doctrine , or (v), upon the Listing, any Internal Corporate Claim (as defined the MGCL). This
exclusive forum provision does not apply to claims under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or any other claim for which
the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in
our common shares will be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to these provisions of our bylaws, as they may be
amended from time to time. Our Board, without shareholder approval, adopted this provision of our bylaws so that we may
respond to such litigation more efficiently and reduce the costs associated with our responses to such litigation, particularly
litigation that might otherwise be brought in multiple forums. This exclusive forum provision may limit a shareholder’s ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that the shareholder believes is favorable for disputes with the Company or our trustees,
officers, agents or employees, if any, and may discourage lawsuits against us and our trustees, officers, agents or employees, if
any. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision of our bylaws inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or
more of the specified types of actions or proceedings notwithstanding that the MGCL expressly provides that the charter or
bylaws of a Maryland real estate investment trust may require that any internal corporate claim be brought only in courts sitting
in one or more specified jurisdictions, we may incur additional costs that we do not currently anticipate associated with
resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could have a material adverse effect on us.
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Risks Related to Our Business

A substantial portion of our portfolio is comprised of office assets, which have generally experienced a decrease in
demand. Office assets may experience a further decrease in leasing and investment demand and such decrease in demand
could have a material adverse effect on us. Further, our ability to sell any of our office assets may be limited in the current
economic climate.

A substantial portion of our portfolio is comprised of office assets, which have generally experienced a decrease in
demand. Current economic conditions could lead our office tenants to elect to not renew their leases, or to renew their leases for
less space than they currently occupy, which could increase vacancy rates and decrease rental income. Remote and hybrid work
practices are likely to continue in a post-pandemic environment. Changes to tenants’ space requirements and configurations
may require us to spend increased amounts for property improvements. Additionally, if substantial office space reconfiguration
is required, it may be more attractive for our tenants to pursue relocating to other office space than renewing their leases and
renovating their existing space, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Further, our current business plan contemplates the sale of a number of our office assets. Our ability to sell our office
assets at attractive prices may be limited in the current economic climate, and there is no assurance that we will be able to effect
such sales on attractive terms, or at all.

Most of our properties are occupied by a single tenant; therefore, income generated by nearly all of our properties is
dependent on the financial stability of a single tenant at each property. The bankruptcy, insolvency, merger, lack of access to
debt or equity capital or downturn in the business of, or a lease termination or election by a tenant not to renew could have a
material adverse effect on us.

Our properties are primarily leased to single tenants or will derive a majority of their rental income from single tenants
and, therefore, the success of those properties is materially dependent on the financial stability of the companies to which we
have leased and/or who have guaranteed such leases. Lease payment defaults, including those caused by the current economic
climate or tenant liquidity limitations resulting from adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, could cause
us to reduce the amount of distributions we pay and/or force us to find an alternative source of revenue to meet a debt payment
and prevent a foreclosure if the property secures a loan. In the event of a default under a lease, we may experience delays in
enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-letting the property. If a
lease is terminated or an existing tenant elects not to renew a lease upon its expiration, there is no assurance that we will be able
to lease the property for the rent previously received or sell the property without incurring a loss. A default by a tenant, the
failure of a guarantor to fulfill its obligations, a premature termination of a lease, or a tenant’s election not to extend a lease
upon its expiration, could have a material adverse effect on us. Additionally, in certain instances, we may enter into leases that
do not include a credit party guaranty. Moreover, we can provide no assurance that our strategy of owning and operating
industrial and office properties that are primarily leased to single tenants will be successful or that we will attain our investment
and portfolio management objectives. Furthermore, although we have no current intention to do so, we may also invest in
single-tenant, leased industrial and office properties outside of the United States and we can provide no assurance that we will
have success in any such investments. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on us.

We currently rely on five tenants for approximately a quarter of our revenue and adverse effects to their business could
have a material adverse effect on us.

Our five largest tenants, based on Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022, were Amazon located in Illinois, Ohio
and Virginia (approximately 7.3%), Keurig Dr. Pepper, located in Massachusetts (approximately 5.1%), Wood Group located in
Georgia, Ohio and Texas (approximately 4.5%), Southern Company Services located in Texas (approximately 4.0%) and LPL
located in Alabama (approximately 3.8%). The revenues generated by the properties leased and/or guaranteed by these
companies are substantially reliant upon the financial condition of such companies and, accordingly, any event of bankruptcy,
insolvency, or a general downturn in the business of any of these tenants may result in the failure or delay of such tenant’s
rental payments, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Approximately a quarter of the leases in our portfolio are scheduled to expire in the next four years, which may cause
a loss in the value of our shareholders’ investment until the affected properties are re-leased, increase our exposure to
downturns in the real estate market during the time that we are trying to re-lease such space, and increase our capital
expenditure requirements during the re-leasing period, any of which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our lease expirations by year based on Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022 are as follows (dollars in
thousands):
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Annualized Base Percentage of

Rent Approx. Square Annualized Base
Year of Lease Expiration (unaudited) Number of Leases Feet Rent
2023 $ 6,583 3 746,600 2.9 %
2024 24003 11 2,357,400 10.7
2025 9,242 7 869,400 4.1
2026 12,567 4 1,449,100 5.6
2027 14,179 7 570,700 6.3
2028 20,990 14 2,233,700 9.4
>2029 136,378 41 10,763,600 61.0
Vacant — — 896,600 —
Total $ 223,942 87 19,887,100 100.0 %

(1) Expirations that occur on the last day of the month are shown as expiring in the subsequent month.

We may experience concentrations of lease expiration dates in the future. As the expiration date of a lease for a single-
tenant building approaches, the value of the property generally declines because of the risk that the building may not be re-
leased upon expiration of the existing lease or may not be re-leased on terms as favorable as those of the current lease(s).
Therefore, if we were to liquidate any of these assets prior to the favorable re-leasing of the space, we may suffer a loss on our
investment. Our shareholders may also suffer a loss (and a reduction in distributions) after the expiration of the applicable lease
term if we are not able to re-lease such space on favorable terms. These expiring leases, therefore, increase our risk to real estate
downturns during and approaching these periods of concentrated lease expirations. To meet our need for cash during these
times, we may have to increase borrowings or reduce our distributions, or both. The occurrence of any of the foregoing risks
could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our portfolio has geographic market concentrations that make us especially susceptible to adverse developments in
those geographic markets.

In addition to general, regional, national and international economic conditions, our operating performance is impacted by
the economic conditions of the specific geographic markets in which we have concentrations of properties. We have significant
property concentrations based on Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022 in Arizona (9.9%), New Jersey (8.4%), Texas
(8.1%), Massachusetts (7.4%), and California (7.3%). In the future, we may experience additional geographic concentrations,
which could adversely affect our operating performance if conditions become less favorable in any of the states or markets
within such states in which we have a concentration of properties. We cannot assure you that any of our markets will grow, not
experience adverse developments or that such markets will not become less desirable to investors. Our operations may also be
affected if competing properties are built in our markets. A downturn in the economy in the states or regions in which we have a
concentration of properties, or markets within such states or regions, could adversely affect our tenants operating businesses in
those states, impair their ability to pay rent to us and materially and adversely affect us.

We may be unable to fully benefit from increases in market rental rates because our leases typically are long-term,
have initial lease term rent escalations that are fixed and some leases contain limitations on market rental rate resets upon
renewal.

Based on Annualized Base Rent, as of December 31, 2022, our weighted average lease term was approximately 7.1 years
and approximately 98.5% of our leases contained fixed rental rate increases during the initial lease term. By entering into longer
term leases, we are subject to the risk during the initial term that we would not be able to increase our rental rates to market
rental rates if prevailing rental rates have increased. In addition, during periods of high inflation, fixed rental rate increases
subject us to the risk of receiving lower rental revenue than we otherwise would have been entitled to receive if the rental rate
increases were based on an increase in the consumer price index over a specified period. In addition, our leases may contain
provisions (including caps, collars, fixed increases, etc.) that may limit our ability to reset rental rates to market rental rates
upon expiration of the initial lease term. Any inability to take advantage of increases in prevailing rental rates could adversely
impact the value of our properties and on the market price of our common shares.

To the extent we are unable to pass along our property operating expenses to our tenants, our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flow, may be negatively impacted.

Operating expenses associated with owning a property typically include real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, repair

and renovation costs, the cost of compliance with governmental regulation (including zoning) and the potential for liability
under applicable laws. We generally lease our properties to tenants pursuant to triple-net leases that require the tenant to pay
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their proportionate share of substantially all such property operating expenses. However, on a limited basis we lease our
properties to tenants pursuant to leases that do not pass along all such property operating expenses. We have mostly entered into
leases pursuant to which we retain responsibility for the costs of structural repairs and maintenance. An increase in property
operating expenses that we are unable to pass along to our tenants could negatively impact our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flow. Similarly, vacancy in our portfolio would negatively impact our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flow, as we would be responsible for all property operating expenses that we have formerly passed on to
our tenants.

Our real estate investments may include special use single tenant properties, and, as such, it may be difficult to re-lease
or sell these properties, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We focus our investments on industrial and office properties, a number of which may have special uses. Special use
properties may be relatively illiquid compared to other types of real estate and financial assets. Upon expiration or early
termination of a lease, this illiquidity could limit our ability to quickly change our portfolio in response to changes in economic,
market or other conditions to an even greater extent than the typically illiquid nature of real estate assets. With these properties,
we may be required to renovate or demolish a vacant property in order to try to re-lease or sell it, grant rent or other concessions
and/or make significant capital expenditures to improve these properties in order to retain existing tenants. In addition, in the
event we are forced to sell the property, we may have difficulty selling it to a party other than the company that has leased and/
or guaranteed the lease of the property due to the special purpose for which the property may have been designed. These and
other limitations could have a material adverse effect on us and may affect our ability to re-lease or sell these properties upon
expiration or early termination of a lease, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We face significant competition for tenants, which may decrease or prevent increases of the occupancy and rental rates
of our properties. Furthermore, at the time we elect to dispose of our properties, we will also be in competition with sellers of
similar properties to locate suitable purchasers for our properties. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a
material adverse effect on us.

The commercial real estate markets in which we operate are highly competitive. The leasing of real estate is also often
highly competitive, and we may experience competition for tenants from owners and managers of competing properties. An
oversupply of properties in the industries and geographies in which we concentrate could further increase competition. As a
result, we may have to reduce our rental rates or to offer more substantial rent abatements, tenant improvements, early
termination rights, below-market renewal options or other lease incentive payments or we might not be able to timely lease the
space. If our competitors offer space at rental rates below current market rates or below the rental rates we currently charge our
tenants, we may lose existing or potential tenants and we may be pressured to reduce our rental rates or to offer more
substantial rent abatements, tenant improvements, early termination rights, below-market renewal options or other lease
incentives in order to retain tenants when our leases expire. Competition for companies that may lease or guarantee our
properties could decrease or prevent increases of the occupancy and rental rates of our properties. Furthermore, at the time we
elect to dispose of our properties, we will also be in competition with sellers of similar properties to locate suitable purchasers
for our properties. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on us.

We depend on current key personnel for our future success, and the loss of such personnel or inability to attract and
retain personnel could harm our business and the loss of services of one or more members of our executive management
team, or our inability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, could adversely affect our business, diminish our
investment opportunities and weaken our business relationships with lenders, business partners, companies that may lease
or guarantee our properties and other industry participants, any of which could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel.
Competition for such personnel is intense, and we cannot assure shareholders that we will be successful in attracting and
retaining such skilled personnel. Our future success also depends upon the service of our executive management team, who we
believe have extensive market knowledge and business relationships and will exercise substantial influence over the Company’s
operating, financing, acquisition and disposition activity. Among the reasons that they are important to our success is that we
believe that each has a national or regional industry reputation that is expected to attract business and investment opportunities
and assist us in negotiations with lenders, companies that may lease or guarantee our properties and other industry personnel.
We believe that many of our other key personnel also have extensive experience and strong reputations in the industry. The loss
of services of one or more members of our executive management team, or our inability to attract and retain highly qualified
personnel, could adversely affect our business and weaken our business relationships with lenders, business partners, companies
that may lease or guarantee our properties and other industry participants, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
us.
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Cybersecurity risks and cyber incidents may adversely affect our business by causing a disruption to our operations, a
compromise or corruption of our confidential information, and/or damage to our business relationships, any of which could
have a material adverse effect on us.

A cyber incident is any intentional or unintentional adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity, or
availability of our information resources and can include unauthorized persons gaining access to systems to disrupt operations,
corrupting data or stealing confidential information. The risk of a cyber incident or disruption, including by computer hackers,
foreign governments, information service interruptions and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and
sophistication of attempted attacks have increased globally. As our reliance on technology increases, so do the risks posed to
our systems — both internal and external. Our primary risks that could directly result from the occurrence of a cyber incident are
theft of assets; operational interruption; regulatory enforcement, lawsuits and other legal proceedings; damage to our
relationships with our tenants; and private data exposure. A significant and extended disruption could damage our business or
reputation, cause a loss of revenue, have an adverse effect on tenant relations, cause an unintended or unauthorized public
disclosure, or lead to the misappropriation of proprietary, personally identifying, or confidential information, any of which
could result in us incurring significant expenses to resolve these kinds of issues. Although we have implemented processes,
procedures and controls based on published best practices cybersecurity controls to help mitigate the risks associated with a
cyber incident, there can be no assurance that these measures will be sufficient for all possible situations. Even security
measures that are appropriate, reasonable and/or in accordance with applicable legal requirements may not be sufficient to
protect the information we maintain. Unauthorized parties, whether within or outside the Company, may disrupt or gain access
to our systems, or those of third parties with whom we do business, through human error, misfeasance, fraud, trickery, or other
forms of deceit, including break-ins, use of stolen credentials, social engineering, phishing, computer viruses or other malicious
codes, and similar means of unauthorized and destructive tampering. Even the most well-protected information, networks,
systems and facilities remain potentially vulnerable because the techniques used in such attempted cyber incidents evolve and
generally are not recognized until launched against a target. Accordingly, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to
implement adequate security barriers or other preventative measures, making it impossible for us to entirely mitigate this risk.
The occurrence of any of the foregoing risks could have a material adverse effect on us.

If global market and economic conditions deteriorate, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Weak economic conditions generally, sustained uncertainty about global economic conditions, a tightening of credit
markets, business layoffs, downsizing, industry slowdowns and other similar factors that affect our tenants could negatively
impact real estate fundamentals and result in lower occupancy, lower rental rates and declining values in our real estate
portfolio. In particular, the recent failures of Silicon Valley Bank and Signature Bank, together with the impact such failures
have had on other financial institutions, customers, vendors and depositors, could have significant adverse effects on economic
conditions which could materially and adversely affect our business and operations. Additionally, these factors and conditions
could have an impact on our lenders or tenants, causing them to fail to meet their obligations to us. No assurances can be given
regarding such macroeconomic factors or conditions, and our ability to lease our properties and increase or maintain rental rates
may be negatively impacted, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The COVID-19 pandemic, and the future outbreak of other highly infectious or contagious diseases, could have a
material adverse effect on us.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and another outbreak in the future could have, repercussions across regional and global
economies and financial markets. The COVID-19 pandemic is negatively impacting many industries in the United States,
directly or indirectly, including industries in which the Company and our tenants operate, which could result in a general
decline in rents, an increased incidence of defaults under existing leases and negatively impact our ability to achieve new leases
as existing leases expire.

The significance, extent, and duration of the overall operational and financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our
business is highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the continued severity, duration, transmission
rate and geographic spread of COVID-19 in the United States, effectiveness and willingness of people to take COVID-19
vaccines, the duration of associated immunity and efficacy against emerging variants of COVID-19, the extent and
effectiveness of other containment measures taken, and the response of the overall economy, the financial markets and the
population, particularly in areas in which we operate. If we cannot operate our properties so as to meet our financial
expectations, because of these or other risks, we may be prevented from growing the values of our properties and it may have a
material adverse effect on us.
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Furthermore, we cannot predict the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on our tenants and other business
partners; however, any material effect on these parties could have a material adverse effect on us.

Inflation may materially and adversely affect us and our tenants.

Increased inflation could have a negative impact on variable rate debt we currently have or that we may incur in the
future. During times when inflation is greater than the increases in rent provided by many of our leases, rent increases in
existing leases may not keep up with the rate of inflation. Also, increased costs may have an adverse impact on our tenants if
increases in their operating expenses exceed increases in revenue, which may adversely affect the tenants’ ability to pay rent
owed to us.

Corporate responsibility, specifically related to environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) factors, may impose
additional costs and expose us to new risks.

The importance of sustainability evaluations is becoming more broadly accepted by investors and shareholders. Certain
organizations that provide corporate governance and other corporate risk information to investors and shareholders have
developed scores and ratings to evaluate companies and investment funds based upon ESG or “sustainability” metrics. Many
investment funds focus on positive ESG business practices and sustainability scores when making investments and may
consider a company’s sustainability score as a reputational or other factor in making an investment decision. In addition,
investors, particularly institutional investors, use these scores to benchmark companies against their peers, and if a company is
perceived as lagging, these investors may engage with companies to require improved ESG disclosure or performance. We may
face reputational damage in the event our corporate responsibility procedures or standards do not meet the standards set by
various constituencies. A low sustainability score could result in a negative perception of the Company, or exclusion of our
common shares from consideration by certain investors.

If we fail to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately and timely
report our financial results.

Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, effectively
prevent fraud and operate successfully. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and
operating results would be harmed. For so long as our common shares are not traded on a national securities exchange, we will
be exempt from compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and we
can provide no assurance that the system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting that
we perform to allow management to report on the effectiveness of such internal controls will be effective. Furthermore, as of
the date of this filing, we have no operating history as a publicly traded company. We cannot assure you that the past
experience of our executive management team will be sufficient to successfully operate our Company as a publicly traded
company if the Listing occurs. Upon completion of the Listing, we will be required to comply with NYSE listing standards, and
this transition could place a significant strain on our management systems, infrastructure and other resources. Failure to operate
successfully as a publicly traded company would have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash
flow and market price of our common shares.

As a result of material weaknesses or significant deficiencies that may be identified in our internal control over financial
reporting in the future, we may also identify certain deficiencies in some of our disclosure controls and procedures that we
believe require remediation. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm discover any such material weaknesses
or significant deficiencies, we will make efforts to further improve our internal control over financial reporting controls, but
there is no assurance that we will be successful. Any failure to maintain effective controls or timely effect any necessary
improvement of our internal control over financial reporting controls could harm operating results or cause us to fail to meet our
reporting obligations. Ineffective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls could also cause investors to
lose confidence in our reported financial information.

A lack of research analyst coverage, including when we report our results of operations, could materially and adversely
affect the market price and liquidity of our common shares.

If the Listing occurs, we cannot assure you that research analysts will initiate or maintain research coverage of us or our
common shares. Accordingly, it could be the case that research concerning our results of operations or the possible effects on us
of significant news or a significant event will not be published or will be published on a delayed basis. A lack of research or the
inability of certain research analysts to publish research relating to our results of operations or significant news or a significant
event in a timely manner could materially and adversely affect the market price and liquidity of our common shares following
the Listing.
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Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Our operating results will be affected by economic and regulatory changes, such as inflation and rising interest rates,
that have an adverse impact on the real estate market in general, and we cannot provide any assurance that we will be
profitable or that we will realize growth in the value of our real estate properties.

We own and operate real estate and face risks related to investments in real estate. As of December 31, 2022, our real
estate portfolio included 81 properties in 24 states and 74 lessees. Our operating results will be subject to risks generally
incident to the ownership of real estate. These include risks described elsewhere in this "Risk Factors" section and other risks,
including the following:

* the value of real estate fluctuates depending on conditions in the general economy and the real estate business.
Additionally, adverse changes in these conditions may result in a decline in rental revenues, sales proceeds and
occupancy levels at our properties and could have a material adverse effect on us. If rental revenues, sales proceeds
and/or occupancy levels decline, we generally would expect to have less cash available to pay indebtedness and for
distribution to shareholders;

* it may be difficult to sell real estate quickly, or potential buyers of our properties may experience difficulty in
obtaining financing, which may limit our ability to dispose of properties promptly in response to changes in economic
or other conditions. Additionally, we may be unable to identify, negotiate, finance or consummate dispositions of our
properties, on favorable terms, or at all;

® our properties may be subject to impairment losses, which could have a material adverse effect on us;
* changes in tax, real estate, environmental or zoning laws and regulations;

* changes in property tax assessments and insurance costs;

* changes in interest rates and rising inflation;

* the cost and availability of credit may be adversely affected by illiquid credit markets and wider credit spreads, and our
inability or the inability of our tenants to timely refinance maturing liabilities to meet liquidity needs could have a
material adverse effect on us; and

* we may from time to time be subject to litigation, which may significantly divert the attention and resources of the
Company’s management and result in defense costs, settlements, fines or judgments against us, some of which are not,
or cannot be, covered by insurance, and any of which could have a material adverse effect on us.

These and other risks could have a material adverse effect on us and may prevent us from realizing value from our real
estate properties.

We may not be able to control the extent of warranties and indemnities we may obtain when purchasing properties or
that we are required to provide when disposing of properties.

The seller of a property will often seek to sell such property in its “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all
faults,” without any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase agreements
typically contain limited warranties, representations and indemnifications that will only survive for a limited period after the
closing and subject to a floor and cap. Also, most sellers of large commercial properties are special purpose entities without
assets other than the property itself and there is often no credit behind the surviving provisions of a purchase agreement. The
purchase of properties by us with limited warranties and/or from undercapitalized sellers increases the risk that we may lose
some or all of our invested capital in the property as well as the loss of rental income from that property and could expose us to
unknown liabilities.

As we look to dispose of certain properties, in some circumstances market conditions may impact the terms on which we
are able to sell properties, which may require us to provide warranties, representations and covenants, and agree to
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indemnification obligations or to retain certain liabilities, in order to complete such dispositions. As we complete property
dispositions, the overall size of our post-closing indemnification and retained liability obligations to purchasers may increase,
and no assurance can be given that such the extent of such indemnification obligations and retained liabilities will not,
individually or in the aggregate, be material to our financial condition or results of operations.

We may finance properties with lock-out provisions, which may prohibit us from selling a property, or may require us
to maintain specified debt levels for a period of years on some properties.

Lock-out provisions are provisions that generally prohibit repayment of a loan balance for a certain number of years
following the origination date of a loan. We may finance properties with lock-out provisions, which could materially restrict us
from selling or otherwise disposing of or refinancing properties. These provisions would affect our ability to turn our
investments into cash and thus affect cash available for distribution to our shareholders and may prohibit us from reducing the
outstanding indebtedness with respect to any such properties by repaying or refinancing such indebtedness. Any mortgage debt
that we place on our properties may also impose prepayment penalties. If a lender invokes these penalties, the cost to the
Company to sell, repay or refinance the property could increase substantially. Lock-out provisions could preclude us from
participating in major transactions that could result in a disposition of our assets or a change in control even though that
disposition or change in control might be in our shareholders’ best interests. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have
a material adverse effect on us.

If we suffer losses that are not covered by insurance or that are in excess of insurance coverage, it could have a
material adverse effect on us.

We may suffer losses that are not covered by insurance or that are in excess of insurance. There are types of losses,
generally of a catastrophic nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes, fires, floods, hurricanes, pollution
or environmental matters, which are either uninsurable or not economically insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations,
such as large deductibles or co-payments. In addition, we may decide not to obtain, even though available, any or adequate
earthquake or similar catastrophic insurance coverage because the premiums are too high. Generally, our leases require each
tenant to procure, at its own expense, commercial general liability insurance, as well as property insurance covering the
building for the full replacement value and naming the ownership entity and the lender, if applicable, as the additional insured
on the policy. Separately, we obtain, to the extent available, contingent liability and property insurance and flood insurance, rent
loss insurance covering at least one year of rental loss, and a pollution insurance policy for all of our properties. However, the
coverage and amounts of our environmental and flood insurance policies may not be sufficient to cover our entire risk. We
cannot assure shareholders that we will have adequate coverage for losses. If we suffer losses that are not covered by insurance
or that are in excess of insurance coverage, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

We are subject to risks from climate change and natural disasters such as earthquakes and severe weather conditions.

Our properties are located in areas that may be subject to climate change and natural disasters, such as earthquakes and
wildfires, and severe weather conditions. Climate change and natural disasters, including rising sea levels, flooding, extreme
weather, and changes in precipitation and temperature, may result in physical damage to, or a total loss of, our properties
located in areas affected by these conditions, including those in low-lying areas close to sea level, and/or decreases in demand,
rent from, or the value of those properties. In addition, we may incur material costs to protect these properties, including
increases in our insurance premiums as a result of the threat of climate change, or the effects of climate change, and may not be
covered by our insurance policies. Furthermore, changes in federal and state legislation and regulations on climate change,
including the increasing number of state and municipality laws and policies on climate change and emission reduction targets,
could result in increased utility expenses and/or increased capital expenditures to improve the energy efficiency and reduce
carbon emissions of our properties in order to comply with such regulations or result in fines for non-compliance.

The extent of our casualty losses and loss in operating income in connection with such events is a function of the severity
of the event and the total amount of exposure in the affected area. When we have a geographic concentration of exposures, a
single catastrophe (such as an earthquake) affecting an area in which we have a significant concentration of properties, such as
in Texas, California, Ohio, Arizona, Georgia, Illinois or New Jersey, could have a material adverse effect on us. We also own at
least one property near an earthquake fault line. As a result, our operating and financial results may vary significantly from one
period to the next, and our financial results may be adversely affected by our exposure to losses arising from climate change,
natural disasters or severe weather conditions.
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Costs of complying with governmental laws and regulations, including those relating to environmental matters and the
ADA, may have a material adverse effect on us.

Our operations conducted on real property are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection and zoning and state and local fire and life safety requirements.

Under various federal, state and local laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real
property may be held liable for the costs of removing or remediating hazardous or toxic substances. These laws often impose
clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to whether the owner or operator was responsible for, or even knew of, the
presence of the hazardous or toxic substances. The costs of investigating, removing or remediating these substances may be
substantial, and the presence of these substances may adversely affect our ability to lease or sell the property or to borrow using
the property as collateral and may expose us to liability resulting from any release of or exposure to these substances, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on us. If we arrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances at
another location, we may be liable for the costs of removing or remediating these substances at the disposal or treatment
facility, whether or not the facility is owned or operated by us. We may be subject to common law claims by third parties based
on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from a site that we own or operate. Certain
environmental laws also impose liability in connection with the handling of or exposure to asbestos-containing materials,
pursuant to which third parties may seek recovery from owners or operators of real properties for personal injury associated
with asbestos-containing materials and other hazardous or toxic substances. We maintain a pollution insurance policy for all of
our properties to insure against the potential liability of remediation and exposure risk. Compliance with current and future laws
and regulations may require us to incur material expenditures, which could have a material adverse effect on us. Some of these
laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on tenants, owners or operators for the costs to investigate or
remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal. In addition, the
presence of hazardous substances, or the failure to properly remediate these substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell,
rent or pledge such property as collateral for future borrowings.

Additionally, our tenants’ operations, the existing condition of land when we acquired it, operations in the vicinity of our
properties, such as the presence of underground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties may affect our properties.
There are various local, state and federal fire, health, life-safety and similar regulations with which we may be required to
comply, and that may subject us to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance, which could result in material
expenditures. We cannot assure our shareholders that the independent third-party environmental assessments we obtain prior to
acquiring any properties we purchase will reveal all environmental liabilities or that a prior owner of a property did not create a
material environmental condition not known to us.

Under the ADA all public accommodations and commercial facilities are required to meet certain federal requirements
related to access and use by disabled persons. The ADA generally requires that buildings and services, including restaurants and
retail stores, be made accessible and available to people with disabilities. The ADA’s requirements could require removal of
access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary penalties, or, in some cases, an award of
damages. We aim to own and operate properties that comply with the ADA or may place the burden on a third party to ensure
compliance with the ADA. However, we cannot assure our shareholders that we will be able to allocate responsibilities in this
manner. Failing to comply could result in the imposition of fines by the federal government or an award of damages to private
litigants. Although we diligence compliance with laws, including the ADA, when we acquire properties, we may incur
additional costs to comply with the ADA or other regulations related to access by disabled persons. If required changes involve
a greater amount of expenditures than we currently anticipate, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Furthermore, our properties may be subject to various federal, state and local regulatory requirements, such as zoning and
state and local fire and life safety requirements. Failure to comply with these requirements could result in the imposition of
fines by governmental authorities or awards of damages to private litigants. Through our due diligence process and protections
in our leases, we aim to own and operate properties that are in material compliance with all such regulatory requirements.
However, we cannot assure our shareholders that these requirements will not be changed or that new requirements will not be
imposed which would require significant unanticipated expenditures by us and could have a material adverse effect on us.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on us.
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If we sell properties by providing financing to purchasers, defaults by the purchasers could have a material adverse
effect on us.

If we provide financing to purchasers, we will bear the risk that the purchaser may default, which could have a material
adverse effect on us. Even in the absence of a purchaser default, the distribution of the proceeds of sales to our shareholders, or
their reinvestment in other assets, will be delayed until the promissory notes or other property we may accept upon the sale are
actually paid, sold, refinanced or otherwise disposed of. In some cases, we may receive initial down payments in cash and other
property in the year of sale in an amount less than the selling price and subsequent payments will be spread over a number of
years. If any purchaser defaults under a financing arrangement with us, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

Risks Related to Debt Financing

If we breach covenants under our unsecured credit agreement with KeyBank and other syndication partners, we could
be held in default under such agreement, which could accelerate our repayment date could have a material adverse effect on
us.

If we were to default under our credit agreement, the lenders would have the ability to immediately declare the loans due
and payable in whole or in part. In such event, we may not have sufficient available cash to repay such debt at the time it
becomes due, or be able to refinance such debt on acceptable terms or at all. Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement dated as of April 30, 2019 (as amended, the “Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement”), with
KeyBank, National Association (“KeyBank™), as administrative agent, and a syndicate of lenders, we, through our Operating
Partnership, as the borrower, have a $1.3 billion credit facility consisting of a revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit
Facility””) maturing in September 2023 with (subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions) a series of three-month
extension options, and if the Subsequent Extension (as defined below) is exercised, an additional extension to January 2026, a
delayed draw $400 million senior unsecured term loan maturing in December 2025 (the “$400M 5-Year Term Loan 2025”),
and a $150 million senior unsecured term loan maturing in April 2026 (the “$150M 7-Year Term Loan”) (collectively, the
“KeyBank Loans”). The credit facility also provides the option, subject to obtaining additional commitments from lenders and
certain other customary conditions, to increase the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility, increase the existing term
loans and/or incur new term loans by up to an additional $1.0 billion in the aggregate. In addition to customary representations,
warranties, covenants, and indemnities, the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains a number of financial
covenants as described in Note 5, Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on us.

We have broad authority to incur debt, and our indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on us.

We have broad authority to incur debt. High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges, which would
result in higher debt service payments, and could be accompanied by restrictive covenants.

Our indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on us, as well as:
* increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

* limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, acquisitions, capital expenditures and
other general corporate requirements;

* requiring the use of an increased portion of our cash flow from operations for the payment of principal and interest on
our indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use our cash flow to fund working capital, acquisitions, capital
expenditures and general corporate requirements;

* limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;
® putting us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors with less indebtedness; and

* limiting our ability to access capital markets or limiting the possibility of a listing on a national securities exchange.

We have placed, and may continue to place, permanent financing on our properties or increase our credit facility or other
similar financing arrangement in order to acquire properties. We may also decide to later further leverage our properties or to
rely on securitization vehicles. We may borrow funds for any purposes related to our business. A shortfall between the cash
flow from our properties and the cash flow needed to service debt could have a material adverse effect on us.

Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on us.
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If the Listing occurs, approximately $67.7 million (or approximately 4.5%) of our debt is scheduled to mature in 2023
and 2024. If we are unable to refinance our existing debt or obtain new debt to replace such maturing debt, would have to
use cash on hand to repay such debt at maturity, and we may not have sufficient cash available to repay such debt at
maturity. In that event, we could default under the associated loan agreement, which could have a material adverse effect on
us.

Under the terms of our existing debt instruments, we have $37.1 million of debt scheduled to mature in 2023.
Additionally, under the terms of our existing debt instruments, if the Listing occurs, we have $30.6 million of debt scheduled to
mature in 2024. The credit markets have experienced dislocation in recent months and owners of office assets have
experienced particular challenges in refinancing existing debt and in obtaining new debt. Our business depends on the
availability of credit. If we are unable to refinance our existing debt or obtain new debt to replace such maturing debt, we would
have to use cash on hand to repay such debt at maturity, and we may not have sufficient cash available to repay such debt at
maturity. In that event, we could default under the associated loan agreement, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We have incurred, and intend to continue to incur, indebtedness secured by our properties. If we are unable to make
our debt payments when required, a lender could foreclose on the property or properties securing such debt, which could
have a material adverse effect on us.

Some of our borrowings to acquire properties will be secured by mortgages on our properties, and we may in the future
rely on securitization vehicles. In addition, some of our properties contain mortgage financing. If we default on our secured
indebtedness, the lender may foreclose and we could lose our entire investment in the properties securing such loan or vehicle,
which could have a material adverse effect on us. To the extent lenders require us to cross-collateralize our properties, or
provisions in our loan documents contain cross-default provisions, a default under a single loan agreement could subject
multiple properties to foreclosure. Foreclosures of one or more of our properties could have a material adverse effect on us.

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants relating to our operations, which could limit our ability to
make distributions to our shareholders at our current level or otherwise have a material adverse effect on us.

When providing financing, a lender could impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating policies and
our ability to incur additional debt, including customary restrictive covenants, that, among other things, restrict our ability to
incur additional indebtedness, to engage in material asset sales, mergers, consolidations and acquisitions, to make capital
expenditures, and to make special distributions. In certain cases we are required to and maintain certain specified financial
ratios. Loan documents we enter into may contain covenants that limit our ability to further mortgage the property or
discontinue insurance coverage. These or other limitations may adversely affect our flexibility and limit our ability to make
distributions to shareholders at our current level or otherwise have a material adverse effect on us.

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and adversely affect our ability to make
distributions to shareholders at our current level or otherwise have a material adverse effect on us.

We expect that we will incur indebtedness in the future. Interest we pay on our indebtedness will reduce cash available for
distribution. Additionally, if we incur variable rate debt, increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs could
reduce our cash flows and our ability to make distributions to shareholders at our current level. In addition, if we need to repay
existing debt during periods of rising interest rates, we could be required to liquidate one or more of our investments in
properties at times that may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments. Any of the foregoing risks
could have a material adverse effect on us.

Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flow, per share trading price of our common shares and ability to make distributions to our shareholders.

The REIT provisions of the Code impose certain restrictions on our ability to utilize hedges, swaps and other types of
derivatives to hedge our liabilities. Subject to these restrictions, we have entered, and may continue to enter into, hedging
transactions to protect ourselves from the effects of interest rate fluctuations on floating rate debt. Our hedging transactions
include entering into interest rate swap agreements. These agreements involve risks, such as the risk that such arrangements
would not be effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate changes or that a court could rule that such an agreement is not
legally enforceable. In addition, interest rate hedging can be expensive, particularly during periods of rising and volatile interest
rates, which could reduce the overall returns on our investments. Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes could
materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to make distributions to our
shareholders. In addition, while such agreements would be intended to lessen the impact of rising interest rates on us, they
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could also expose us to the risk that the other parties to the agreements would not perform, and that the hedging arrangements
may not be effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate changes. Should we desire to terminate a hedging agreement,
there could be significant costs and cash requirements involved to fulfill our obligation under the hedging agreement.

A substantial portion of our indebtedness transitioned to interest at variable rates based on Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”), yet certain of our financial contracts continue to be indexed to US Dollar London Interbank
Offered Rate (“ LIBOR”). Changes in the method of determining LIBOR, or the replacement of LIBOR with an alternative
reference rate such as SOFR, could have a material adverse effect on us.

On March 5, 2021, LIBOR’s regulator, the Financial Conduct Authority, and administrator, ICE Benchmark
Administration, Limited, announced that the publication of the one-week and two-month USD LIBOR maturities and non-USD
LIBOR maturities will cease immediately after December 31, 2021, with the remaining USD LIBOR maturities ceasing
immediately after June 30, 2023. In the U.S., the Alternative Rates Reference Committee, a group of market participants
convened in 2014 to help ensure a successful transition away from USD LIBOR, has identified SOFR as its preferred
alternative rate. SOFR is a measure of the cost of borrowing cash overnight, collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities, and is
based on directly observable U.S. Treasury-backed repurchase transactions. Liquidity in SOFR-linked products has increased
significantly this year after the implementation of the SOFR First best practice as recommended by the Market Risk Advisory
Committee of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission.

We have interest swap agreements with a total notional amount of $750 million that currently use LIBOR as a reference
rate and extend past June 30, 2023. Our term loans and credit facilities have transitioned to using SOFR as a reference rate. The
use of SOFR based rates may result in interest rates and/or payments that are higher or lower than the rates and payments that
we previously experienced when referenced to LIBOR. SOFR is a relatively new reference rate, has a very limited history and
is based on short-term repurchase agreements, backed by Treasury securities. Changes in SOFR could be volatile and difficult
to predict, and there can be no assurance that SOFR will perform similarly to the way LIBOR would have performed at any
time. As a result, the amount of interest we may pay on our credit facilities is difficult to predict. We have entered into LIBOR-
based interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to interest rate movements under certain of our variable-rate debt
obligations. Using SOFR as the basis on which interest on our variable-rate debt and/or under our interest rate swaps is
calculated may result in interest rates and/or payments that do not directly correlate over time with the interest rates and/or
payments that would have been made on our obligations if LIBOR was available in its current form.

The potential effect of the replacement of LIBOR on our cost of capital cannot yet be determined. We can provide no
assurance regarding the future of LIBOR and when our LIBOR-based instruments will transition from LIBOR as a reference
rate to SOFR or another reference rate. The discontinuation of a benchmark rate or other financial metric, changes in a
benchmark rate or other financial metric, or changes in market perceptions of the acceptability of a benchmark rate or other
financial metric, including LIBOR, could, among other things, result in increased interest payments, changes to our risk
exposures, or require renegotiation of previous transactions. In addition, any such discontinuation or changes, whether actual or
anticipated, could result in market volatility, adverse tax or accounting effects, increased compliance, legal and operational
costs, and risks associated with contract negotiations.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to continue to qualify as a REIT would adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distributions
because we would incur additional tax liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We believe we operate in a manner that allows us to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes under the
Code. Qualification as a REIT involves highly technical and complex Code provisions for which there are only limited judicial
and administrative interpretations. Our qualification as a REIT will depend upon our ability to meet, through investments,
actual operating results, distributions and satisfaction of specific shareholder rules, and various other requirements imposed by
the Code.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at
corporate rates. In addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following
the year of losing our REIT status. Losing our REIT status would reduce our net earnings available for investment or
distribution to shareholders because of the additional tax liability. If this occurs, we might be required to borrow funds or
liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax. In addition, distributions to our shareholders would no longer
qualify for the dividends paid deduction, and we would no longer be required to make distributions.
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Qualification as a REIT is subject to the satisfaction of tax requirements and various factual matters and circumstances
that are not entirely within our control. New legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations, or court decisions could
change the tax laws with respect to qualification as a REIT or the U.S. federal income tax consequences of being a REIT. Our
failure to continue to qualify as a REIT could have a material adverse effect on us.

To qualify as a REIT, and to avoid the payment of U.S. federal income and excise taxes and maintain our REIT status,
we may be forced to borrow funds, use proceeds from the issuance of securities, or sell assets to pay distributions, which may
result in our distributing amounts that may otherwise be used for our operations, which could have a material adverse effect
on us.

To qualify as a REIT, we will be required each year to distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable
income, generally determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and by excluding net capital gains. We will be
subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed taxable income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible excise
tax on any amount by which dividends we pay with respect to any taxable year are less than the sum of (i) 85% of our ordinary
income, (ii) 95% of our capital gain net income, and (iii) 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. These
requirements could cause us to distribute amounts that otherwise would be spent on the acquisition, maintenance or
development of properties and it is possible that we might be required to borrow funds, use proceeds from the issuance of
securities, or sell assets in order to distribute enough of our taxable income to maintain our REIT status and to avoid the
payment of U.S. federal income and excise taxes. We may be required to make distributions to our shareholders at times it
would be more advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have cash readily available for distribution,
and we may be forced to liquidate assets on terms and at times unfavorable to us, which could have a material adverse effect on
us. These methods of obtaining funding could affect future distributions by increasing operating costs and decreasing available
cash. In addition, such distributions may constitute a return of capital.

If our Operating Partnership fails to maintain its status as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, its
income would be subject to taxation and our REIT status could be terminated.

We intend to maintain the status of our Operating Partnership as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
However, if the IRS were to successfully challenge the status of our Operating Partnership as a partnership, it would be taxable
as a corporation. In such event, this would reduce the amount of distributions that our Operating Partnership could make. This
would also result in our losing REIT status and becoming subject to a corporate level tax on our income. This would
substantially reduce our cash available to pay distributions and the return on our shareholders’ investment, which could have a
material adverse effect on us. In addition, if any of the entities through which our Operating Partnership owns its properties, in
whole or in part, loses its characterization as an entity disregarded from its parent, a REIT or a partnership for federal income
tax purposes, the underlying entity could become subject to taxation as a corporation, thereby reducing distributions to our
Operating Partnership and jeopardizing our ability to maintain REIT status.

In certain circumstances, even if we qualify as a REIT, we and our subsidiaries may be subject to certain federal, state,
and other income taxes, which would reduce our cash available for distribution to our shareholders and could have a
material adverse effect on us.

Even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may be subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local income
taxes on our income and assets, including taxes and undistributed income, built in gain tax on the taxable sale of assets, tax on
income from some activities conducted as a result of a foreclosure, and non-U.S., state or local income, property and transfer
taxes. Moreover, if we have net income from “prohibited transactions”, that income will be subject to a 100% tax. In addition,
we could, in certain circumstances, be required to pay an excise or penalty tax (which could be significant in amount) in order
to utilize one or more relief provisions under the Code to maintain our qualification as a REIT. We may also decide to retain
income we earn from the sale or other disposition of our property and pay income tax directly on such income. In that event,
our shareholders would be treated as if they earned that income and paid the tax on it directly. However, our shareholders that
are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have no benefit from their deemed payment of such tax
liability. We may also be subject to state and local taxes on our income or property, either directly or at the level of our
Operating Partnership or at the level of the other companies through which we indirectly own our assets. In particular, we will
be subject to U.S. federal and state income tax (and any applicable non-U.S. taxes) on the income earned by our taxable REIT
subsidiaries. Any U.S. or federal, state or other taxes we pay will reduce our cash available for distribution to our shareholders
and could have a material adverse effect on us.
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We may be required to pay some taxes due to actions of our taxable REIT subsidiaries, which would reduce our cash
available for distribution to our shareholders and could have a material adverse effect on us.

Any net taxable income earned directly by our taxable REIT subsidiaries, or through entities that are disregarded for U.S.
federal income tax purposes as entities separate from our taxable REIT subsidiaries, will be subject to U.S. federal and possibly
state corporate income tax. We have elected to treat Griffin Capital Essential Asset TRS, Inc. as a taxable REIT subsidiary, and
we may elect to treat other subsidiaries as taxable REIT subsidiaries in the future. In this regard, several provisions of the laws
applicable to REITs and their subsidiaries ensure that a taxable REIT subsidiary will be subject to an appropriate level of U.S.
federal income taxation. For example, a taxable REIT subsidiary is limited in its ability to deduct certain interest payments
made to an affiliated REIT. In addition, the REIT has to pay a 100% penalty tax on some payments that it receives or on some
deductions taken by a taxable REIT subsidiary if the economic arrangements between the REIT, the REIT’s customers, and the
taxable REIT subsidiary are not comparable to similar arrangements between unrelated parties. To the extent that we and our
affiliates are required to pay U.S. federal, state and local taxes, we will have less cash available for distributions to our
shareholders.

Complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities, which could have a
material adverse effect on us.

To qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other
things, the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute to our shareholders and
the ownership of our common shares. We may be required to make distributions to shareholders at disadvantageous times or
when we do not have funds readily available for distribution, or we may be required to liquidate otherwise attractive
investments in order to comply with the REIT tests, any of which could have a material adverse effect on us. Thus, compliance
with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits.

To the extent our distributions represent a return of capital for tax purposes, a shareholder could recognize an
increased capital gain upon a subsequent sale of the shareholder’s common shares.

Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits and not treated by us as a dividend will not be
taxable to a shareholder to the extent those distributions do not exceed the shareholder’s adjusted tax basis in his or her
common shares, but instead will constitute a return of capital and will reduce such adjusted basis. (Such distributions to non-
U.S. shareholders may be subject to withholding, which may be refundable.) If distributions exceed such adjusted basis, then
such adjusted basis will be reduced to zero and the excess will be capital gain to the shareholder (assuming such shares are held
as a capital asset for U.S. federal income tax purposes). If distributions result in a reduction of a shareholder’s adjusted basis in
his or her common shares, then subsequent sales of such shareholder’s common shares potentially will result in recognition of
an increased capital gain.

Legislation that modifies the rules applicable to partnership tax audits may affect us.

Under the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, liability is imposed on the partnership (rather than its partners) for adjustments
to reported partnership taxable income resulting from audits or other tax proceedings. The liability can include an imputed
underpayment of tax, calculated by using the highest marginal U.S. federal income tax rate, as well as interest and penalties on
such imputed underpayment of tax. It is possible that the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 rules could result in partnerships in
which we directly or indirectly invest (including our Operating Partnership) being required to pay additional taxes, interest and
penalties as a result of an audit adjustment, and we, as a direct or indirect partner of these partnerships, could be required to
bear the economic burden of those taxes, interest, and penalties even though we may have not been a partner in the partnership
during the year to which the audit relates and we, as a REIT, may not otherwise have been required to pay additional corporate-
level taxes as a result of the related audit adjustment. Using certain rules, partnerships may be able to transfer these liabilities to
their partners. In the event any adjustments are imposed by the IRS on the taxable income reported by any subsidiary
partnerships, we intend to utilize certain rules to the extent possible to allow us to transfer any liability with respect to such
adjustments to the partners of the subsidiary partnerships who should properly bear such liability. However, there is no
assurance that we will qualify under those rules or that we will have the authority to use those rules under the operating
agreements for certain of our subsidiary partnerships.

The changes created by the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015 rules are sweeping. Investors are urged to consult their tax
advisors with respect to these changes and their potential impact on their investment in our common shares.

Legislative or regulatory tax changes related to REITs could materially and adversely affect our business.

The U.S. federal income tax laws and regulations governing REITs and their shareholders, as well as the administrative
interpretations of those laws and regulations, are constantly under review and may be changed at any time, possibly with
retroactive effect. No assurance can be given as to whether, when, or in what form, the U.S. federal income tax laws applicable
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to us and our shareholders may be enacted. Changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws and interpretations of U.S. federal tax
laws could adversely affect an investment in our common shares.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not Applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2022, we owned a fee simple interest and a leasehold interest in 75 and 6 properties, respectively,
encompassing approximately 19.9 million rentable square feet. See Part [V, Item 15. “Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
—Schedule ITI—Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization,” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a
detailed listing of our properties. See Note 5, Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for more information about our indebtedness secured by our properties.

Revenue Concentration

No lessee or property, based on Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022, pursuant to the respective in-place
leases, was greater than 7.3% as of December 31, 2022.

The percentage of Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022, by state, based on the respective in-place leases, is as
follows (dollars in thousands):
Annualized Base

Rent Number of Percentage of
State (unaudited) Properties?  Annualized Base Rent
Arizona $ 22,069 7 9.9 %
New Jersey 18,862 5 8.4
Texas 18,212 6 8.1
Massachusetts 16,673 5 7.4
California 16,450 4 7.3
Colorado 16,060 6 7.2
Ohio 13,023 5 5.8
South Carolina 11,843 4 53
Alabama 11,153 2 5.0
Virginia 10,374 3 4.6
All Others 69,223 34 31.0
Total $ 223,942 81 100.0 %

(1)  All others account for 4.0% or less of total Annualized Base Rent on an individual state basis.

(2) Includes properties held for sale and sold subsequent to year-end; excludes properties in the Office Joint Venture.

The percentage of Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022, by industry, based on the respective in-place leases, is
as follows (dollars in thousands):

Annualized Base Rent  Number of Percentage of
Industry "® (unaudited) Lessees Annualized Base Rent
Capital Goods $ 34,218 15 15.3 %
Consumer Services 21,199 5 9.5
Materials 19,816 5 8.8
Food, Beverage & Tobacco 16,455 3 7.3
E-Commerce 16,312 1 7.3
Energy 15,895 3 7.1
Health Care Equipment & Services 13,825 6 6.2
Commercial & Professional Services 12,401 7 5.5
Consumer Durables & Apparel 11,751 4 5.2
Utilities 11,085 2 4.9
All others ) 50,985 23 22.9
Total $ 223,942 74 100.0 %

(1) Industry classification based on the Global Industry Classification Standard.
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(2)  All others account for 4.3% or less of total Annualized Base Rent on an individual industry basis.

(3) Includes properties held for sale and sold subsequent to year-end; excludes properties in the Office Joint Venture.

The percentage of Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022, for the top 10 tenants, based on the respective in-place

leases, is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Annualized Base Rent

Percentage of

Tenant'” (unaudited) Annualized Base Rent
Amazon $ 16,312 7.3 %
Keurig Dr. Pepper 11,419 5.1 %
Wood Group 10,050 45 %
Southern Company Services 9,043 4.0 %
ILAIL, 8,552 3.8 %
Freeport McMoRan 7,867 35%
Maxar Technologies 7,535 3.4 %
RH 7,340 33 %
Wyndham Hotels & Resorts 7,265 32 %
McKesson 5,973 2.7 %

(1) Excludes properties in the Office Joint Venture.

The tenant lease expirations by year based on Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022 are as follows (dollars in

thousands):

Annualized Base

Percentage of

Rent Number of Approx. Annualized Base

Year of Lease Expiration ® (unaudited) Leases Square Feet Rent

2023 $ 6,583 3 746,600 29 %
2024 24,003 11 2,357,400 10.7
2025 9,242 869,400 4.1
2026 12,567 1,449,100 5.6
2027 14,179 570,700 6.3
2028 20,990 14 2,233,700 9.4
>2028 136,378 41 10,763,600 61.0
Vacant — — 896,600 —
Total $ 223,942 87 19,887,100 100.0 %

(1) Expirations that occur on the last day of the month are shown as expiring in the subsequent month.

(2) Includes properties held for sale and sold subsequent to year-end; excludes properties in the Office Joint Venture.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of our
business. We are not a party to any material legal proceedings, nor are we aware of any pending or threatened litigation that
would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition should such litigation

be resolved unfavorably.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

As of March 24, 2023, we had approximately 62,124 Class T common shares, 200 Class S common shares, 4,668 Class D
common shares, 212,424 Class I common shares, 2,714,120 Class A common shares, 5,272,834 Class AA common shares,
102,993 Class AAA common shares and 27,629,649 Class E common shares outstanding, including common shares issued
pursuant to our DRP and share distributions held by a total of approximately 58,000 shareholders of record. There is currently
no established public trading market for our common shares. Therefore, if the proposed Listing is not completed, there is a risk
that a shareholder may not be able to sell our shares at a time or price acceptable to the shareholder, or at all.

Pursuant to the terms of our charter, certain restrictions are imposed on the ownership and transfer of shares.

As described in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” we
expect to pay distributions regularly unless our results of operations, our general financial condition, general economic
conditions, or other factors inhibit us from doing so. Distributions will be authorized at the discretion of our Board, which will
be directed, in substantial part, by its obligation to cause us to comply with the REIT requirements of the Code.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no sales of unregistered securities.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

Prior to its suspension in February 2023 in anticipation of the proposed Listing, the Company had adopted the SRP that
enabled shareholders to sell their shares to the Company in limited circumstances. The SRP was suspended on October 1, 2021
but resumed on a limited basis on August 5, 2022 (i.e., limited to redemptions in connection with a holder’s death, disability or
incompetence) with the cap on quarterly redemptions tied to a dollar amount to be set by the Board and disclosed by the
Company. Quarterly redemptions were capped at $5 million (or some other quarterly or annual amount determined by the
Board and announced at least 10 business days before the applicable redemption date). In addition, during any calendar year,
with respect to each share class, the Company was permitted to redeem no more than 5% of the weighted-average number of
shares of such class outstanding during the prior calendar year.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2022, we redeemed shares under the SRP as follows:

Total Number of Total Number of Shares Purchased Maximum Number (or Approximate
Shares Average Price as Part of Publicly Announced Dollar Value) of Shares (or Units) That
For the Month Ended Repurchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs May Yet be Purchased Under the Plans
October 31, 2022 — 3 — — —
November 30, 2022 8,633 §$ 66.60 — —
December 31, 2022 66,247 $ 66.78 — &

(1) For a description of the maximum number of shares that may be purchased under our SRP, see Note 9, Equity, to our consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 6. [Reserved]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” should be read
in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto contained in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Overview

Peakstone Realty Trust is an internally managed, publicly registered real estate investment trust (“REIT”) that owns and
operates a high-quality, newer-vintage portfolio of predominantly single-tenant industrial and office properties. These assets
are generally leased to creditworthy tenants under long-term net lease agreements with contractual rent escalations. The
Company’s wholly-owned portfolio contains properties with key characteristics, including difficult-to-replicate locations and
significant tenant investment in the building, which the Company believes make these properties more essential to the tenants.
Nearly 75% of the Annualized Base Rent (as defined below) from our wholly-owned portfolio is generated from properties
located in coastal and sun belt markets, areas where we believe demographic drivers such as strong median household income
and educational attainment create a more favorable economic backdrop.

The Company, founded in 2009 and headquartered in Los Angeles, California, is led by an experienced, cycle-tested
management team that, through equity ownership, is financially aligned with shareholders. Our executive management team has
an average of approximately 34 years of commercial real estate experience and decades of experience operating public
companies. In addition to the executive team, the Company’s nine senior real estate professionals average approximately 23
years of experience, and the entire senior real estate team has averaged nine years of experience working together. The team has
extensive knowledge of the Company’s existing portfolio and has nurtured a broad network of long-standing industry
relationships, especially in the markets where the Company’s properties are located.

On March 1, 2021, we completed our acquisition of Cole Office & Industrial REIT (CCIT II), Inc. for approximately $1.3
billion, including transaction costs, in a stock-for-stock transaction. On July 1, 2021, we changed our name from Griffin Capital
Essential Asset REIT, Inc. to Griffin Realty Trust, Inc. and our operating partnership changed its name from Griffin Capital
Essential Asset Operating Partnership L.P. to GRT OP, L.P.

On August 26, 2022, we completed the Office Portfolio Sale for a sale price of approximately $1.1 billion. On December
27,2022, we completed the Companion Office Portfolio Sale, for a sale price of approximately $170.4 million.

On February 21, 2023, we announced our intention to list our common shares on the New York Stock Exchange (the
“Listing”). We expect the Listing to occur on or about April 13, 2023, subject to, among other things, obtaining approval from
the NYSE to list our common shares.

In connection with the Office Portfolio Sale, we invested $159.9 million for a 49% interest in the Office Joint Venture in
which we are a member. In connection with the Companion Office Portfolio Sale, we invested an additional $24.3 million in
the Office Joint Venture. Our obligation to the Office Joint Venture is generally limited to such investments, and we are not
obligated to make any capital contributions. The Office Joint Venture, through various subsidiary borrowers, obtained
acquisition financing for the Office Portfolio Sale comprised of (a) a $736.0 million mortgage loan (the “Mortgage Loan”), and
(b) a $194.8 million mezzanine loan (the “Mezzanine Loan”, and together with the Mortgage Loan, the “Office JV Loans”).
The initial maturity date of the Office JV Loans is September 9, 2023, subject to two, one-year extension options. The interest
rates during the initial term of the Mortgage Loan and the Mezzanine Loan are Term SOFR (1-month) (with a 3% interest rate
cap on SOFR) + 3.635% (subject to a 0.25% increase during each extension term) and Term SOFR (1-month) with a 3%
interest rate cap on SOFR + 6.574% (subject to a 0.25% increase during each extension term), respectively.

The Office Joint Venture, through various subsidiary borrowers, also obtained acquisition financing for the Companion
Office Portfolio Sale comprised of a $142.1 million mortgage loan, having an initial maturity date of January 6, 2024 (subject
to two, one-year extension options), and an interest rate during the initial term of Term SOFR (1-month) with a 4% interest rate
cap on SOFR + 4.25% (subject to a 0.25% increase during each extension term). We have not guaranteed any debt obligations
and have not otherwise committed to providing financial support in respect of the debt. In addition, we do not anticipate
receiving any near-term cash flow distributions. Considering our limited economic exposure to the Office Joint Venture, we
exclude interests in the assets in the Office Joint Venture from operating data (including annualized base rent and leasing and
occupancy percentages).

In connection with the Office JV Loans, our Operating Partnership and GRT VAO Sub entered into a certain Put
Agreement with JPM, pursuant to which JPM had the right to put to our Operating Partnership and GRT VAO Sub a portion of
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the Mezzanine Interest. On September 29, 2022, JPM sold to GRT VAO Sub the Mezzanine Interest for approximately $34.4
million, which was included in the line item “Investments in unconsolidated entities” in the consolidated balance sheets. On
December 23, 2022, we sold the Mezzanine Interest for $31.0 million and recorded a loss of approximately $3.6 million, which
includes accrued interest and is presented in the “Net loss from investment in unconsolidated entities” in the consolidated
statement of operations.

As of December 31, 2022, our wholly owned properties consisted of 81 properties in 24 states and excludes the properties
included in the Office Joint Venture, as discussed above. Our Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022 is approximately
$223.9 million. As of December 31, 2022, our portfolio was approximately 95.5% leased (based on square footage) and 94.8%
occupied (based on square footage) with a weighted average remaining lease term of 7.11 years, and had a weighted average
annual rent increases of approximately 2.0%. Approximately 61.5% of our Annualized Base Rent as of December 31, 2022 is
expected to be generated by properties leased and/or guaranteed, directly or indirectly, by companies that have investment grade
credit ratings or what management believes are generally equivalent ratings. Management can provide no assurance as to the
comparability of these ratings methodologies or that any particular rating for a company is indicative of the rating that a single
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization (“NRSRO”’) would provide in the event that it rated all companies for
which the Company provides credit ratings; to the extent such companies are rated only by non-NRSRO ratings providers, such
ratings providers may use methodologies that are different and less rigorous than those applied by NRSROs; moreover, because
we provide credit ratings for some companies that are non-guarantor parents of our tenants, such credit ratings may not be
indicative of the creditworthiness of the relevant tenants.

Outlook

Demand for office space nationwide has declined and may continue to decline due to the current economic downturn,
recent and ongoing disruption in the debt and banking markets, bankruptcies, downsizing, layoffs, government regulations and
restrictions on travel and permitted businesses operations that may be extended in duration and become recurring, increased
usage of teleworking arrangements and cost cutting resulting from the pandemic, which could lead to lower office occupancy.
We expect such decline in demand for office space to have a negative impact on our ability to renew and replace office leases as
they expire, including office leases in more than a quarter of leases in our portfolio (as a percentage of Annualized Base Rent)
that are scheduled to expire in the next three years. See “Revenue Concentration” above and “Results of Operations - Outlook”
below. Further, our ability to sell our office assets may be limited in the current economic climate.

While we did not incur significant disruptions from the COVID-19 pandemic during the year ended December 31, 2022,
we are unable to predict the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic and associated hybrid work practices will have on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows due to numerous uncertainties. As of March 15, 2023, we have
received approximately 100% of our portfolio rent payments for the full year 2022 and January and February 2023.

Critical Accounting Estimates

We have established accounting estimates which conform to GAAP in the United States as contained in the FASB ASC.
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. If our judgment or interpretation of the
facts and circumstances relating to the various transactions had been different, it is possible that different estimates would have
been applied, thus resulting in a different presentation of the financial statements. Additionally, other companies may use
different estimates and assumptions that may impact the comparability of our financial condition and results of operations to
those companies.

The following critical accounting estimates discussion reflects what we believe are the most significant estimates,
assumptions, and judgments that have had or are reasonably likely to have a material impact on our financial condition or our
results of operations. This discussion of our critical accounting estimates is intended to supplement the description of our
accounting policies in the footnotes to our consolidated financial statements and to provide additional insight into the
information used by management when evaluating significant estimates, assumptions, and judgments. For further discussion on
our significant accounting policies, see Note 2, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our
consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Real Estate - Valuation and Purchase Price Allocation
When we acquire operating properties, we allocate the purchase price on an asset acquisition to the various components of

the acquisition based upon the relative fair value of each component. The components typically include land, building and
improvements, tenant improvements, intangible assets related to above and below market leases, intangible assets related to in-
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place leases, debt and other assumed assets and liabilities. Transaction costs are capitalized as a component of the cost of the
asset acquisition.

We allocate the purchase price to the relative fair value of the tangible assets of a property by valuing the property as if it
were vacant. This “as-if vacant” value is estimated using an income, or discounted cash flow, approach that relies upon Level 3
inputs, which are unobservable inputs based on our assumptions about the assumptions a market participant would use. These
Level 3 inputs include discount rates, capitalization rates, market rents and comparable sales data for similar properties.
Estimates of future cash flows are based on a number of factors, including historical operating results, known and anticipated
trends, and market and economic conditions.

In determining the relative fair value of intangible lease assets or liabilities, we also consider Level 3 inputs. Acquired
above- and below-market leases are valued based on the present value of the difference between prevailing market rates and the
in-place rates measured over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease for above-market leases and the initial term plus
the term of any below-market fixed rate renewal options for below-market leases, if applicable. The estimated relative fair value
of acquired in-place at-market tenant leases are the costs that would have been incurred to lease the property to the occupancy
level of the property at the date of acquisition. Such estimates include the value associated with leasing commissions, legal and
other costs, as well as the estimated period necessary to lease such property that would be incurred to lease the property to its
occupancy level at the time of its acquisition. Acquisition costs associated with an asset acquisition are capitalized as a
component of the transaction.

The difference between the fair value and the face value of debt assumed in connection with an acquisition is recorded as
a premium or discount and amortized to “interest expense” over the life of the debt assumed. The valuation of assumed
liabilities is based on our estimate of the current market rates for similar liabilities in effect at the acquisition date.

For acquisitions that do not meet the accounting criteria of an asset acquisition, acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.
Impairment of Real Estate and Related Intangible Assets and Liabilities

We continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of real estate
and related intangible assets may not be recoverable. When indicators of potential impairment are present that indicate that the
carrying amounts of real estate and related intangible assets may not be recoverable, management will assess the recoverability
of the assets by determining whether the carrying value of the assets will be recovered through the undiscounted future
operating cash flows expected from the use of the assets and the eventual disposition. If, based on this analysis, we do not
believe that we will be able to recover the carrying value of the asset, we will record an impairment loss to the extent the
carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset.

Projections of expected future undiscounted cash flows require management to estimate future market rental income
amounts subsequent to the expiration of current lease agreements, property operating expenses, discount rates, the number of
months it takes to re-lease the property and the number of years the property is held for investment. For the year ended
December 31, 2022, in connection with the preparation and review of the Company's financial statements, we recorded an
impairment provision related to the building and land on eleven office properties. See Note 3, Real Estate, to our consolidated
financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for details.

Impairment of Goodwill

Goodwill arises from business combinations and represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net fair
value amounts that were assigned to the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The Company recorded
goodwill as a result of the transaction that resulted in the internalization of GRT management in December 2018 (“Self-
Administration Transaction”).

The Company’s goodwill has an indeterminate life and is not amortized, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis
for each reporting unit, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset is more likely than not
impaired. On October Ist of each period, the Company performs a qualitative analysis to determine whether an impairment of
goodwill exists prior to quantitatively determining the fair value of the reporting units in step one of the impairment test. If a
quantitative assessment is deemed necessary, and to the extent the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s allocated goodwill
exceeds the unit’s fair value, the Company recognizes an impairment of goodwill for the excess up to the amount of goodwill of
that reporting unit.
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Due to the Company’s operating segment realignment in the fourth quarter of 2022 (refer to Segment Information within
the Results of Operations below), the composition of its reporting units for the evaluation of goodwill impairment was changed
and resulted in a quantitative assessment of goodwill impairment. Prior to the change, the Company tested the goodwill for
impairment at the previous single reporting unit, which did not result in any impairment charge. Goodwill is now allocated
across all three of the Company’s Office, Industrial, and Other reporting units on a relative fair value basis, which is determined
as the fair value of assets less liabilities for each reporting unit. Given this method, the fair value of real estate assets and
mortgage loans included within each reporting unit were the significant components in determining relative fair value. The
Company estimated the fair value of real estate assets using a discounted cash flow model, including forecasted future cash
flows based on significant assumptions such as market rent, and the determination of appropriate discount and terminal
capitalization rates. The Company estimated the fair value of the mortgage loans in each reporting unit by discounting each
loan’s principal balance over the remaining term of the mortgage using current borrowing rates available to the Company for
debt instruments with similar terms and maturities. The Company determined that the amounts within the consolidated financial
statements for the remaining assets and liabilities approximated fair value. For any corporate related amounts that were not
specifically identifiable to any reporting unit, the Company allocated those amounts on a relative fair value basis using the
specifically identified assets and liabilities.

As a result of the quantitative assessment as of December 31, 2022, the Company concluded that it was more likely than
not that the fair value of the office reporting unit was less than the carrying amount, especially given the general decline in
overall demand for office assets. Thus, the Company recorded a $135.3 million goodwill impairment, which represents the
entire amount of goodwill allocated to the office segment.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Results of Operations
Overview

Our ability to re-lease space subject to expiring leases will impact our results of operations and is affected by economic
and competitive conditions in our markets. Leases that comprise approximately a quarter of the leases in our portfolio are
scheduled to expire in the next three years, including approximately 2.9%, 10.7% and 4.1% of our Annualized Base Rent
expiring in 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively. We assume, based upon internal renewal probability estimates, that some of our
tenants will renew and others will vacate and the associated space will be re-let subject to market leasing assumptions.

Segment Information

In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company evolved the management strategy of its real estate portfolio to focus on three
different property types in order to maximize the value of the assets within each group. As a result, the Company changed to
three reportable segments: Industrial, Office, and Other. The Industrial segment consists of high-quality, well-located industrial
properties with modern specifications. The Office segment consists of newer, high-quality, and business-essential office
properties. The Other segment consists of vacant and non-core properties, together with other properties in the same cross-
collateralized loan pools. This segment includes properties that are either non-stabilized, leased to tenants with shorter lease
terms or are being evaluated for repositioning, re-leasing or potential sale. The Company recast its segment results for all prior
periods presented to show the three reportable segments.

Recent Developments

The following are significant developments in our business during 2022 and since the end of 2022:

* On August 26, 2022, we sold a 41-property office portfolio located across the continental United States as part of the
Office Portfolio Sale for a sale price of $1.1 billion, less closing costs and other closing credits. In connection with the
sale, we entered into the Office Joint Venture, in which we own a minority interest in the 41-property portfolio (see

Note 4, Investment in Unconsolidated Entities to the consolidated financial statements);

»  Upon the closing of the Office Portfolio Sale, we repaid approximately $1.0 billion of outstanding debt primarily from
the proceeds of property sales during the year;
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*  On September 23, 2022, we sold one property in Phoenix, Arizona for a sale price of $93.0 million, less closing costs
and other closing credits;

*  On September 28, 2022, we executed a fifth amendment to our existing credit agreement, which extended the maturity
date from September 28, 2022 to September 2023 (see Liquidity and Capital Resource section);

*  On September 29, 2022, in connection with the Office JV Loans, we purchased an interest in the Mezzanine Loan for
$34.4 million;

*  On November 30, 2022, we executed a sixth amendment to our existing credit agreement, which amended the
covenant regarding Tangible Net Worth (see Liquidity and Capital Resource section);

*  On December 22, 2022, we sold one property located in Birmingham, Alabama for total proceeds of $33.3 million,
less closing costs and other credits;

e On December 23, 2022, we sold the Mezzanine Interest, which we purchased for $34.4 million, for $31.0 million;

e On December 27, 2022, we sold a five-property office portfolio for a sale price of $170.4 million and purchased
additional interest in the Office Joint Venture (see Note 4, Investment in Unconsolidated Entities to the consolidated
financial statements).

e On January 6, 2023, we sold one property located in Irvine, California for approximately $40.0 million, less closing
costs and other credits;

e On February 16, 2023, we sold one property located in Clinton, South Carolina for approximately $19.3 million, less
closing costs and other credits;

e On March 2, 2023, we sold one property located in Herndon, Virginia for approximately $110.3 million, less closing
costs and other credits;

On March 21, 2023, we further extended the maturity date of the Revolving Credit Facility through January 2026,
subject to, among other things, the Company completing a listing of its common shares on the New York Stock
Exchange; and

* In connection with the Revolving Credit Facility extension, we prepaid the outstanding principal balance
($400,000,000) of our 2024 Term Loan by drawing on our revolver.

Same Store Analysis
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our "Same Store" portfolio consisted of 63 properties, encompassing
approximately 16.9 million square feet, with an acquisition value of $2.5 billion and Annualized Base Rent as of December 31,
2022 was $167.7 million. Our Same Store portfolio includes properties which were held for a full period for all periods
presented. The following table provides a comparative summary of the results of operations for the 63 properties for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change
Rental income $ 214,702 $ 206,016 $ 8,686 4 %
Property operating expense 21,793 20,830 963 5%
Property tax expense 17,424 16,248 1,176 7 %

Rental Income

The following table provides summary information for our Same Store portfolio revenues, by reportable segment, for the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):
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Year Ended December 31,

Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change
Rental income
Industrial $ 57,647 $ 56,237 $ 1,410 3%
Office 101,857 91,549 10,308 11 %
Other 55,198 58,230 (3,032) (5)%
Total rental income $ 214,702 $ 206,016 $ 8,686 4%

Same Store rental income increased by approximately $8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2021 primarily due to the Office segment.

Office rental income increased $10.3 million primarily due to (1) an $8.2 million increase in termination income; (2) a
$4.2 million increase in lease commencements and amendments to existing tenant leases during the year ended December 31,
2022; (3) $1.0 million of fully amortized and written off intangibles in the year ended December 31, 2022 due to terminations
or amendments to existing leases; and (4) an approximately $0.3 million increase in common area reconciliations due to timing
of operating expense reconciliations; offset by (5) a reduction of $3.4 million in rental income related to expiring and early
terminated leases in the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to prior year.

Other rental income decreased approximately $3.0 million primarily due to (1) a $5.9 million decrease from naturally
expiring leases, terminations, and vacancies; offset by (2) a $2.3 million increase in termination income; and (3) $0.4 million in
new leasing activity and amendments in 2021.

Property Operating Expense

The following table provides summary information for our Same Store portfolio operating expense, by reportable
segment, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change
Property operating expense
Industrial $ 3,305 % 2,559 § 746 29 %
Office 7,937 7,416 521 7%
Other 10,551 10,855 (304) 3)%
Total property operating expense $ 21,793 $ 20,830 $ 963 5%

Same Store property operating expense increased by approximately $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily due to the Industrial segment. Industrial property operating expenses
increased $0.8 million primarily as a result of a $0.5 million increase in repair, maintenance and snow removal expenses.

Property Tax Expense

The following table provides summary information for our Same Store portfolio property tax expense, by reportable
segment, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change
Property tax expense
Industrial $ 4305 $ 4,100 $ 205 5%
Office 5,781 4,775 1,006 21 %
Other 7,338 7,373 (35) — %
Total property tax expense $ 17,424  § 16,248 § 1,176 7%

Same Store property tax expense increased by approximately $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 primarily due to the Office segment.
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Office property tax expense increased $1.0 million primarily as a result of (1) an increase of $0.7 million due to one
property becoming landlord-managed instead of tenant-managed, which requires us to record property tax expense and
corresponding recovery revenue and (2) a $0.3 million increase due to a reassessments and special assessments at two
properties during the year ended December 31, 2022.

The following chart sets forth expenses not directly related to the operations of the reportable segments for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change
Property management fees to non-affiliates $ 1.647 $ 1.609 $ 38 29
Depreciation and amortization 98.178 91.246 6.932 8 %

Depreciation and Amortization

Same Store depreciation and amortization increased by approximately $6.9 million due to (1) an increase of $5.4 million
in accelerated amortization of intangibles due to early terminated leases and (2) $1.7 million of new assets being placed into
service.

Portfolio Analysis

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table provides summary information about our results of operations directly related to the operations of the
reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change
Rental income $ 416,485 § 459,872 § (43,387) 9)%
Property operating expense 52,451 61,259 (8,808) (14)%
Property tax expense 37,317 41,248 (3,931) (10)%

Rental Income

The following table provides summary information for our consolidated portfolio revenues, by reportable segment, for the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change

Rental income

Industrial $ 61,347 $ 59,320 $ 2,027 3%
Office 297,110 340,265 (43,155) (13)%
Other 58,028 60,287 (2,259) (4%
Total rental income $ 416,485 $ 459,872 $ (43,387) 9)%

Rental income decreased approximately $43.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same period
a year ago primarily due to the Office segment.

Office rental income decreased $43.2 million primarily due to (1) $56.0 million decrease due to the Office Portfolio Sale
in August 2022; offset by an increase of (2) $9.2 million due to two additional months of rental income in the year ended
December 31, 2022 compared to the prior year as a result of the CCIT II Merger in March 2021; (3) $2.1 million in higher
termination income in the year ended December 31, 2022; (4) $1.5 million in 2022 leasing activity and amendments to existing
tenant leases; and (5) an increase of $1.2 million in recoveries from common area and operating expense reconciliations.
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Property Operating Expense

The following table provides summary information for our consolidated portfolio operating expense, by reportable

segment, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change

Property operating expense

Industrial $ 3319 $ 3,197 $ 122 4%
Office 38,200 47,027 (8,827) (19)%
Other 10,932 11,036 (104) (D%
Total property operating expense $ 52,451 $ 61,260 $ (8,809) (14)%

Property operating expense decreased approximately $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the

same period a year ago primarily due to the Office segment.

Office property operating expense decreased $8.8 million primarily due to (1) a $10.9 million decrease related to the sale

of the Office Portfolio Sale in 2022; offset by (2) a $1.7 million increase in repair, maintenance and utility expense.

Property Tax Expense

The following table provides summary information for our consolidated portfolio property tax expense, by reportable

segment, for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change

Property tax expense

Industrial $ 4299 § 3,734 $ 565 15 %
Office 25,593 30,073 (4,480) (15)%
Other 7,425 7,442 (17) — %
Total property tax expense $ 37,317 $ 41,249 § (3,932) (10)%

Property tax expense decreased approximately $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same

period a year ago primarily due to the Industrial and Office segments.

Office property tax expense decreased $4.5 million primarily due to (1) a $6.2 million decrease related to property
dispositions, primarily relating to the Office Portfolio Sale; offset by (2) a $1.0 million increase due to CCIT II properties
acquired in March 2021, driving two additional months of property tax expense in 2022; and (3) $0.7 million due to one
property becoming landlord-managed instead of tenant-managed, which requires us to record property tax expense and

corresponding recovery revenue.

Industrial property tax expense increased $0.6 million primarily due to tax rate changes at two properties.
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The following chart sets forth expenses not directly related to the operations of the reportable segments for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Increase/ Percentage
2022 2021 (Decrease) Change
Property management fees to non-affiliates $ 3496 $ 4,066 $ (570) (14)%
General and administrative expenses 39,893 40,479 (586) (D)%
Corporate operating expenses to affiliates 1,349 2,520 (1,171) (46)%
Depreciation and amortization 190,745 209,638 (18,893) 9%
Impairment provision, real estate 127,577 4,242 123,335 2,907 %
Impairment provision, goodwill 135,270 — 135,270 100 %
Interest expense 84,816 85,087 (271) — %
Debt breakage costs 13,249 — 13,249 100 %
(Loss) income from investment in unconsolidated entities (9,993) 8 (10,001) (125,013)%
Net loss from disposition of assets 139,280 326 138,954 42,624 %
Transaction expense 22,386 966 21,420 2,217 %

Property Management Fees to Non-Affiliates

Property management fees to non-affiliates decreased approximately $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the same period a year ago primarily due to the Office Portfolio Sale.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased approximately $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the same period a year ago primarily due to (1) a $1.9 million decrease in corporate payroll due to lower
employment numbers and shared services allocations in 2022; (2) a $0.7 million decrease in professional fees, less professional
services rendered in 2022 compared to a year prior; offset by (3) a $2.1 million increase due to 2022 restricted share award
amortization.

Corporate Operating Expenses to Affiliates

Corporate operating expenses to affiliates decreased approximately $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the same period a year ago primarily due to the amendment to the Administrative Services Agreement in the year
ended December 31, 2022, which reduces the services provided.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased approximately $18.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to
the same period a year ago primarily due to (1) a $25.2 million decrease due to the Office Portfolio Sale in August 2022; (2)
$2.0 million related to accelerated amortization due to terminated leases in the prior year; offset by an increase of (3) $7.3
million as a result of two additional months of depreciation and amortization expense in the year ended December 31, 2022
from the CCIT II Merger compared to prior year; and (4) $1.6 million related to fixed asset additions during the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Impairment Provision, Real Estate

Impairment provision, real estate increased approximately $123.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022
compared to the same period a year ago primarily due to the Company’s assessment that eleven properties were impaired in
2022.

Impairment Provision, Goodwill

Impairment provision, goodwill increased approximately $135.3 million for year ended December 31, 2022 compared to
the same period a year ago primarily due to the assignment of goodwill to new reporting units in 2022.
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Debt Breakage Costs

Debt breakage costs increased approximately $13.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same
period a year ago due to breakage costs for the early payoff of the Midland Mortgage Loan of $0.9 million and the Bank of
America Loan of $12.3 million made in connection with the Office Portfolio Sale.

(Loss) Income from Investment in Unconsolidated Entities

Loss from investment in unconsolidated entities increased approximately $10.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2022 compared to the same period a year ago primarily due to (1) $7.4 million of our share of the Office Joint Venture net loss;
(2) a $3.6 million loss on the sale of the Mezzanine Interest; offset by (3) $0.9 million interest payments received on the
Mezzanine Loan.

Net Loss from Disposition of Assets

Loss from disposition of assets increased approximately $139.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as
compared to the same period a year ago primarily due to (1) the loss of $105.9 million related to the Office Portfolio Sale in
August 2022; (2) the loss of $43.0 million related to the Companion Office Portfolio Sale in December 2022; (3) the loss of
$0.8 million related the sale of one property in December 2022; offset by the (4) gain on sale of $10.4 million due to the sale of
one property in September 2022.

Transaction Expense

Transaction expense increased approximately $21.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to the same
period a year ago due to the timing of costs incurred related to strategic transactions.

Same Store Analysis
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our "Same Store" portfolio consisted of 97 properties, encompassing
approximately 24.7 million square feet, with an acquisition value of $4.0 billion and Annualized Base Rent of $288.0 million.
Our "Same Store" portfolio includes properties which were held for a full period for all periods presented. The following table
provides a comparative summary of the results of operations directly related to the operations of the reportable segments for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change
Rental income $ 380,189 § 384,220 § (4,031) (1%
Property operating expense 52,465 52,565 (100) — %
Property tax expense 36,479 36,107 372 1%
Rental Income
Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change
Rental income
Industrial $ 54,140 $ 62,415 § (8,275) (13)%
Office 267,819 262,328 5,491 2%
Other 58,230 59,477 (1,247) 2)%
Total rental income $ 380,189 § 384,220 § (4,031) (1)%

Rental income decreased by approximately $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2020 primarily due to the Industrial and Office segments.

Industrial rental income decreased approximately $8.3 million primarily due to (1) a decrease of $11.0 million of
termination income in 2021; offset by an increase of approximately (2) $1.1 million due to intangibles written off in 2020 that
was non-recurring in 2021; (3) $0.6 million in recoveries of prior year reconciliations due to timing of operating expenses; and
(4) $0.4 million of new leases and amendment commencements.
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Office rental income increased approximately $5.5 million primarily due to (1) a $4.1 million increase in termination
income; (2) a $5.6 million increase in 2021 leasing activity and amendments to existing tenant leases; offset by a decrease of (3)
$5.0 million due to naturally expiring and early terminated leases.

Property Operating Expense

The following table provides summary information for our Same Store portfolio operating expense, by reportable
segment, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change
Property operating expense
Industrial $ 2,550 § 1,958 § 592 30 %
Office 39,059 40,441 (1,382) 3)%
Other 10,856 10,166 690 7%
Total property operating expense $ 52,465 $ 52,565 $ (100) 0 %

Same Store Industrial property operating expense increased by approximately $0.6 million due to increased repair,
maintenance, and snow removal expense at two properties.

Same Store Office property operating expense decreased by approximately $1.4 million due to a $1.0 decrease in repair,
maintenance, and service expense at five properties.

Property Tax Expense

The following table provides summary information for our Same Store portfolio property tax expense, by reportable
segment, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change

Property tax expense

Industrial $ 4,100 $ 3981 $ 119 3%
Office 25,006 24,587 419 2%
Other 7,373 7,539 (166) 2)%
Total property tax expense $ 36,479 $ 36,107 § 372 1%

Office Same Store property tax expense increased $0.4 million primarily due to the adjustment of final property tax
amounts and tax rate increases from prior year.
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The following chart sets forth expenses not directly related to the operations of the reportable segments for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change
Property management fees to non-affiliates $ 3,409 $ 3414 $ ) — %
Depreciation and amortization 160,022 156,069 3,953 3%

Same Store depreciation and amortization expense increased approximately $4.0 million primarily due to (1) $3.6 million
related to fixed asset additions subsequent to December 31, 2020; and (2) $0.1 million related to accelerated amortization due to
terminated leases.

Portfolio Analysis

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

The following table provides summary information about our results of operations directly related to the operations of the
reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change
Rental income $ 459,872 § 397,452 § 62,420 16 %
Property operating expense 61,259 57,461 3,798 7%
Property tax expense 41,248 37,590 3,658 10 %
Rental Income
Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change
Rental income
Industrial $ 59,320 $ 69,047 § (9,727) (14)%
Office 340,265 268,928 71,337 27 %
Other 60,287 59,477 810 1%
Total rental income $ 459,872 $ 397,452 § 62,420 16 %

Rental income increased approximately $62.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2020 primarily due to the Office and Industrial segments.

Office rental income increased approximately $71.3 million primarily due to (1) a $71.6 million increase primarily related
to the CCIT II Merger in 2021; (2) $5.6 million increase in 2021 leasing activity and amendments to existing tenant leases; (3) a
$4.5 million increase in termination income; offset by a (4) $5.0 million lower base rent income due to expiring leases and
terminations; (5) a $4.4 million decrease due to the sale of properties; and (6) a $1.2 million decrease due to the early
termination and related write-off of the in-place lease (above market) of one office property.

Industrial rental income decreased approximately $9.7 million primarily due to (1) a $15.4 million decrease in termination
income in 2021; offset by (2) an increase of $3.1 million primarily related to the CCIT II Merger during the year; (3) an
increase of $1.1 million due to intangibles written off in the prior year; (4) a $0.4 million increase in 2021 leasing activity and
amendments to existing tenant leases; (5) a $0.4 million increase due to one property becoming landlord-managed instead of
tenant-managed, which requires us to record recovery revenue and corresponding recoverable expenses; and (6) $0.3 million
increase due to timing of common area and operating expense reconciliations.
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Property Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31,
Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change

Property operating expense

Industrial $ 3,197 $ 4421 $ (1,224) (28)%
QS 47,027 42,867 4,160 10 %
Other 11,035 10,173 862 8%
Total property operating expense 3 61259 § 57.461 $ 3,798 7%

Property operating expense increased approximately $3.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to

the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily due to the Office and Industrial segments.

Office property operating expense increased approximately $4.2 million primarily due to (1) $7.7 million related to the
CCIT II Merger in 2021; offset by (2) a decrease of $2.2 million due to the sale of four properties and (3) $0.6 million decrease

in repair, maintenance, service and utility expense primarily related to services not renewed in 2021.

Industrial property operating expense decreased $1.2 million primarily due to the sale of one property.

Property Tax Expense
Year Ended December 31, Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change

Property operating expense

Industrial $ 3,734 $ 4,493 § (759) 7%
Office 30,073 25,559 4,514 18 %
Other 7,441 7,538 97) (1%
Total property operating expense $ 41,248 § 37,590 $ 3,658 10 %

Property tax expense increased approximately $3.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the

year ended December 31, 2020 primarily due to the Office segment.

Office property tax expense increased $4.5 million primarily due to (1) $5.2 million related to the CCIT II Merger in

2021; offset by (2) a $1.1 million decrease as a result of the sale of four properties.

The following chart sets forth expenses not directly related to the operations of the reportable segments for the years

ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase/ Percentage
2021 2020 (Decrease) Change
Property management fees to non-affiliates $ 4,066 $ 3,656 $ 410 11 %
General and administrative expenses 40,479 38,633 1,846 5%
Corporate operating expenses to affiliates 2,520 2,500 20 1%
Depreciation and amortization 209,638 161,056 48,582 30 %
Impairment provision, real estate 4,242 23,472 (19,230) (82)%
Interest expense 85,087 79,646 5,441 7%
Income (loss) from investment in unconsolidated entities 8 (6,523) 6,531 (100)%
(Loss) gain from disposition of assets (326) 4,083 (4,409) (108)%
Other income, net 1,521 3,228 (1,707) (53)%
Transaction expense (966) — (966) 100 %

Property Management Fees to Non-Affiliates

The increase in property management fees to non-affiliates of approximately $0.4 million during the year ended

December 31, 2021 is primarily due to the CCIT II Merger occurring during the period.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by approximately $1.8 million
primarily due to (1) $1.9 million in additional restricted stock expense primarily as a result of the amortization of 2021
restricted stock unit grants, including a one-time grant associated with the CCIT II Merger; (2) an increase of $2.5 million in
professional and transfer agent fees; (3) a $0.9 million in increase in information technology costs and state taxes; offset by (4)
write-offs of $4.4 million in project costs in the fourth quarter of 2020.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased by approximately $48.6 million as a result
of (1) $48.3 million as a result of the CCIT II Merger during the year ended December 31, 2021; and (2) $3.6 million related to
fixed asset additions subsequent to December 31, 2020; offset by (3) approximately $3.5 million related to accelerated
amortization due to terminated leases and assets sold in 2020.

Impairment Provision, Real Estate

Impairment provision, real estate decreased by approximately $19.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021
primarily due to the Company’s assessment that three properties were impaired in 2021.

Interest Expense

The increase of approximately $5.4 million in interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 is primarily due to
(1) $6.6 million of interest and financing expenses related to the $400M 5-Year Term Loan 2025; offset by (2) a $0.9 million
decrease as a result of lower interest rates compared to the prior year.

Income (Loss) from Investment in Unconsolidated Entities

The reduction of approximately $6.5 million in loss from investment in unconsolidated entities for the year ended
December 31, 2021 is primarily due to an other-than-temporary impairment loss and winding down of our investments in our
unconsolidated joint venture in the prior period.

Loss from Disposition of Assets

The increase in loss from disposition of assets of approximately $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 is
primarily the result of the gain on the sale of one property in 2020.

Other Income, net

The decrease in other income of approximately $1.7 million is primarily a result of adjusting our earn-out liability in 2020
due to changes in equity raise projections.

Transaction expense

The increase in transaction expense of approximately $1.0 million is primarily due to certain strategic initiative costs in
2021.

Funds from Operations and Adjusted Funds from Operations
Our reported results are presented in accordance with GAAP. We also disclose Funds from Operations (“FFO”) and
Adjusted Funds from Operations (“AFFO”) both of which are non-GAAP financial measures. We believe these two non-GAAP

financial measures are useful to investors because they are widely accepted industry measures used by analysts and investors to
compare the operating performance of REITs.
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We compute FFO in accordance with the definition adopted by the Board of Governors of the National Association of
Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). FFO is defined as net income or loss computed in accordance with GAAP,
excluding extraordinary items, as defined by GAAP, and gains and losses from sales of depreciable real estate assets, adding
back impairment write-downs of depreciable real estate assets, plus real estate related depreciation and amortization (excluding
amortization of deferred financing costs and depreciation of non-real estate assets), and after adjustment for unconsolidated
partnerships, joint ventures and preferred distributions. Because FFO calculations exclude such items as depreciation and
amortization of depreciable real estate assets and gains and losses from sales of depreciable real estate assets (which can vary
among owners of identical assets in similar conditions based on historical cost accounting and useful-life estimates), they
facilitate comparisons of operating performance between periods and between other REITs. As a result, we believe that the use
of FFO, together with the required GAAP presentations, provides a more complete understanding of our performance relative to
our competitors and a more informed and appropriate basis on which to make decisions involving operating, financing, and
investing activities. It should be noted, however, that other REITs may not define FFO in accordance with the current NAREIT
definition or may interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do, making comparisons less meaningful.

Additionally, we use AFFO as a non-GAAP financial measure to evaluate our operating performance. AFFO excludes
non-routine and certain non-cash items such as revenues in excess of cash received, amortization of share-based compensation
net, deferred rent, amortization of in-place lease valuation, acquisition-related costs, financed termination fee, net of payments
received, gain or loss from the extinguishment of debt, unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments, write-off transaction
costs and other one-time transactions. FFO and AFFO have been revised to include amounts available to both common
shareholders and limited partners for all periods presented.

AFFO is a measure used among our peer group. We also believe that AFFO is a recognized measure of sustainable
operating performance by the REIT industry. Further, we believe AFFO is useful in comparing the sustainability of our
operating performance with the sustainability of the operating performance of other real estate companies.

Management believes that AFFO is a beneficial indicator of our ongoing portfolio performance and ability to sustain our
current distribution level. More specifically, AFFO isolates the financial results of our operations. AFFO, however, is not
considered an appropriate measure of historical earnings as it excludes certain significant costs that are otherwise included in
reported earnings. Further, since the measure is based on historical financial information, AFFO for the period presented may
not be indicative of future results or our future ability to make or sustain distributions. By providing FFO and AFFO, we
present information that assists investors in aligning their analysis with management’s analysis of long-term operating
activities.

For all of these reasons, we believe the non-GAAP measures of FFO and AFFO, in addition to net income (loss) are helpful
supplemental performance measures and useful to investors in evaluating the performance of our real estate portfolio. However,
a material limitation associated with FFO and AFFO is that they are not indicative of our cash available to fund distributions
since other uses of cash, such as capital expenditures at our properties and principal payments of debt, are not deducted when
calculating FFO and AFFO. The use of AFFO as a measure of long-term operating performance on value is also limited if we
do not continue to operate under our current business plan as noted above. FFO and AFFO should not be viewed as a more
prominent measure of performance than net income (loss) and each should be reviewed in connection with GAAP
measurements.

Neither the SEC, NAREIT, nor any other applicable regulatory body has opined on the acceptability of the adjustments
contemplated to adjust FFO in order to calculate AFFO and its use as a non-GAAP performance measure. In the future,
NAREIT may decide to standardize the allowable exclusions across the REIT industry, and we may have to adjust the
calculation and characterization of this non-GAAP measure.
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Our calculation of FFO and AFFO is presented in the following table for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and

2020 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Net (loss) income

Adjustments:
Depreciation of building and improvements
Amortization of leasing costs and intangibles

Impairment provision, real estate

Equity interest of depreciation of building and improvements - unconsolidated entities

Equity interest of amortization of intangible assets - unconsolidated entities

Loss from disposition of assets, net
Company's share of loss on sale of unconsolidated entity

Impairment of unconsolidated entities
FFO
Distributions to redeemable preferred shareholders
FFO attributable to common shareholders and partners
Reconciliation of FFO to AFFO:
FFO attributable to common shareholders and partners

Adjustments:

Non-cash earn-out adjustment

Revenues in excess of cash received, net
Amortization of share-based compensation
Deferred rent - ground lease

Amortization of above/(below) market rent, net
Amortization of debt premium/(discount), net
Amortization of below tax benefit amortization
Amortization of deferred financing costs

Amortization of lease inducements

Company's share of amortization of deferred financing costs- unconsolidated entity

Amortization of ground leasehold interests
Financed termination fee payments received
Loss on debt breakage costs — write-off of deferred financing costs

Company's share of revenues in excess of cash received (straight-line rents) -
unconsolidated entity

Unrealized loss (gain) on investments
Company's share of amortization of above market rent - unconsolidated entity
Unconsolidated joint venture valuation adjustment
Employee separation expense
Write-off of reserve liability
Write-off of transaction costs
Transaction expenses
Impairment provision, goodwill
Debt breakage costs
AFFO available to common shareholders and partners
FFO per share, basic and diluted
AFFO per share, basic and diluted

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic EPS

Weighted-average OP Units
Weighted-average common shares and OP Units outstanding - basic FFO/AFFO
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Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
(441,382) $ 11,570 $ (5,774)
113,191 125,388 93,979
77,926 84,598 67,366
127,577 4,242 23,472
4,643 — 1,438

— — 1,751
139,280 326 (4,083)
3,558 (8) —
— — 1,906
24793 $ 226,116 $ 180,055
(10,063) (9,698) (8,708)
14,730 § 216,418 $ 171,347
14,730  $ 216,418 $ 171,347
— — (2,581)
(15,407) (10,780) (25,686)
9,573 7,470 4,108
1,951 2,064 2,065
(2,205) (1,323) (2,292)
409 409 412
1,494 1,252 _
3,544 3,184 2,195
537 278 —
3,740 — 82
(372) (350) (290)

— — 7,557
1,771 — _
(257) — 505
195 (15) 31
(58) — 1,419

— — 4,452

72 777 2,666

— (1,166) —

28 65 4,427
22,386 966 —
135,270 — —
13,249 — —
190,650 $ 219,249 $ 170,417
037 § 571 $ 5.89
481 § 579 $ 5.85
36,057,825 34,361,208 25,560,283
3,537,654 3,537,654 3,546,614
39,595,479 37,898,862 29,106,897




NOI, Cash NOI and Same-Store Cash NOI

Net operating income is a non-GAAP financial measure calculated as net (loss) income, the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, excluding equity in the earnings of our unconsolidated
real estate joint ventures, general and administrative expenses, interest expense, depreciation and amortization, impairment of
real estate, gains or losses on early extinguishment of debt, gains or losses on sales of real estate, investment income or loss and
termination income. Net operating income on a cash basis (“Cash NOI”) is net operating income adjusted to exclude the effect
of straight-line rent and amortization of acquired above- and below-market lease intangibles adjustments required by GAAP.
Net operating income on a cash basis for our Same-Store portfolio (“Same-Store Cash NOI”) is Cash NOI for properties held
for the entirety of all periods presented. We believe that NOI, Cash NOI and Same-Store Cash NOI are helpful to investors as
additional measures of operating performance because we believe they help both investors and management to understand the
core operations of our properties excluding corporate and financing-related costs and non-cash depreciation and amortization.
NOI, Cash NOI and Same-Store Cash NOI are unlevered operating performance metrics of our properties and allow for a useful
comparison of the operating performance of individual assets or groups of assets. These measures thereby provide an operating
perspective not immediately apparent from GAAP income from operations or net income. In addition, NOI, Cash NOI and
Same-Store Cash NOI are considered by many in the real estate industry to be useful starting points for determining the value
of a real estate asset or group of assets.

Our calculation of each of NOI, Cash NOI and Same-Store Cash NOI is presented in the following table for the year ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Reconciliation of Net Income to Total NOI
Net (loss) income (441,382) $ 11,570 § (5,774)
General and administrative expenses 39,893 40,479 38,633
Corporate operating expenses to affiliates 1,349 2,520 2,500
Impairment provision, real estate 127,577 4,242 23,472
Impairment provision, goodwill 135,270 — —
Depreciation and amortization 190,745 209,638 161,056
Interest expense 84,816 85,087 79,646
Debt breakage costs 13,249 — —
Other loss (income), net 45 (1,521) (3,228)
Loss (income) from investment in unconsolidated
entities 9,993 (8) 6,523
Loss (gain) from disposition of assets 139,280 326 (4,083)
Transaction expense 22,386 966 —
Total NOI 323,221 353,299 $ 298,745

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2020
Cash NOI Adjustments
Industrial:
Industrial NOI 53,477 $ 52,125 $ 59,837
Straight-line rents (1,018) (1,700) (1,684)
Amortization of acquired lease intangibles (369) (345) (297)
Deferred termination income (39) — —
Industrial cash NOI 52,051 50,080 57,856
Office:
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Office NOI

Straight-line rents

Amortization of acquired lease intangibles
Deferred termination income

Deferred ground lease

Other intangible amortization

Inducement amortization

Financed termination fee

Office Cash NOI

Other NOI

Straight-line rents

Amortization of acquired lease intangibles
Deferred termination income

Deferred ground lease

Other intangible amortization

Inducement amortization

Other Cash NOI

Total Cash NOI

Same Store Cash NOI Adjustments
Industrial:
Industrial cash NOI

Cash NOI for recently acquired properties

Cash net operating (income) loss for recently disposed

properties

Industrial Same Store cash NOI

Office:
Office cash NOI

Cash NOI for recently acquired properties

Cash net operating (income) loss for recently disposed

properties

Office Same Store cash NOI

Other:
Other cash NOI

Cash NOI for recently acquired properties

Cash net operating (income) loss for recently disposed

properties

Other Same Store cash NOI

Cash NOI from the operating partnership
Total Same Store cash NOI

230,967 260,255 198,113
(12,207) (12,171) (22,618)
(1,346) (231) (1,515)
— — (1)
1,945 2,066 2,067
1,495 1252 _
537 278 —
— — 7,557
221,391 251,449 183,603
38,777 40,919 40,795
634 313 (1,384)
- (749) (480)
(2,779) 2,779 —
5 (3) —
(489) = =
36,148 43,259 38,931
309,590 § 344,788 $ 280,390
52,051 $ 50,080 $ 57,856
(3,311) (4,545) (18,311)
(©) 272 —
48,734 45,807 39,545
221,391 251,449 183,603
(50,369) (55,756) (49,019)
(93,290) 159 (4,192)
77,732 195,852 130,392
36,148 43259 38,931
(2,364) (1,751) (9,796)
33,784 41,508 29,135
32 30 20
160,282 $ 283,197 § 199,092
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Property rental income is our primary source of operating cash flow and is dependent on a number of factors including
occupancy levels and rental rates, as well as the ability and willingness of our tenants’ to pay rent. Our assets provide a
relatively consistent level of cash flow that enables us to pay operating expenses, distributions, including preferred equity
distribution, redemptions, and for the payment of debt service on our outstanding indebtedness, including repayment of our
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, and property secured mortgage loans. Generally, we anticipate that cash
needs will be met from funds from operations and our Credit Facility. We anticipate that cash flows from continuing operations
and proceeds from financings, together with existing cash balances, will be adequate to fund our business operations, debt
amortization, capital expenditures, distributions and other requirements over the next 12 months and beyond.

Financing Activities
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, we, through our Operating Partnership as the borrower,
have been provided with a $1.3 billion credit facility consisting of the Revolving Credit Facility maturing in September 2023
with (subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions) a series of three-month extension options, the $400M 5-Year
Term Loan 2025, and the $150M 7-Year Term Loan. The credit facility also provides the option, subject to obtaining
additional commitments from lenders and certain other customary conditions, to increase the commitments under the Revolving
Credit Facility, increase the existing term loans and/or incur new term loans by up to an additional $1.0 billion in the aggregate.
As of December 31, 2022, the remaining capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $202.9 million.

Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

On April 28, 2022, we, through our Operating Partnership, entered into the Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of April 28, 2022, which amended our maturity extension on the Revolving Credit
Facility from a one-year extension option (from June 2022 to June 2023) to a series of four three-month extension options (to
September 28, 2022, December 28, 2022, March 28, 2023 and June 28, 2023, respectively). On May 24, 2022, we exercised the
first three-month extension option on the Revolving Credit Facility, which extended the maturity date from June 28, 2022 to
September 28, 2022.

Fifth Amendment to the Second Amendment and Restated Credit Agreement

On September 28, 2022, we, through our Operating Partnership, entered into the Fifth Amendment to the Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 28, 2022, which extended the maturity date on the Revolving
Credit Facility from September 28, 2022 to September 30, 2023 and amended the maturity date extension options to a series of
three three-month extensions (to December 30, 2023, March 30, 2024 and June 30, 2024, respectively). In addition, the contract
interest rate was amended from LIBOR to SOFR plus 0.10% per annum (collectively, the “Adjusted SOFR”).

Sixth Amendment to the Second Amendment and Restated Credit Agreement

On November 30, 2022, we, through our Operating Partnership , entered into the Sixth Amendment to the Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 30, 2022, which, among other things, amended the covenant
regarding Tangible Net Worth (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) such that the calculation
thereof takes into account certain distributions and/or dividends (defined as “Restricted Payments™) that are otherwise permitted
by the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

Based on the terms as of December 31, 2022, the interest rate for the credit facility varies based on our consolidated
leverage ratio and ranges (a) in the case of the Revolving Credit Facility, from Adjusted SOFR plus 1.30% to Adjusted SOFR
plus 2.20%, (b) in the case of each of the $400M 5-Year Term Loan 2025, and the $150M 7-Year Term Loan from Adjusted
SOFR plus 1.25% to Adjusted SOFR plus 2.15%. If our Operating Partnership obtains an investment grade rating of its senior
unsecured long term debt from Standard & Poor's Rating Services, Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or Fitch, Inc., the applicable
SOFR margin and base rate margin will vary based on such rating and range (i) in the case of the Revolving Credit Facility,
from Adjusted SOFR plus 0.825% to Adjusted SOFR plus 1.55%, (ii) in the case of the $400M 5-Year Term Loan 2025 and the
$150M 7-Year Term Loan, from Adjusted SOFR plus 0.90% to Adjusted SOFR plus 1.75%.
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See Part I "Item 1A. Risk Factors" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion about risks that the replacement
of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate may adversely affect interest rates on our current or future indebtedness and may
otherwise adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Seventh Amendment to the Second Amendment and Restated Credit Agreement

Prior to the Seventh Amendment, the final Revolving Credit Maturity Date (as defined in the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement) was June 30, 2024. On March 21, 2023, we, through our Operating Partnership, entered into the
Seventh Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 21, 2023 (the “Seventh
Amendment”), which, among other things, (i) permits our Operating Partnership to extend the Revolving Commitments (as
defined in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) of each Revolving Lender (as defined in the Second Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement) to January 31, 2026 (the “Subsequent Extension”); (ii) amended the covenant regarding
Tangible Net Worth (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) to reduce the baseline calculation for
the required Tangible Net Worth from $2,030,720,237 to $1,000,000,000; and (iii) added a covenant that prohibits any special
distributions from extraordinary non-recurring income.

The exercise of the Subsequent Extension by our Operating Partnership is conditioned upon, among other things, (i) prior
to June 30, 2024, the Company consummating a listing of its equity interests which results in such equity interests being traded
on the New York Stock Exchange and (ii) the payment of an extension fee on the effective date of the Subsequent Extension in
an amount equal to 20 basis points of the amount of Revolving Commitments being extended in connection with the
Subsequent Extension.

In connection with the Seventh Amendment, and as a condition to the effectiveness thereof, our Operating Partnership
prepaid the outstanding principal balance ($400,000,000) of the 2024 Term Loan (as defined in the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement). The prepayment was funded through a draw on the revolving credit facility portion of the Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

Derivative Instruments

As discussed in Note 6, Interest Rate Contracts, to the consolidated financial statements, we entered into interest rate
swap agreements to hedge the variable cash flows associated with certain existing or forecasted, LIBOR-based variable-rate
debt, including our Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI")
and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. Derivatives
were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with existing variable-rate debt and forecasted issuances of debt. The
ineffective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivatives is recognized directly in earnings.

The following table sets forth a summary of the interest rate swaps at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (dollars
in thousands):

Fair Value Current Notional Amount

December 31, December 31,

Effective  Maturity Interest
Derivative Instrument Date Date Strike Rate 2022 2021 2022 2021

Assets/(Liabilities)

Interest Rate Swap 3/10/2020  7/1/2025 0.83% $ 12,391 g 1,648 $ 150,000 $ 150,000
Interest Rate Swap 3/10/2020  7/1/2025 0.84% 8,244 1,059 100,000 100,000
Interest Rate Swap 3/10/2020  7/1/2025 0.86% 6,145 749 75,000 75,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020  7/1/2025 2.82% 4331 (7,342) 125,000 125,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020 7/1/2025 2.82% 3,444 (5,909) 100,000 100,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020 7/1/2025 2.83% 3,441 (5,899) 100,000 100,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020 7/1/2025 2.84% 3,408 (5,958) 100,000 100,000
Total $ 41,404 § (21,652) § 750,000 $ 750,000

(1) We record all derivative instruments on a gross basis in the consolidated balance sheets, and accordingly, there are no offsetting amounts that net assets
against liabilities. As of December 31, 2022, derivatives where in an asset or/liability position are included in the line item "Other assets or Interest rate swap
liability," respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value.
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Common Equity
Distribution Reinvestment Plan

On July 17, 2020, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 for the registration of up to $100 million in shares
pursuant to our DRP (the “DRP Offering”). The DRP Offering may be terminated at any time upon 10 days prior written

notice to shareholders. As of December 31, 2022, we had sold 3,946,642 shares for approximately $341.1 million in our DRP
Offering.

On October 1, 2021, the Company announced a suspension of our DRP, effective October 11, 2021, which remains in
effect as of the date of this filing.

Share Redemption Program

Prior to its suspension in February 2023 in anticipation of the proposed Listing, the Company had adopted the SRP that
enables shareholders to sell their shares to the Company in limited circumstances. The SRP was suspended on October 1, 2021
but resumed on a limited basis on August 5, 2022 (i.e., limited to redemptions in connection with a holder’s death, disability or
incompetence) with the cap on quarterly redemptions was tied to a dollar amount to be set by the Board and disclosed by the
Company. Quarterly redemptions were capped at $5 million (or some other quarterly or annual amount determined by the
Board and announced at least 10 business days before the applicable redemption date). In addition, during any calendar year,
with respect to each share class, the Company was permitted to redeem no more than 5% of the weighted-average number of
shares of such class outstanding during the prior calendar year.

Under the SRP, when the SRP is not suspended, the Company will redeem shares as of the last business day of each
quarter. The redemption price is equal to the most recently published NAV per share for the applicable class prior to quarter
end. Redemption requests must be received by 3:00 p.m. (Central time) one business day before on the last business day of the
applicable quarter. Redemption requests exceeding the quarterly cap are filled on a pro rata basis, except that if pro rata
redemption would result in a shareholder owning less than the minimum balance of $2,500 of the Company’s common shares,
then the Company would redeem all of such sharcholder’s shares to the extent that there are funds available. All unsatisfied
redemption requests were treated as a request for redemption at the redemption date unless withdrawn by the shareholder.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, we redeemed 149,730 shares.

Perpetual Convertible Preferred Shares

Upon consummation of the Predecessor Merger, we issued 5,000,000 Series A Preferred Shares to the Purchaser (defined
below). We assumed the purchase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") that our Predecessor entered into on August 8, 2018
with SHBNPP Global Professional Investment Type Private Real Estate Trust No. 13(H) (acting through Kookmin Bank as
trustee) (the "Purchaser") and Shinhan BNP Paribas Asset Management Corporation, as an asset manager of the Purchaser,
pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to purchase an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of Series A Cumulative Perpetual
Convertible Preferred Shares at a price of $25.00 per share (the "Series A Preferred Shares") in two tranches, each comprising
5,000,000 Series A Preferred Shares.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser has agreed to purchase an additional 5,000,000 Series A Preferred
Shares (the "Second Issuance") at a later date (the "Second Issuance Date") for an additional purchase price of $125 million
subject to approval by the Purchaser’s internal investment committee and the satisfaction of certain other conditions set forth in
the Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Purchaser is generally restricted from transferring the Series A Preferred Shares or the
economic interest in the Series A Preferred Shares for a period of five years from the applicable closing date. We do not expect
that additional Series A Preferred Shares will be issued.

Distributions for Perpetual Convertible Preferred Shares

Subject to the terms of the applicable articles supplementary, the holder of the Series A Preferred Shares are entitled to
receive distributions quarterly in arrears at a rate equal to one-fourth (1/4) of the applicable varying rate, as follows:

i.  6.55% from and after August 8, 2018 until August 8, 2023, or if the Second Issuance occurs, the five year
anniversary of the Second Issuance Date (the "Reset Date"), subject to paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below;

ii. 6.75% from and after the Reset Date, subject to paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below;
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iii. if a listing of our common shares or the Series A Preferred Shares on a national securities exchange registered
under Section 6(a) of the Exchange Act, does not occur by August 1, 2020 (the "First Triggering Event"), 7.55%
from and after August 2, 2020 and 7.75% from and after the Reset Date, subject to paragraph (iv) below and
certain conditions as set forth in the articles supplementary; or

iv. if such a listing does not occur by August 1, 2021, 8.05% from and after August 2, 2021 until the Reset Date, and
8.25% from and after the Reset Date.

As of December 31, 2022, our annual distribution rate was 8.05% for the Series A Preferred Shares since no listing of
either our common shares or the Series A Preferred Shares occurred prior to August 1, 2021.

Liquidation Preference

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series A
Preferred Shares will be entitled to be paid out of our assets legally available for distribution to the shareholders, after payment
of or provision for our debts and other liabilities, liquidating distributions, in cash or property at its fair market value as
determined by the Board, in the amount, for each outstanding Series A Preferred Share equal to $25.00 per Series A Preferred
Share (the "Liquidation Preference"), plus an amount equal to any accumulated and unpaid distributions to the date of payment,
before any distribution or payment is made to holders of common shares or any other class or series of equity securities ranking
junior to the Series A Preferred Shares but subject to the preferential rights of holders of any class or series of equity securities
ranking senior to the Series A Preferred Shares. After payment of the full amount of the Liquidation Preference to which they
are entitled, plus an amount equal to any accumulated and unpaid distributions to the date of payment, the holders of Series A
Preferred Shares will have no right or claim to any of our remaining assets.

Company Redemption Rights

The Series A Preferred Shares may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, at our option, at a per share
redemption price in cash equal to $25.00 per Series A Preferred Share (the "Redemption Price"), plus any accumulated and
unpaid distributions on the Series A Preferred Shares up to the redemption date, plus, a redemption fee of 1.5% of the
Redemption Price in the case of a redemption that occurs on or after the date of the First Triggering Event, but before August 8,
2023.

Holder Redemption Rights

In the event we fail to effect a listing of common shares or Series A Preferred Shares by August 1, 2023, the holder of any
Series A Preferred Shares has the option to request a redemption of such shares on or on any date following August 1, 2023, at
the Redemption Price, plus any accumulated and unpaid distributions up to the redemption date (the "Redemption Right");
provided, however, that no holder of the Series A Preferred Shares shall have a Redemption Right if such a listing occurs prior
to or on August 1, 2023.

Conversion Rights

Subject to our redemption rights and certain conditions set forth in the articles supplementary, a holder of the Series A
Preferred Shares, at his or her option, will have the right to convert such holder's Series A Preferred Shares into common shares
any time after the earlier of (i) August 8, 2023, or if the Second Issuance occurs, five years from the Second Issuance Date or
(i1) a Change of Control (as defined in the articles supplementary) at a per share conversion rate equal to the Liquidation
Preference divided by the then Common Shares Fair Market Value (as defined in the articles supplementary).

Other Potential Future Sources of Capital

Other potential future sources of capital include proceeds from potential private or public offerings of our shares or OP
Units, proceeds from secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders, including debt assumed in a real estate
acquisition transaction, proceeds from the sale of properties and undistributed funds from operations, and entering into joint
venture arrangements to acquire or develop facilities. If necessary, we may use financings or other sources of capital in the
event of unforeseen significant capital expenditures. To the extent we are not able to secure additional financing in the form of a
credit facility or other third party source of liquidity, we will be heavily dependent upon our current financing and income from
operations.
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Liquidity Requirements
Our principal liquidity needs for the next 12 months and beyond are to fund:
* normal recurring expenses;

* debt service and principal repayment obligations; including any maturing debt that we may be unable to refinance on
attractive terms or at all;

« satisfaction of the Redemption Right held by the holder of the Series A Preferred Shares, in the event that a listing has
not occurred prior to or August 1, 2023;

« capital expenditures, including tenant improvements and leasing costs;

 redemptions;

« distributions to shareholders, including preferred equity distribution and distributions to holders of OP Units;
* possible acquisitions of properties.

Our long-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to acquire additional properties and repay
indebtedness. We expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirements through various sources of capital, including proceeds
from secured or unsecured financings from banks or other lenders, proceeds from the sale of properties and undistributed funds
from operations, and entering into joint venture arrangements to acquire or develop facilities. If necessary, we may use
financings or other sources of capital in the event of unforeseen significant capital expenditures. To the extent we are not able to
secure additional financing in the form of a credit facility, securitization vehicle or other third party source of liquidity, we will
be heavily dependent upon our current financing and income from operations. The success of our business strategy will depend,
to a significant degree, on our ability to access these various capital sources.

To qualify as a REIT, we must meet a number of organizational and operational requirements on a continuing basis,
including the requirement that we annually distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to
the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gain, to our shareholders. As a result of this requirement, we cannot rely
on retained earnings to fund our business needs to the same extent as other entities that are not REITs. If we do not have
sufficient funds available to us from our operations to fund our business needs, we will need to find alternative ways to fund
those needs. Such alternatives may include, among other things, divesting ourselves of properties (whether or not the sales price
is optimal or otherwise meets our strategic long-term objectives), incurring additional indebtedness or issuing equity securities
in public or private transactions, the availability and attractiveness of the terms of which cannot be assured.

Cash Requirements

The Company’s material cash requirements as of as of December 31, 2022 include the following contractual obligations
(in thousands):

Payments Due During the Years Ending December 31,

2023 Thereafter Total
Outstanding debt obligations ) $ 43,101  $ 1,446,702 $ 1,489,803
Interest on outstanding debt obligations 77,015 169,682 246,697
Ground lease obligations 2,300 262,890 265,190
Total® $ 122,416 $ 1,879,274 $ 2,001,690

(1)  Amounts only include principal payments. The payments on our mortgage debt do not include the premium/discount or debt financing costs.

(2) Projected interest payments are based on the outstanding principal amounts at December 31, 2022. Projected interest payments on the Credit Facility and
Term Loan are based on the contractual interest rates in effect at December 31, 2022.

(3) Does not include amounts required to satisfy the Redemption Right held by the holder of Series A Preferred Shares.
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Capital Expenditures and Tenant Improvement Commitments

As of December 31, 2022, we had aggregate remaining contractual commitments for repositioning, capital expenditure
projects, leasing commitments and tenant improvements of approximately $29.7 million.

Summary of Cash Flows

We expect to meet our short-term operating liquidity requirements with operating cash flows generated from our
properties and draws from our KeyBank loans.

Our cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash activity increased by approximately $69.0 million during the year ended
December 31, 2022 compared to the same period a year ago and were primarily used in or provided by the following (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 Change
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 152,676 $ 204,979 $ (52,303)
Net cash used in investing activities $ 1,098,343  § (62,810) $ 1,161,153
Net cash used in financing activities $ (1,199,215) $ (159,335) $ (1,039,880)

Operating Activities. Cash flows provided by operating activities are primarily dependent on the occupancy level, the
rental rates of our leases, the collectability of rent and recovery of operating expenses from our tenants, and the timing of
acquisitions. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we generated $152.7 million in cash from operating activities
compared to $205.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease in cash from operating activities for the year
ended December 31, 2022 was primarily due to the property dispositions that occurred in the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021.

Investing Activities. Cash provided by investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of
the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 Increase (decrease)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities:

Distributions of capital from investment in unconsolidated entities $ — 3 42 3 (42)

Proceeds from disposition of properties 1,120,803 22,408 1,098,395

Restricted reserves — 1,078 (1,078)

Sale of investment in unconsolidated entities 31,000 — 31,000
Total sources of cash provided by investing activities $ 1,151,803  $ 23,528 $ 1,097,275
Uses of cash for investing activities:

Cash acquired in connection with the Company Merger, net of acquisition

costs $ — 3 (36,746) $ 36,746

Restricted reserves (266) — (266)

Payments for construction in progress (17,494) (49,260) 31,766

Purchase of investment in unconsolidated entities (34,558) — (34,558)

Purchase of investments (1,142) (332) (810)
Total sources of cash (used in) provided by investing activities $ (53,460) $ (86,338) $ 32,878
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities $ 1,098,343  § (62,810) $ 1,130,153
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Financing Activities. Cash used in financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 Increase (decrease)
Sources of cash provided by financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings - Term Loan $ — 400,000 $ (400,000)
Total sources of cash provided by financing activities $ — 3 400,000 $ (400,000)
Uses of cash (used in) provided by financing activities:

Principal payoff of indebtedness - CCIT II Credit Facility $ — 3 (415,500) $ 415,500

Principal payoff of secured indebtedness - Mortgage Debt (469,777) (1,292) (468,485)

Principal pay down of indebtedness - Revolving Credit Facility (373,500) — (373,500)

Principal payoff of indebtedness - Term Loan (200,000) — (200,000)

Principal amortization payments on secured indebtedness (8,736) (9,786) 1,050

Repurchase of common shares to satisfy employee tax withholding

requirements (3,189) (2,874) (315)

Repurchase of common shares (5,617) (25,517) 19,900

Distributions to common shareholders (114,110) (82,976) (31,134)

Dividends paid on preferred units subject to redemption (10,063) (9,542) (521)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests (11,136) (11,134) 2)

Deferred financing costs (2,724) (567) (2,157)

Offering costs (43) 47) 4

Financing lease payment (320) (100) (220)
Total sources of cash (used in) provided by financing activities $ (1,199,215) $ (559,335) $ (639,880)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities $ (1,199,215) $ (159,335) $ (1,039,880)

Distributions will be paid to our shareholders as of the record date selected by our Board. We expect to pay distributions
regularly unless our results of operations, our general financial condition, general economic conditions, or other factors inhibit
us from doing so. Distributions will be authorized at the discretion of our Board, which will be directed, in substantial part, by
its obligation to cause us to comply with the REIT requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The funds
we receive from operations that are available for distribution may be affected by a number of factors, including the following:

e our operating and interest expenses;

» the amount of distributions or dividends received by us from our indirect real estate investments;

* our ability to keep our properties occupied;

» our ability to maintain or increase rental rates;

* tenant improvements, capital expenditures and reserves for such expenditures;

e the issuance of additional shares; and

» financings, refinancings, and debt repayment.
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Distributions may be funded with operating cash flow from our properties To the extent that we do not have taxable
income, distributions paid will be considered a return of capital to shareholders. The following table shows distributions paid,
and cash flow provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (dollars in
thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Distributions paid in cash — noncontrolling interests $ 11,136 $ 11,134
Distributions paid in cash — common shareholders 114,110 82,976
Distributions paid in cash — preferred shareholders 10,063 9,542
Distributions of DRP — 22,886
Total distributions $ 135,309 @ $ 126,538
Source of distributions
Paid from cash flows provided by operations $ 135,309 100 % $ 103,652 82 %
Offering proceeds from issuance of common shares pursuant to the DRP — — 22,886 18
Total sources $ 135309 @ 100 % $ 126,538 100 %
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 152,676 $ 204,979

(1) Distributions are paid on a monthly basis in arrears. Distributions for all record dates of a given month are paid on or about the first business day of the
following month. Total cash distributions declared but not paid as of December 31, 2022 were $10.6 million for common shareholders and
noncontrolling interests.

(2) Percentages were calculated by dividing the respective source amount by the total sources of distributions.

(3) Allocation of total sources are calculated on a quarterly basis.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, we paid and declared cash distributions of approximately $114.1 million to
common shareholders including shares issued pursuant to the DRP, and approximately $11.1 million to the partners of our
Operating Partnership, as compared to FFO attributable to common shareholders and partners and AFFO available to common
shareholders and partners for the year ended December 31, 2022 of approximately $14.7 million and $190.7 million,
respectively. The payment of distributions from sources other than FFO or AFFO may reduce the amount of proceeds available
for investment and operations or cause us to incur additional interest expense as a result of borrowed funds. From our inception
through December 31, 2022, we paid approximately $1.1 billion of cumulative distributions (excluding preferred distributions),
including approximately $341.2 million reinvested through our DRP, as compared to net cash provided by operating activities
of approximately $766.1 million.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risks include risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices,
equity prices and other market changes that affect market-sensitive instruments. We expect that the primary market risk to
which we will be exposed is interest rate risk, including the risk of changes in the underlying rates on our variable rate debt.
Our current indebtedness consists of the KeyBank loans and other loans and property secured mortgages as described in Note 5,
Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These instruments were not
entered into for trading purposes.

Our interest rate risk management objectives will be to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows
and to lower overall borrowing costs. To achieve our objectives, we may borrow at fixed rates or variable rates. We may also
utilize a variety of financial instruments, including interest rate swap agreements, caps, floors, and other interest rate exchange
contracts. We will not enter into these financial instruments for speculative purposes. The use of these types of instruments to
hedge a portion of our exposure to changes in interest rates carries additional risks, such as counterparty credit risk and the legal
enforceability of hedging contracts.

As of December 31, 2022, our debt consisted of approximately $1.3 billion in fixed rate debt (including the interest rate
swaps) and approximately $200.0 million in variable rate debt (excluding unamortized deferred financing cost and discounts,
net, of approximately $4.4 million). As of December 31, 2021, our debt consisted of approximately $1.8 billion in fixed rate
debt (including the effect of interest rate swaps) and approximately $773.5 million in variable rate debt (excluding unamortized
deferred financing cost and discounts, net, of approximately $9.1 million). Changes in interest rates have different impacts on
the fixed and variable rate debt. A change in interest rates on fixed rate debt impacts its fair value but has no effect on interest
incurred or cash flows. A change in interest rates on variable rate debt could affect the interest incurred and cash flows and its
fair value.
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Our future earnings and fair values relating to variable rate financial instruments are primarily dependent upon prevalent
market rates of interest, such as LIBOR. However, our interest rate swap agreements are intended to reduce the effects of
interest rate changes. The effect of an increase of 100 basis points in interest rates, assuming a LIBOR floor of 0%, on our
variable-rate debt, including our KeyBank loans, after considering the effect of our interest rate swap agreements, would
decrease our future earnings and cash flows by approximately $2.0 million annually.

Interest rate risk amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on our financial
instruments. These analyses do not consider the effect of any change in overall economic activity that could occur. Further, in
the event of a change of that magnitude, we may take actions to further mitigate our exposure to the change. However, due to
the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible effects, these analyses assume no changes in our
financial structure.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and supplementary data filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are set forth beginning
on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, management, with the participation of our
principal executive and principal financial officers, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon, and as of the date of the
evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported as and
when required. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for us. Our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, evaluated, as of December 31, 2022, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
using the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022.

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended
December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Employment Agreements With Named Executive Officers

On March 23, 2023, the Company entered into amended and restated employment agreements with each of Michael J.
Escalante, Javier F. Bitar and Nina Momtazee Sitzer (each, an “Executive”), effective as of the date of the Listing (each, an
“Employment Agreement,” and together, the “Employment Agreements”). The Employment Agreements amend and restate the

employment agreements that the Company previously entered into with each Executive. Pursuant to these Employment
Agreements, Michael J. Escalante continues in his roles as Chief Executive Officer and President, Mr. Javier F. Bitar continues
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in his role as Chief Financial Officer and Ms. Nina Momtazee Sitzer is appointed Chief Legal and Administrative Officer,
Executive Vice President — Operations.

The Employment Agreements have an initial term of five years and automatically renew for additional one year

periods thereafter, unless either the Company or the Executive provide advance written notice of their respective intents not to
renew or unless sooner terminated in accordance with the terms thereof (the “Term”).

Employment Agreement with Mr. Escalante

Pursuant to the terms of the Employment Agreement with Mr. Escalante (the “Escalante Employment Agreement”),

Mr. Escalante is entitled to, among other things:

Beginning January 1, 2023, an annual base salary of $925,000, subject to annual review for increase (but not decrease)
by the Board or a committee thereof;

Beginning January 1, 2023, an annual cash bonus opportunity (“Incentive Bonus”) with threshold, target and
maximum award opportunities of 175%, 250% and 325%, respectively, of the base salary actually paid for such year,
with the threshold, target and maximum Incentive Bonus levels for calendar years following 2023 established by the
compensation committee of the Board in its sole discretion, provided the goals and objectives applicable to the
payment of the Incentive Bonus for the executive team shall be established in good faith consultation with Mr.
Escalante, and with the entitlement to and payment of an Incentive Bonus subject to the reasonable and good faith
approval of the compensation committee of the Board,

Equity awards during the Term, if any, subject to the sole discretion of the compensation Committee of the Board,
Payments and benefits upon termination of employment as follows:

o Death or Disability (as defined in the Escalante Employment Agreement): (i) base salary earned but not paid
as of the termination date, any Incentive Bonus earned by Mr. Escalante for the prior calendar year but not yet
paid, reimbursement for unpaid expenses to which Mr. Escalante is entitled to reimbursement, and any other
vested compensation or benefits to which Mr. Escalante is entitled under any benefits plans (collectively, the
“Accrued Obligations™); (ii) the Incentive Bonus for the calendar year in which the termination occurs, pro-
rated for the amount of time Mr. Escalante was employed during such calendar year, assuming target
performance; (iii) a lump sum payment equal to 24 months of Healthcare Benefits (as defined in the Escalante
Employment Agreement); and (iv) the automatic vesting of (1) all outstanding equity awards held by Mr.
Escalante as of immediately prior to his termination, assuming target performance for any performance period
that has not yet ended (the “Equity Award Vesting”), and (2) Mr. Escalante's account under the Company’s
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, in full.

o Without Cause or with Good Reason (as such terms are defined in the Escalante Employment Agreement): (i)
the Accrued Obligations; (ii) a pro-rated Incentive Bonus for the calendar year in which such termination
occurs (assuming at least target individual performance and actual Company performance for the entire
performance period), pro-rated for the amount of time Mr. Escalante was employed during such calendar
year; (iii) a lump sum payment equal to three (3) times the sum of (A) his base salary then in effect plus (B)
the average of the target Incentive Bonus for the prior two calendar years preceding the year in which such
termination; (iv) a lump sum payment equal to 24 months of Healthcare Benefits (as defined in the Escalante
Employment Agreement); (v) the Equity Award Vesting; and (vi) the vesting in full of Mr. Escalante's
account under the Company’s Executive Deferred Compensation Plan

o Termination by the Company without Cause or by Mr. Escalante with Good Reason during the Term and
within six months preceding or 12 months following a Change in Control (as defined in the Escalante
Employment Agreement) of the Company: all of the benefits and payments described in the paragraph
“Without Cause or with Good Reason” above, except that (i) the Healthcare Benefits will be calculated to
cover 36 months, and (ii) the pro-rated Incentive Bonus shall be calculated using the greater of actual
Company performance or target Company performance, should such an applicable target level have been
established as of the termination

o Termination following a Liquidation Event (as defined in the Escalante Employment Agreement to include
the earlier of the Board’s approval of a plan of liquidation or dissolution of the Company, or the total
combined book value of the Company, along with the Company’s management and operating companies,
falling below $250 million dollars) either: (i) due to (1) expiration of the Term (other than due Mr.
Escalante’s election not to renew), or (2) because Mr. Escalante is terminated by the Company without Cause
(as defined in the Escalante Employment Agreement), (ii) by Mr. Escalante for Good Reason within six
months preceding or 12 months following a Change in Control, or (iii) due to Good Reason, other than a Duty
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Diminution (as defined in the Escalante Employment Agreement), all the benefits and payments described in
the paragraph “Termination by the Company without Cause or by Mr. Escalante with Good Reason during the
Term and within six months preceding or 12 months following a Change in Control” with sufficient assets to
pay such amounts promptly reserved by the Company upon such Liquidation Event.

The Escalante Employment Agreement also provides that Mr. Escalante will be subject to customary non-compete,
non-solicitation, non-disparagement and other restrictive covenants.

Employment Agreements With Mr. Bitar and Ms. Sitzer

The Employment Agreements for Javier F. Bitar and Nina Momtazee Sitzer are substantially similar to the material
terms of the Escalante Employment Agreement except as noted below:

Javier F. Bitar. Mr. Bitar serves as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. His initial base salary is $525,000 and his
Incentive Bonus threshold, target and maximum award opportunities are 100%, 150%, and 200%, respectively. Upon
termination for Death or Disability, the lump sum payment will be equal to 18 months of Healthcare Benefits. Upon termination
Without Cause or with Good Reason, Mr. Bitar will receive a lump sum payment equal to 1.5 times his base salary plus
Incentive Bonus (as described above) and a lump sum payment equal to 18 months of Healthcare Benefits. Upon termination
six months preceding or 12 months following a Change in Control, Mr. Bitar will receive a lump sum payment equal to 2.5
times his base salary plus Incentive Bonus and a lump sum payment equal to 30 months of Healthcare Benefits.

Nina Momtazee Sitzer. Ms. Sitzer serves as the Company’s Chief Legal and Administrative Officer, Executive Vice
President — Operations. Her initial base salary is $500,000 and her Incentive Bonus threshold, target and maximum award
opportunities are 100%, 150%, and 200%, respectively. Upon termination for Death or Disability, the lump sum payment will
be equal to 18 months of Healthcare Benefits. Upon termination Without Cause or with Good Reason, Ms. Sitzer will receive a
lump sum payment equal to 1.5 times her base salary plus Incentive Bonus (as described above) and a lump sum payment equal
to 18 months of Healthcare Benefits. Upon termination six months preceding or 12 months following a Change in Control, Ms.
Sitzer will receive a lump sum payment equal to 2.5 times her base salary plus Incentive Bonus and a lump sum payment equal
to 30 months of Healthcare Benefits.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

60



PART III
We expect to file a definitive proxy statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “2023 Proxy Statement™)
with the SEC, pursuant to Regulation 14A, not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year. Accordingly, certain
information required by Part III has been omitted under General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K and is incorporated by reference
to the 2023 Proxy Statement. Only those sections of the 2023 Proxy Statement that specifically address the items required to be
set forth herein are incorporated by reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2023 Proxy Statement to be filed within 120
days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2023 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2023 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2023 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the 2023 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC
within 120 days after the end of the year ended December 31, 2022.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) List of Documents Filed.
1. The list of the financial statements contained herein is set forth on page F-1 hereof.

2. Schedule III — Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation is set forth beginning on page S-1 hereof. All other
schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not required under the related
instructions or are not applicable and therefore have been omitted.

3. The Exhibits filed in response to Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed on the Exhibit Index below.
(b) See (a) 3 above.
(c) See (a) 2 above.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 (and are
numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

Exhibit No. Description
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of Peakstone Realty Trust (formerly known as Griffin Realty Trust, Inc.)
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Peakstone Realty Trust (formerly known as Griffin Realty
Trust, Inc.) (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive (loss) income, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the
related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Description of the Matter

How we Addressed the Matter in
Our Audit

Impairment of real estate

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s carrying value of real estate was $2.9 billion.
As discussed in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company assesses
the carrying values of its real estate assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts of real estate assets may not be fully recoverable.
When impairment indicators are identified, recoverability of real estate assets is
measured by comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows. When the carrying amount of the real estate assets are not
recoverable based on the undiscounted cash flows, management calculates an
impairment charge as the amount the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of
the real estate property as of the measurement date. There were $127.6 million of
impairment charges related to real estate recognized during the year ended December 31,
2022.

Auditing the Company’s evaluation of whether its real estate assets are impaired was
complex and involved a high degree of subjectivity in management’s assumptions in
estimating future cash flows as estimates and judgments underlying the determination of
recoverability and fair value were based on assumptions about future market and
economic conditions. Where indicators of impairment exist, the estimation required in
the undiscounted future cash flows includes future market rental income amounts
subsequent to the expiration of current lease agreements, property operating expenses,
discount and capitalization rates, the number of months it takes to re-lease the property,
and the number of years the property is held for investment.

Our testing of the Company’s impairment assessment included, among other procedures,
evaluating the Company’s properties for impairment indicators based on indicators under
ASC 360. For real estate properties with identified indicators of impairment, we
performed audit procedures, that included, among others, testing the key assumptions
used by the Company in its projection of the undiscounted future cash flows and
estimated fair value of real estate assets that were impaired. With the assistance of our
valuation specialists, we compared the key assumptions used by management to
observable industry information and appraisals to assess whether the assumptions were
market supported. As part of our evaluation, we also performed sensitivity analyses on
key assumptions, to assess whether changes to certain assumptions would result in a
materially different outcome and assessed the historical accuracy of management’s
estimates.

In addition, we performed procedures to evaluate the completeness and accuracy of the
data utilized in management’s impairment analysis. We also assess information and
events subsequent to the balance sheet date, if any, to corroborate certain of the key
assumptions used by management.
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Description of the Matter

How we Addressed the Matter in
Our Audit

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Impairment of goodwill

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s goodwill balance was $94.7 million. As
discussed in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is tested for
impairment on an annual basis for each reporting unit, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the asset is more likely than not impaired. The
Company’s goodwill was initially assigned to a single reporting unit as of the acquisition
date of the self-administration transaction. In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company
realigned its operating segments, which resulted in a change in the composition of its
reporting units; therefore, the Company reassigned goodwill to the reporting units using
a relative fair value allocation. The Company estimated the relative fair value using a
discounted cash flow model. Based on the results of the quantitative impairment test as
of December 31, 2022, the Company concluded the carrying value of the Office
reporting unit exceeded its estimated fair value and recorded a goodwill impairment
charge of $135.3 million, which represents the entire amount of goodwill allocated to the
Office segment.

Auditing the Company’s relative fair value allocation was complex and highly
judgmental due to the significant estimates required to determine the relative fair value
of the reporting units. These estimates are affected by assumptions including market
rent, terminal capitalization rates and discount rates, which are affected by expectations
about future market or economic conditions.

Our testing of the relative fair value of the reporting units included, among other
procedures, assessing the valuation methodologies used by the Company and comparing
the significant assumptions to current industry and economic trends and market data. We
involved our valuation specialists to assist us in performing our audit procedures to test
the estimated relative fair values of the Company’s reporting units. We performed
sensitivity analyses on certain of the Company’s significant assumptions to evaluate the
changes in the fair value of the reporting units that would result from changes in the
assumptions.

In addition, we performed procedures to evaluate the completeness and accuracy of the
data utilized in management’s relative fair value allocation and impairment analysis.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008.

Los Angeles, California

March 24, 2023
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PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except units and share amounts)

December 31,

2022 2021
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 233,180 $ 168,618
Restricted cash 4,764 17,522
Real estate:
Land 327,408 584,291
Building and improvements 2,631,965 4,104,782
Tenant origination and absorption cost 535,889 876,324
Construction in progress 1,994 4,763
Total real estate 3,497,256 5,570,160
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (644,639) (993,323)
Total real estate, net 2,852,617 4,576,837
Investments in unconsolidated entities 178,647 —
Intangible assets, net 33,861 43,100
Deferred rent receivable 79,572 108,896
Deferred leasing costs, net 26,507 44,505
Goodwill 94,678 229,948
Due from affiliates — 271
Right of use assets 35,453 39,482
Interest rate swap asset 41,404 3,456
Other assets 31,877 40,382
Real estate assets and other assets held for sale, net 20,816 —
Total assets $ 3,633,376 $ 5,273,017
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Debt, net $ 1,485,402 $ 2,532,377
Restricted reserves 627 8,644
Interest rate swap liability — 25,108
Distributions payable 12,402 12,396
Due to affiliates 1,458 2,418
Intangible liabilities, net 20,658 30,626
Lease liability 46,519 50,896
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 80,175 109,121
Total liabilities 1,647,241 2,771,586
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Perpetual convertible preferred shares 125,000 125,000
Noncontrolling interests subject to redemption; 556,099 and 556,099 units as of December 31, 2022 and
December 31, 2021, respectively 3,812 4,768
Shareholders’ equity:
Common shares, $0.001 par value; 800,000,000 shares authorized; 35,999,898 and 36,070,902 shares outstanding
in the aggregate as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 respectively" 36 36
Additional paid-in-capital 2,948,600 2,952,261
Cumulative distributions (1,036,678) (922,562)
Accumulated earnings (269,926) 141,983
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 40,636 (18,708)
Total shareholders’ equity 1,682,668 2,153,010
Noncontrolling interests 174,655 218,653
Total equity 1,857,323 2,371,663
Total liabilities and equity $ 3,633,376 $ 5,273,017

(1) See Note 9, Equity, for the number of shares outstanding of each class of common shares as of December 31, 2022.

See accompanying notes.



PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Revenue:
Rental income
Expenses:
Property operating expense
Property tax expense
Property management fees to non-affiliates
General and administrative expenses
Corporate operating expenses to affiliates
Impairment provision, real estate
Depreciation and amortization
Total expenses
Income before other income (expenses)
Other income (expenses):
Interest expense
Debt breakage costs
Other income, net
Net loss from investment in unconsolidated entities
(Loss) gain from disposition of assets
Impairment provision, goodwill
Transaction expenses
Net (loss) income
Distributions to redeemable preferred shareholders
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to controlling interest

Distributions to redeemable noncontrolling interests attributable to common
shareholders

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders per share, basic and diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

See accompanying notes.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
416,485 $ 459,872 $ 397,452
52,451 61,259 57,461
37,317 41,248 37,590
3,496 4,066 3,656
39,893 40,479 38,633
1,349 2,520 2,500
127,577 4,242 23,472
190,745 209,638 161,056
452,828 363,452 324,368
(36,343) 96,420 73,084
(84,816) (85,087) (79,646)
(13,249)

(45) 1,521 3,228
(9,993) 8 (6,523)
(139,280) (326) 4,083
(135,270) — —
(22,386) (966) —
(441,382) 11,570 (5,774)
(10,063) (9,698) (8,708)
39,714 (66) 1,732
(411,731) 1,806 (12,750)
(178) (177) (208)
(411,909) $ 1,629 § (12,958)
(11.41) $ 0.04 $ (0.52)
36,057,825 34,361,208 25,560,283




PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(in thousands)

Net (loss) income

Other comprehensive income:

Equity in other comprehensive (loss) income of unconsolidated joint venture

Change in fair value of swap agreements
Total comprehensive income
Distributions to redeemable preferred shareholders

Distributions to redeemable noncontrolling interests attributable to common
shareholders

Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to common shareholders

See accompanying notes.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
(441,382) $ 11,570 § (5,774)
1,880 — —
63,182 32,449 (29,704)
(376,320) 44,019 (35,478)
(10,063) (9,698) (8,708)
(178) (177) (208)
33,996 (3,222) 5,310
(352,565) $ 30,922 § (39,084)
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PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Operating Activities:
Net (loss) income $ (441,382) $ 11,570 § (5,774)
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation of building and building improvements 113,191 125,388 93,980
Amortization of leasing costs and intangibles, including ground leasehold interests and
leasing costs 79,049 85,502 67,076
Amortization of below market leases, net (2,205) (1,323) (2,292)
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt premium 5,724 3,593 2,607
Amortization of swap interest 126 126 126
Deferred rent (13,350) (8,718) (25,687)
Deferred rent, ground lease — — 2,065
Write-off reserves — (1,166) —
(Gain)/loss from sale of depreciable operating property 139,280 326 (4,083)
Gain on fair value of earn-out — (65) (2,657)
Loss (income) from investment in unconsolidated entities 10,979 (8) 2,071
Investment in unconsolidated entities valuation adjustment — — 4,453
Loss from investments 194 125 31
Impairment provision - real estate assets 127,577 4,242 23,472
Impairment provision - goodwill 135,270 — —
Share-based compensation 9,574 7,469 4,107
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Deferred leasing costs and other assets 1,002 (13,938) 4,383
Restricted reserves — (490) 27
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (11,664) (8,003) 4,203
Due to affiliates, net (689) 349 (3,570)
Net cash provided by operating activities 152,676 204,979 164,538
Investing Activities:
Cash acquired in connection with the CCIT II Merger, net of acquisition costs — (36,746) —
Acquisition of properties, net — — (16,584)
Proceeds from disposition of properties 1,120,803 22,408 51,692
Restricted reserves (266) 1,078 (1,530)
Real estate acquisition deposits — — 1,047
Payments for construction in progress (17,494) (49,260) (58,938)
Investment in unconsolidated joint venture — — (8,160)
Distributions of capital from investment in unconsolidated entities — 42 8,531
Sale of investment in unconsolidated entities 31,000 — —
Purchase of investment in unconsolidated entities (34,558) — —
Purchase of investments (1,142) (332) (1,029)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,098,343 (62,810) (24,971)

See accompanying notes.



Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Financing Activities:
Proceeds from borrowings - Revolver/KeyBank Loans — — 215,000
Proceeds from borrowings - Term Loan — 400,000 —
Principal payoff of indebtedness - CCIT II Credit Facility — (415,500) —
Principal payoff of secured indebtedness - Revolver Loan — — (53,000)
Principal payoff of secured indebtedness - Mortgage Debt (469,777) (1,292) —
Principal pay down of indebtedness - Revolving Credit Facility (373,500) — —
Principal payoff of indebtedness - Term Loan (200,000) —
Principal amortization payments on secured indebtedness (8,736) (9,786) (7,362)
Deferred financing costs (2,724) (567) (4,725)
Offering costs (43) 47) (594)
Repurchase of common shares (5,617) (25,517) (107,821)
Repurchase of noncontrolling interest — — (1,137)
Issuance of common shares, net of discounts and underwriting costs — — 4,698
Repurchase of common shares to satisfy employee tax withholding requirements (3,189) (2,874) (751)
Dividends paid on preferred units subject to redemption (10,063) (9,542) (8,396)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (11,136) (11,134) (13,290)
Distributions to common shareholders (114,110) (82,976) (72,143)
Financing lease payment (320) (100) —
Net cash used in financing activities (1,199,215) (159,335) (49,521)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 51,804 (17,166) 90,046
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of the period 186,140 203,306 113,260
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of the period $ 237,944 § 186,140 $ 203,306

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $ 75,122 $ 80,958 $ 80,155
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing transactions:

Distributions payable to common shareholders $ 9,678  $ 9,672 $ 6,864
Distributions payable to noncontrolling interests $ 946 $ 946 $ 943
Common shares issued pursuant to the distribution reinvestment plan $ — 3 22,886 § 24,497
Common share redemptions funded subsequent to period-end $ 4383 § — 3 5,345
Issuance of share dividends $ — S — 5,747
Mortgage debt assumed in conjunction with the acquisition of real estate assets plus a
premium $ — 3 — 18,884
Accrued for construction in progress $ 35§ 1,114 $ 472
Accrued tenant obligations $ 620 $ 10,123  § 30,011
Change in fair value swap agreement $ 63,182 $ 32,449 $ (29,704)
Decrease in shareholder servicing fee payable $ 92) $ — 3 (1,388)
Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities

$ 1,358  § — S —
Net assets acquired in CCIT Il Merger in exchange for common shares $ — 3 838,315 $ —
Capitalized transaction costs paid in prior period $ — S 2,170 § —

See accompanying notes.



PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted and excluding per share amounts)

1.  Organization

Peakstone Realty Trust (formerly known as Griffin Realty Trust, Griffin Realty Trust, Inc. and Griffin Capital Essential
Asset REIT, Inc.) (“PKST” or the “Company”) is an internally managed, publicly registered real estate investment trust
(“REIT”) that owns and operates a high-quality, newer-vintage portfolio of predominantly single-tenant industrial and office
properties. The Company’s fiscal year-end is December 31.

On December 14, 2018, the Company, Griffin Capital Essential Asset Operating Partnership II, L.P. (the “GCEAR II
Operating Partnership”), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Globe Merger Sub, LLC (“EA Merger Sub”), the entity
formerly known as Griffin Capital Essential Asset REIT, Inc. (“our Predecessor”), and PKST OP, L.P. (formerly known as
GRT OP, L.P. and Griffin Capital Essential Asset Operating Partnership, L.P.) (the “Operating Partnership”) entered into an
Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “EA Merger Agreement”). On April 30, 2019, pursuant to the EA Merger Agreement, (i)
our Predecessor merged with and into EA Merger Sub, with EA Merger Sub surviving as the Company’s direct, wholly-owned
subsidiary (the “EA Company Merger”) and (ii) the GCEAR II Operating Partnership merged with and into the Operating
Partnership (the “EA Partnership Merger” and, together with the EA Company Merger, the “Predecessor Mergers”), with the
Operating Partnership surviving the EA Partnership Merger. In addition, on April 30, 2019, following the Predecessor Mergers,
EA Merger Sub merged into the Company.

On March 1, 2021, the Company completed its acquisition of Cole Office & Industrial REIT (CCIT II), Inc. (“CCIT II”)
for approximately $1.3 billion, including transaction costs, in a stock-for-stock transaction (the “CCIT II Merger”). At the
effective time of the CCIT II Merger, each issued and outstanding share of CCIT II Class A common shares and each issued
and outstanding share of CCIT II Class T common shares were converted into the right to receive 0.155 Class E common
shares.

On July 1, 2021, the Company changed its name from Griffin Capital Essential Asset REIT, Inc. to Griffin Realty Trust,
Inc. and the Operating Partnership changed its name from Griffin Capital Essential Asset Operating Partnership, L.P. to GRT
OP, L.P.

On November 10, 2022, the Company completed an internal restructuring pursuant to which the Operating Partnership
became wholly owned by an operating company, GRT OP LLC (the “Operating Company”). On February 23, 2023, the
Company completed an additional restructuring to restore the Company’s operating structure to its condition prior to the
internal restructuring. The Operating Partnership owns, directly and indirectly, all of the properties that the Company has
acquired. As of December 31, 2022, (i) the Company indirectly owned approximately 91.0% of the outstanding limited liability
company units of the Operating Company ("OP Units"), (ii) the former sponsor and certain of its affiliates owned
approximately 7.8% of the OP Units, including approximately 2.4 million OP Units owned by the Company’s current Executive
Chairman and Chairman of the Company's Board of Trustees (the "Board"), Kevin A. Shields, a result of the contribution of
five properties to the Company and the internalization of management of GRT in December 2018 (the "Self-Administration
Transaction"), and (iii) the remaining approximately 1.2% of the OP Units are owned by unaffiliated third parties. The
Operating Partnership may conduct certain activities through one or more of the Company’s taxable REIT subsidiaries, which
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had issued 31,904,106 common shares (approximately $2.8 billion) of common
shares since November 9, 2009 in various private offerings, public offerings, distribution reinvestment plan ("DRP") offerings
and mergers (includes our Predecessor’s offerings and our Predecessor’s merger with Signature Office REIT, Inc. and the CCIT
I Merger). There were 35,999,898 common shares outstanding as of December 31, 2022, including shares issued pursuant to
the DRP, less shares redeemed pursuant to the share redemption program ("SRP") and a self-tender offer. As of December 31,
2022 and 2021, the Company had issued approximately $341.1 million in shares pursuant to the DRP.

On March 10, 2023, the Company completed a one-for-nine reverse share split with respect to each class of its common
shares, converting every nine shares of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares of each class into one share of
such class, with no changes to the $0.001 par value per share. The reverse share split did not affect the number of the
Company’s authorized common shares. The Company has retrospectively adjusted, for all periods presented, all share and per
share amounts to reflect the impact of the reverse share split. Also on March 10, 2023, the Company changed its name from
Griffin Realty Trust to Peakstone Realty Trust and the Operating Partnership changed its name from GRT OP, L.P. to PKST
OP, L.P.
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PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted and excluding per share amounts)

2.  Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared by management on the accrual basis of
accounting and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) as contained in the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), and in conjunction with rules
and regulations of the SEC. The consolidated financial statements include accounts and related adjustments, which are, in the
opinion of management, of a normal recurring nature and necessary for a fair presentation of the Company's financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include all accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, including
the Operating Partnership. Intercompany transactions are not shown on the consolidated statements. However, each property
owning entity is a wholly-owned subsidiary which is a special purpose entity ("SPE"), whose assets and credit are not available
to satisfy the debts or obligations of any other entity, except to the extent required with respect to any co-borrower or guarantor
under the same credit facility.

Principles of Consolidation

The Company's financial statements, and the financial statements of the Operating Partnership, including its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, are consolidated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The portion of these entities not
wholly-owned by the Company is presented as noncontrolling interests. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Consolidation Considerations

Current accounting guidance provides a framework for identifying a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and determining
when a company should include the assets, liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and results of activities of a VIE in its
consolidated financial statements. In general, a VIE is an entity or other legal structure used to conduct activities or hold assets
that either (1) has an insufficient amount of equity to carry out its principal activities without additional subordinated financial
support, (2) has a group of equity owners that are unable to make significant decisions about its activities, or (3) has a group of
equity owners that do not have the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive returns generated by its operations.
Generally, a VIE should be consolidated if a party with an ownership, contractual, or other financial interest in the VIE (a
variable interest holder) has the power to direct the VIE’s most significant activities and the obligation to absorb losses or right
to receive benefits of the VIE that could be significant to the VIE. A variable interest holder that consolidates the VIE is called
the primary beneficiary. Upon consolidation, the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE’s assets,
liabilities, and noncontrolling interests at fair value and subsequently account for the VIE as if it were consolidated based on
majority voting interest. See Note 4, Investments in Unconsolidated Entities, for more detail.

The Company has determined that the Operating Partnership is a variable interest entity because the holders of limited
partnership interests do not have substantive kick-out rights or participation rights. Furthermore, the Company is the primary
beneficiary of the Operating Partnership because the Company has the obligation to absorb losses and the right to receive
benefits from the Operating Partnership and the exclusive power to direct the activities of the Operating Partnership. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the assets and liabilities of the Company and the Operating Partnership are substantially the
same, as the Company does not have any significant assets other than its investment in the Operating Partnership.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with a maturity of
three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents may include cash and short-term
investments. Short-term investments are stated at cost, which approximates fair value. There were no cash equivalents, nor
were there restrictions on the use of the Company’s cash balance as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The Company maintains its cash accounts with major financial institutions. The cash balances consist of business

checking accounts. These accounts are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000 at each institution.
The Company has not experienced any losses with respect to cash balances in excess of government provided insurance.
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PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted and excluding per share amounts)

Management believes there was no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to these cash balances as of
December 31, 2022.

Restricted Cash

In conjunction with acquisitions of certain assets, as required by certain lease provisions or certain lenders in conjunction
with an acquisition or debt financing, or credits received by the seller of certain assets, the Company assumed or funded
reserves for specific property improvements and deferred maintenance, re-leasing costs, and taxes and insurance, which are
included on the consolidated balance sheets as restricted cash.

Real Estate Purchase Price Allocation

The Company applies the provisions in ASC 805-10, Business Combinations ("ASC 805-10"), to account for the
acquisition of real estate, or real estate related assets, in which a lease, or other contract, is in place representing an active
revenue stream, as an asset acquisition (or when applicable, a business combination). In accordance with the provisions of ASC
805-10 (on an asset acquisition), the Company recognizes the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling
interest in the acquired entity at their relative fair values. The accounting provisions have also established that transaction costs
associated with an asset acquisition are capitalized.

Acquired in-place leases are valued as above-market or below-market as of the date of acquisition. The valuation is
measured based on the present value (using an interest rate, which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the
difference between (a) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (b) management’s estimate of fair
market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases over a period equal to the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease
for above-market leases, taking into consideration below-market extension options for below-market leases. In addition,
renewal options are considered and will be included in the valuation of in-place leases if (1) it is likely that the tenant will
exercise the option, and (2) the renewal rent is considered to be sufficiently below a fair market rental rate at the time of
renewal. The above-market and below-market lease values are capitalized as intangible lease assets or liabilities and amortized
as an adjustment to rental income over the remaining terms of the respective leases.

The aggregate relative fair value of in-place leases includes direct costs associated with obtaining a new tenant,
opportunity costs associated with lost rentals, which are avoided by acquiring an in-place lease, and tenant relationships. Direct
costs associated with obtaining a new tenant include commissions, tenant improvements, and other direct costs, and are
estimated using methods similar to those used in independent appraisals and management’s consideration of current market
costs to execute a similar lease. These direct costs are considered intangible lease assets and are included with real estate assets
on the consolidated balance sheets. The intangible lease assets are amortized to expense over the remaining terms of the
respective leases. The value of opportunity costs is calculated using the contractual amounts to be paid, including real estate
taxes, insurance, and other operating expenses, pursuant to the in-place leases over a market lease-up period for a similar lease.
Customer relationships are valued based on management’s evaluation of certain characteristics of each tenant’s lease and the
Company’s overall relationship with that respective tenant. Characteristics management will consider in allocating these values
include the nature and extent of the Company’s existing business relationships with tenants, growth prospects for developing
new business with the tenant, the tenant’s credit quality and expectations of lease renewals (including those existing under the
terms of the lease agreement), among other factors. These intangibles will be included in intangible lease assets on the
consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to expense over the remaining term of the respective leases.

The determination of the relative fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired requires the use of significant
assumptions about current market rental rates, rental growth rates, discount rates and other variables.

Depreciation and Amortization
The purchase price of real estate acquired and costs related to development, construction, and property improvements are
capitalized. Repairs and maintenance costs include all costs that do not extend the useful life of the real estate asset and are

expensed as incurred. The Company considers the period of future benefit of an asset to determine the appropriate useful life.
The Company anticipates the estimated useful lives of its assets by class to be generally as follows:
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PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted and excluding per share amounts)

Buildings 25-40 years

Building Improvements 5-20 years

Land Improvements 15-25 years

Tenant Improvements Shorter of estimated useful life or remaining contractual lease term

Tenant Origination and Absorption Cost  Remaining contractual lease term

In-place Lease Valuation Remaining contractual lease term with consideration as to below-market extension
options for below-market leases

If a lease is terminated or amended prior to its scheduled expiration, the Company will accelerate/extend the remaining
useful life of the unamortized lease-related costs.

Impairment of Real Estate and Related Intangible Assets

In accordance with the provisions of the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets Subsections of ASC 360, the
Company assesses the carrying values of our respective long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amounts of these assets may not be fully recoverable.

Recoverability of real estate assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows. To review real estate assets for recoverability, the Company considers current market conditions as
well as the Company's intent with respect to holding or disposing of the asset. The intent with regard to the underlying assets
might change as market conditions and other factors change. Fair value is determined through various valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow models, applying a capitalization rate to estimated net operating income of a property, and
quoted market values and third party appraisals, where considered necessary. The use of projected future cash flows is based on
assumptions that are consistent with estimates of future expectations and the strategic plan used to manage the Company's
underlying business. If the Company’s analysis indicates that the carrying value of the real estate asset is not recoverable on an
undiscounted cash flow basis, the Company will recognize an impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying value
exceeds the current estimated fair value of the real estate property.

Projections of expected future undiscounted cash flows require management to estimate future market rental income
amounts subsequent to the expiration of current lease agreements, property operating expenses, discount and capitalization
rates, the number of months it takes to re-lease the property, and the number of years the property is held for investment.

Revenue Recognition

Leases associated with the acquisition and contribution of certain real estate assets have net minimum rent payment
increases during the term of the lease and are recorded to rental revenue on a straight-line basis, commencing as of the
contribution or acquisition date. If a lease provides for contingent rental income, the Company will defer the recognition of
contingent rental income, such as percentage rents, until the specific target that triggers the contingent rental income is
achieved.
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Tenant reimbursement revenue, which is comprised of additional amounts collected from tenants for the recovery of
certain operating expenses, including repair and maintenance, property taxes (excluding taxes paid by a lessee directly to a third
party on behalf of the lessor) and insurance, and capital expenditures, to the extent allowed pursuant to the lease (collectively,
"Recoverable Expenses"), is recognized as revenue when the additional rent is due. Recoverable Expenses to be reimbursed by
a tenant are determined based on the Company's estimate of the property's operating expenses for the year, pro-rated based on
leased square footage of the property, and are collected in equal installments as additional rent from the tenant, pursuant to the
terms of the lease. At the end of each quarter, the Company reconciles the amount of additional rent paid by the tenant during
the quarter to the actual amount of the Recoverable Expenses incurred by the Company for the same period. The difference, if
any, is either charged or credited to the tenant pursuant to the provisions of the lease. In certain instances, the lease may restrict
the amount the Company can recover from the tenant, such as a cap on certain or all property operating expenses.

In a situation in which a lease associated with a significant tenant has been, or is expected to be, terminated early, or
extended, the Company evaluates the remaining useful life of amortizable assets in the asset group related to the lease that will
be terminated (i.e. above- and below-market lease intangibles, in-place lease value and deferred leasing costs). Based upon
consideration of the facts and circumstances surrounding the termination or extension, the Company may write-off or accelerate
the amortization associated with the asset group. Such amounts are included within rental and other income for above- and
below-market lease intangibles and amortization for the remaining lease related asset groups in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Lease Accounting

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 842 using the modified retrospective approach and elected to apply the
provisions as of the date of adoption on a prospective basis. Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company elected the “package of
practical expedients,” which allowed the Company to not reassess (a) whether expired or existing contracts as of January 1,
2019 are or contain leases, (b) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases as of January 1, 2019, and (c) the
treatment of initial direct costs relating to any existing leases as of January 1, 2019. The package of practical expedients was
made as a single election and was consistently applied to all leases that commenced before January 1, 2019.

Lessor

ASC 842 requires lessors to account for leases using an approach that is substantially equivalent to ASC 840 for sales-
type leases, direct financing leases, and operating leases. As the Company elected the package of practical expedients, the
Company's existing leases as of January 1, 2019 continue to be accounted for as operating leases.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company elected the practical expedient permitting lessors to elect by class of underlying
asset to not separate nonlease components (for example, maintenance services, including common area maintenance) from
associated lease components (the “non-separation practical expedient”) if both of the following criteria are met: (1) the timing
and pattern of transfer of the lease and non-lease component(s) are the same and (2) the lease component would be classified as
an operating lease if it were accounted for separately. If both criteria are met, the combined component is accounted for in
accordance with ASC 842 if the lease component is the predominant component of the combined component; otherwise, the
combined component is accounted for in accordance with the revenue recognition standard. The Company assessed the criteria
above with respect to the Company's operating leases and determined that they qualify for the non-separation practical
expedient. As a result, the Company accounted for and presented all rental income earned pursuant to operating leases,
including property expense recovery, as a single line item, “Rental income,” in the consolidated statement of operations for all
periods presented. Prior to the adoption of ASC 842, the Company presented rental income, property expense recovery and
other income related to leases separately in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

Under ASC 842, lessors are required to record revenues and expenses on a gross basis for lessor costs (which include real
estate taxes) when these costs are reimbursed by a lessee. Conversely, lessors are required to record revenues and expenses on a
net basis for lessor costs when they are paid by a lessee directly to a third party on behalf of the lessor. Prior to the adoption of
ASC 842, the Company recorded revenues and expenses on a gross basis for real estate taxes whether they were reimbursed to
the Company by a tenant or paid directly by a tenant to the taxing authorities on the Company's behalf. Effective January 1,
2019, the Company is recording these costs in accordance with ASC 842.
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Lessee

ASC 842 requires lessees to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of short-term leases) at the
commencement date: (1) a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured
on a discounted basis; and (2) a right-of-use asset (“ROU asset”), which is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or
control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. ASC 842 also requires lessees to classify leases as either finance or
operating leases based on whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase of the leased asset by the lessee. This
classification is used to evaluate whether the lease expense should be recognized based on an effective interest method or on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

On January 1, 2019, the Company was the lessee on two ground leases, which were classified as operating leases under
ASC 840. As the Company elected the packages of practical expedients, the Company is not required to reassess the
classification of these existing leases and, as such, these leases continue to be accounted for as operating leases.

On January 1, 2019, the Company recognized ROU assets and lease liabilities for these leases on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets, and on a go-forward basis, lease expense will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease. On January 1, 2019, the Company recorded a ROU asset of $25.5 million and a corresponding
liability of approximately $27.6 million relating to the Company's existing ground lease arrangements. These operating leases
were recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term. As these leases do not
provide an implicit rate, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available in determining the
present value of future payments. The discount rate used to determine the present value of these operating leases’ future
payments was 5.36%. There was no impact to beginning equity as a result of the adoption related to the lessee accounting as the
difference between the asset and liability is attributed to derecognition of pre-existing straight-line rent balances.

Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company also elected the practical expedient to not separate non-lease components, such
as common area maintenance, from associated lease components for the Company's ground and office space leases.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging ("ASC 815") provides the disclosure requirements for derivatives and hedging
activities with the intent to provide users of financial statements with an enhanced understanding of: (a) how and why an entity
uses derivative instruments, (b) how the entity accounts for derivative instruments and related hedged items, and (c) how
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.
Further, ASC 815 requires qualitative disclosures regarding the Company’s objectives and strategies for using derivatives, as
well as quantitative disclosures about the fair value of gains and losses on derivative instruments, and disclosures about credit-
risk-related contingent features in derivative instruments.

As required by ASC 815, the Company recorded all derivatives on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. The
accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, and whether the Company
has elected to designate a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging relationship
has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure
to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as interest rate risk,
are considered fair value hedges. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected
future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally
provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition of the
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the
earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. The Company may enter into derivative contracts
that are intended to economically hedge certain risks, even though hedge accounting does not apply or the Company elects not
to apply hedge accounting. See Note 6, Interest Rate Contracts, for more detail.

Change in Consolidated Financial Statements Presentation
Certain amounts in the prior period consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current

period presentation. Interest rate swap assets have been reclassified from other assets to interest rate swap assets on the balance
sheet for all periods presented.
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Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code ("Code"). To qualify as a REIT, the
Company must meet certain organizational and operational requirements. The Company intends to adhere to these requirements
and maintain its REIT status for the current year and subsequent years. As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to
federal income taxes on taxable income that is distributed to shareholders. However, the Company may be subject to certain
state and local taxes on its income and property, and federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed taxable income, if any.
If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, the Company will then be subject to federal income taxes on the
taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax
purposes for four years following the year during which qualification is lost unless the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") grants
the Company relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect net income and net cash
available for distribution to shareholders. As of December 31, 2022, the Company satisfied the REIT requirements and
distributed all of its taxable income.

Pursuant to the Code, the Company has elected to treat its corporate subsidiary as a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”). In
general, the TRS may perform non-customary services for the Company’s tenants and may engage in any real estate or non-real
estate-related business. The TRS will be subject to corporate federal and state income tax.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises from business combinations and represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net fair
value amounts that were assigned to the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The Company recorded
goodwill as a result of the transaction that resulted in the internalization of GRT management in December 2018 (“Self-
Administration Transaction”).

The Company’s goodwill has an indeterminate life and is not amortized, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis
for each reporting unit, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset is more likely than not
impaired. On October 1st of each period, the Company performs a qualitative analysis to determine whether an impairment of
goodwill exists prior to quantitatively determining the fair value of the reporting units in step one of the impairment test. If a
quantitative assessment is deemed necessary, and to the extent the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s allocated goodwill
exceeds the unit’s fair value, the Company recognizes an impairment of goodwill for the excess up to the amount of goodwill of
that reporting unit.

Due to the Company’s operating segment realignment in the fourth quarter of 2022, the composition of its reporting units
for the evaluation of goodwill impairment was changed and resulted in a quantitative assessment of goodwill impairment. Prior
to the change, the Company tested the goodwill for impairment at the previous single reporting unit, which did not result in any
impairment charge. Goodwill is now allocated across all three of the Company’s Office, Industrial, and Other reporting units on
a relative fair value basis, which is determined as the fair value of assets less liabilities for each reporting unit. Given this
method, the fair value of real estate assets and mortgage loans included within each reporting unit were the significant
components in determining relative fair value. The Company estimated the fair value of real estate assets using a discounted
cash flow model, including forecasted future cash flows based on significant assumptions such as market rent, and the
determination of appropriate discount and terminal capitalization rates. The Company estimated the fair value of the mortgage
loans in each reporting unit by discounting each loan’s principal balance over the remaining term of the mortgage using current
borrowing rates available to the Company for debt instruments with similar terms and maturities. The Company determined that
the amounts within the consolidated financial statements for the remaining assets and liabilities approximated fair value. For
any corporate related amounts that were not specifically identifiable to any reporting unit, the Company allocated those
amounts on a relative fair value basis using the specifically identified assets and liabilities.

As a result of the quantitative assessment as of December 31, 2022, the Company concluded that it was more likely than
not that the fair value of the Office reporting unit was less than the carrying amount, especially given the general decline in
overall demand for office assets. Thus, the Company recorded a $135.3 million goodwill impairment, which represents the
entire amount of goodwill allocated to the Office segment.

See Note 8, Fair Value Measurements, for details regarding the inputs used in determining the impairment of goodwill.
See Note 14, Segment Reporting, for allocation of goodwill for each of the Company’s segments.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the unaudited consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates.

Per Share Data

The Company reports earnings per share for the period as (1) basic earnings per share computed by dividing net income
(loss) attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period,
and (2) diluted earnings per share computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding, including common shares equivalents. Unvested RSUs that contain non-
forfeitable rights to dividends are participating securities and are included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to
the two-class method. The effect of including unvested restricted shares using the treasury stock method was excluded from our
calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted, as the inclusion would have been anti-dilutive for the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. Total excluded shares were 212,152, 150,037, and 50,371 for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

Segment Information

In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company evolved the management strategy of its real estate portfolio to focus on three
different property types in order to maximize the value of the assets within each group. As a result, the Company changed to
three reportable segments: Industrial, Office, and Other. The Industrial segment consists of high-quality, well-located industrial
properties with modern specifications. The Office segment includes newer, high-quality, and business-essential office
properties. The Other segment consists of vacant and non-core properties, together with other properties in the same cross-
collateralized loan pools. This segment includes properties that are either non-stabilized, leased to tenants with shorter lease
terms or are being evaluated for repositioning, re-leasing or potential sale. The Company recast its segment results for all prior
periods presented to show the three reportable segments. See Note 14, Segment Reporting, for details regarding each of the
Company’s segments.

Unaudited Data

Any references to the number of buildings, square footage, number of leases, occupancy, and any amounts derived from
these values in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are unaudited and outside the scope of the Company's
independent registered public accounting firm's audit of its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB").

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Changes to GAAP are established by the FASB in the form of ASUs to the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification.
The Company considers the applicability and impact of all ASUs. Other than the ASUs discussed below, the FASB has not
recently issued any other ASUSs that the Company expects to be applicable and have a material impact on the Company's
financial statements.

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of
Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (“ASU 2020-04"). ASU 2020-04 provides temporary optional guidance that
provides transition relief for reference rate reform, including optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contract
modifications, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference LIBOR or a reference rate that is expected to be
discontinued as a result of reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. ASU 2020-04 is effective upon issuance, and the
provisions generally can be applied prospectively as of January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2023. During the first quarter of
2020, the Company elected to apply the hedge accounting expedients related to probability and the assessments of effectiveness
for future LIBOR-indexed cash flows to assume that the index upon which future hedged transactions will be based matches the
index on the corresponding derivatives. The Company has subsequently elected to apply additional expedients related to
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contract modifications, changes in critical terms, and updates to the designated hedged risk(s) as qualifying changes have been
made to applicable debt and anticipate to be made to derivative contracts. Application of these expedients preserves the
presentation of derivatives and debt contracts consistent with past presentation. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU
2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope, which refines the scope of Topic 848 and clarifies some of its guidance.
The Company continues to evaluate the impact of the guidance and may apply other elections as applicable as additional
changes in the market occur.

3.  Real Estate

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s real estate portfolio consisted of 81 properties in 24 states consisting
substantially of office, industrial, and manufacturing facilities with a combined acquisition value of approximately $3.4 billion,
including the allocation of the purchase price to above and below-market lease valuation.

Depreciation expense for buildings and improvements for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was
$113.2 million, $125.4 million, and $94.0 million, respectively. Amortization expense for intangibles, including but not limited
to, tenant origination and absorption costs for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $77.6 million, $84.2
million, and $67.1 million respectively.

Intangibles
The Company allocated a portion of the acquired and contributed real estate asset value to in-place lease valuation, tenant

origination and absorption cost, and other intangibles, net of the write-off of intangibles for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021:

December 31,
2022 2021
In-place lease valuation (above market) $ 28,619 $ 49,578
In-place lease valuation (above market) - accumulated amortization (19,799) (35,049)
In-place lease valuation (above market), net 8,820 14,529
Ground leasehold interest (below market) — 2,254
Ground leasehold interest (below market) - accumulated amortization — (219)
Ground leasehold interest (below market), net — 2,035
Intangibles - other 32,028 32,028
Intangibles - other - accumulated amortization (6,987) (5,492)
Intangibles - other, net 25,041 26,536
Intangible assets, net $ 33,861 $ 43,100
In-place lease valuation (below market) $ (48,686) $ (77,859)
Land leasehold interest (above market) (3,072) (3,072)
In-place lease valuation & land leasehold interest - accumulated amortization 31,358 50,634
Intangibles - other (above market) (258) (329)
Intangible liabilities, net $ (20,658) $ (30,626)
Tenant origination and absorption cost $ 535,889 $ 876,324
Tenant origination and absorption cost - accumulated amortization (282,383) (473,893)
Tenant origination and absorption cost, net $ 253,506 $ 402,431

The intangible assets are amortized over the remaining lease term of each property, which on a weighted-average basis,
was approximately 7.1 years and 6.25 years as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The amortization of the intangible
assets and other leasing costs for the respective periods is as follows:
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Amortization (income) expense for the year ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Above and below market leases, net $ (2,205) $ (1,323) $ (2,292)
Tenant origination and absorption cost $ 73,172 $ 78,389 $ 62,459
Ground leasehold amortization (below market) $ (372) $ 349) $ (291)
Other leasing costs amortization $ 4,754  § 6,209 $ 4,908

The following table sets forth the estimated annual amortization (income) expense for in-place lease valuation, net, tenant
origination and absorption costs, ground leasehold interest, and other leasing costs as of December 31, 2022 for the next five
years:

In-place lease valuation, Tenant origination and
Year net absorption costs Ground leasehold interest Other leasing costs
2023 $ (1,166) $ 42,114 § 317) § 2,539
2024 $ (1,304) §$ 37,380 $ (318) $ 2,812
2025 $ (1,195) $ 31,883 § @317) § 3,013
2026 $ (1,090) $ 30,227 $ 317) $ 2,966
2027 $ (892) § 26,156  $ (317) $ 3,124
Assets Held for Sale

As of December 31, 2022, the 16752 Armstrong Avenue property located in Irvine, California met the criteria for
classification as held for sale. Subsequent to December 31, 2022, this property was sold. See Note 15, Subsequent Events, for
further details.

The following summary presents the major components of assets related to the real estate held for sale as of December 31,
2022:

As of December 31, 2022

Land $ 3,672
Building and improvements 17,878
Tenant origination and absorption cost 5,352
Total real estate 26,902
Less: accumulated depreciation (7,494)
Total real estate, net 19,408
Intangible assets, net 125
Deferred rent 1,265
Other assets, net 18
Total assets held for sale $ 20,816
Sale of Properties

On August 26, 2022, the Company sold a 41-property office portfolio (the “Office Portfolio”) located across the
continental United States. The sale price for the Office Portfolio was $1.1 billion, less closing costs and other closing credits.
Upon the sale of the Office Portfolio, the Company recognized a loss of approximately $105.9 million and entered into the
Office Joint Venture. See Note 4, Investment in Unconsolidated Entities, for details.

On September 23, 2022, the Company sold one property located in Phoenix, Arizona. The sale price for the property was
$93.0 million, less closing costs and other closing credits. The Company recognized a gain of approximately $10.4 million.

F-22



PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted and excluding per share amounts)

On December 22, 2022, the Company sold one property located in Birmingham, Alabama. The sale price for the property
was $33.3 million, less closing costs and other credits. The Company recognized a loss for approximately $0.8 million.

On December 27, 2022, the Company sold a five-property portfolio for approximately $170.4 million, less closing costs
and other credits. The Company recognized a loss of approximately $43.0 million and purchased an additional interest in the
Office Joint Venture. See Note 4, Investment in Unconsolidated Entities, for details.

Real Estate Impairments

During the year ended December 31, 2022, in connection with the preparation and review of the financial statements, the
Company recorded an impairment provision of approximately $127.6 million as it was determined that the carrying value of the
real estate would not be recoverable on eleven properties located in the Northeast, Midwest, Southwest, Southern, and West
regions of the United States. This impairment resulted from changes in anticipated hold period and selling price. In determining
the fair value of the properties, the Company considered Level 3 inputs. See Note 8, Fair Value Measurements, for details.
Additionally, the impairment related to properties included within our Office and Other segments, of which the amounts
recognized were $112.4 million and $15.2 million, respectively.

Restricted Cash

In conjunction with the acquisition of certain assets, as required by certain lease provisions or certain lenders in
conjunction with an acquisition or debt financing, or credits received by the seller of certain assets, the Company assumed or
funded reserves for specific property improvements and deferred maintenance, re-leasing costs, and taxes and insurance, which
are included on the consolidated balance sheets as restricted cash. Additionally, an ongoing replacement reserve is funded by
certain tenants pursuant to each tenant’s respective lease as follows:

Balance as of December 31,

2022 2021
Cash reserves $ 4262 $ 15,234
Restricted lockbox 502 2,288
Total $ 4,764 $ 17,522

4.  Investments in Unconsolidated Entities
Office Joint Venture

The Company, through its subsidiary GRT VAO OP, LLC (“GRT VAO Sub”), owns indirectly an approximate 49%
interest in the Office Portfolio, equal to approximately $178.6 million, through a joint venture (the “Office Joint Venture”). The
Office Joint Venture is managed by RVMC Capital LLC, an affiliate of Workspace Property Trust (the “Managing Member™).

The Managing Member of the Office Joint Venture has general authority to manage the operations of the Office Joint
Venture. The Managing Member also has day-to-day management authority over the Office Joint Venture, subject to certain
major decision rights held by another minority interest holder. The Managing Member may be removed from its management
positions upon the occurrence of specified events.

GRT VAO Sub has approval rights over certain major decisions regarding actions by the Office Joint Venture, including
certain fundamental decisions that the Office Joint Venture may approve. GRT VAO Sub’s obligation is generally limited to its
initial contribution. GRT VAO Sub is not obligated to make any additional capital contributions beyond its initial capital
contribution.

The Office Joint Venture, through various subsidiary borrowers, obtained acquisition financing for the Office Portfolio
comprised of (a) a $736.0 million mortgage loan (the “Mortgage Loan”), and (b) a $194.8 million mezzanine loan (the
“Mezzanine Loan”, and together with the Mortgage Loan, the “Office JV Loans”). The initial maturity date of the Office JV
Loans is September 9, 2023, subject to two, one-year extension options. The interest rates during the initial term of the
Mortgage Loan and the Mezzanine Loan are Term SOFR (1-month) (with a 3% interest rate cap on SOFR) + 3.635% (subject
to a 0.25% increase during each extension term) and Term SOFR (1-month) with a 3% interest rate cap on SOFR + 6.574%
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(subject to a 0.25% increase during each extension term), respectively. The Office Joint Venture paid $6.7 million for the
interest rate caps.

The Office Joint Venture, through various subsidiary borrowers, also obtained acquisition financing for a companion sale
of a majority interest in a five property portfolio, comprised of a $142.1 million mortgage loan, having an initial maturity date
of January 6, 2024 (subject to two, one-year extension options), and an interest rate during the initial term of Term SOFR (1-
month) with a 4% interest rate cap on SOFR + 4.25% (subject to a 0.25% increase during each extension term). The Company
has not guaranteed any debt obligations and has not otherwise committed to providing financial support in respect of the debt.
In addition, the Company does not anticipate receiving any near-term cash flow distributions. Considering the Company’s
limited economic exposure to the Office Joint Venture, the Company excludes interests in the assets in the Office Joint Venture
from operating data.

In connection with the Office JV Loans, the Operating Partnership and GRT VAO Sub entered into a certain Put
Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (“JPM”), pursuant to which JPM had the right to put to Operating
Partnership and GRT VAO Sub a portion of its interest in the Mezzanine Loan in the principal face amount of $39.3 million
(the “Mezzanine Interest”). On September 29, 2022, JPM sold to GRT VAO Sub the Mezzanine Interest for approximately
$34.4 million, which was initially included in the line item “Investments in unconsolidated entities” in the consolidated balance
sheets.

On December 23, 2022, we sold the Mezzanine Interest for $31.0 million. We recorded an estimated loss of
approximately $3.6 million, which includes accrued interest and is presented in the "Net loss from investment in unconsolidated
entities” in the consolidated statement of operations.

The interests discussed above are deemed to be variable interests in variable interest entities ("VIE") and based on an
evaluation of the variable interests against the criteria for consolidation, the Company determined that it is not the primary
beneficiary of the investment, as the Company does not have power to direct the activities of the entities that most significantly
affect their performance. As such, the interest in the VIE is recorded using the equity method of accounting in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Under the equity method, the investments in the unconsolidated entities are
stated at cost and adjusted for the Company’s share of net earnings or losses and reduced by distributions. Equity in earnings of
real estate ventures is generally recognized based on the allocation of cash distributions upon liquidation of the investment at
book value in accordance with the operating agreements. The Company records the net earnings or losses on investment on a
one quarter lag. The Company's maximum exposure to losses associated with its unconsolidated investments is primarily
limited to its carrying value in the investments.

The table below summarizes the Company’s investment in the unconsolidated Office Joint Venture, which is included in
the Company’s Office segment:

Office Joint Venture

Investment in Office Joint Venture

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ o
Contributions 218,746
Net loss (10,979)
Sale of Mezzanine Loan Interest (31,000)
Other Comprehensive Income 1,880
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 178,647

(1) The net loss includes $3.6 million of loss on the sale of the Mezzanine Loan.
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The table below presents the condensed balance sheet for the unconsolidated Office Joint Venture :

December 31, 2022

Assets

Real estate properties, net $ 981,354
Other assets 240,447
Total assets $ 1,221,801
Liabilities

Mortgages payable, net $ 856,765
Other liabilities 52,018
Total Liabilities $ 908,783

(1) Amounts are as of September 30, 2022 due to the recording of the Office Joint Venture’s activity on a one quarter lag.

The table below presents condensed statements of operations of the unconsolidated Office Joint Venture ;

December 31, 2022
Total revenues $ 16,500
Total expenses (31,648)
Net Income $ (15,148)

(1)  Amounts represent the period of the Company’s ownership from August 26, 2022 to September 30, 2022 due to the recording of the Office Joint
Venture’s activity on a one quarter lag.

F-25



PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted and excluding per share amounts)

5. Debt

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s debt consisted of the following:

December 31, Contractual
Interest Loan Effective
2022 2021 Rate Maturity Interest Rate ®
HealthSpring Mortgage Loan $ 19,107 $ 19,669 4.18% April 2023 4.64%
Midland Mortgage Loan — 95,792 —% ©®) —%
Samsonite Loan 17,998 19,114 6.08% September 2023 4.99%
Highway 94 Loan 12,740 13,732 3.75% August 2024 4.97%
Pepsi Bottling Ventures Loan 17,836 18,218 3.69% October 2024 3.93%
AIG Loan II 122,328 124,606 4.15% November 2025 4.98%
BOA Loan — 375,000 —% © — —%
BOA/KeyBank Loan 250,000 250,000 4.32% May 2028 4.14%
AIG Loan 99,794 101,884 4.96% February 2029 5.11%
Total Mortgage Debt 539,803 1,018,015
Revolving Credit Facility © — 373,500 SOF Rate + 1.45% D June 2024 5.85%
2023 Term Loan — 200,000 —% ® —%
2024 Term Loan 400,000 400,000 SOF Rate + 1.40% April 2024 5.88%
2025 Term Loan 400,000 400,000 SOF Rate + 1.40% December 2025 5.97%
2026 Term Loan 150,000 150,000 SOF Rate + 1.40% April 2026 5.89%
Total Debt 1,489,803 2,541,515
Unamortized Deferred Financing Costs and
Discounts, net (4,401) (9,138)
Total Debt, net $ 1,485,402 $ 2,532,377

(1) Including the effect of the interest rate swap agreements with a total notional amount of $750.0 million the weighted average interest rate as of
December 31, 2022 was 4.13% for both the Company’s fixed-rate and variable-rate debt combined and 4.02% for the Company’s fixed-rate debt only.

(2) Reflects the effective interest rate as of December 31, 2022 and includes the effect of amortization of discounts/premiums and deferred financing costs.

(3) The SOF rate as of December 31, 2022 (effective date) was 4.30%, which excludes a 0.1% per annum index adjustment as required per Fifth
Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The Revolving Credit Facility had an initial term of approximately three years,
and was initially scheduled to mature on June 28, 2022. Through the Fifth Amendment to the Restated Credit Agreement, the Company elected to extend
the maturity until September 30, 2023 and the Company has a series of three three-month extension options (December 30, 2023, March 30, 2024, and
June 30, 2024). See discussion below.

(4) Reflects the loan maturity as of December 31, 2022.

(5) Midland Mortgage Loan was repaid in August 2022 and had a contractual interest rate of 3.94%.

(6) BOA Loan was repaid in August 2022 and had a contractual interest rate of 3.77%.

(7) Revolving Credit Facility was paid down in August 2022 and has a contractual interest rate of SOFR + 1.45%.
(8) 2023 Term Loan was paid down in September 2022 and had a contractual interest rate of LIBOR + 1.40%.

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

Pursuant to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of April 30, 2019 (as amended by the First
Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of October 1, 2020 (the “First Amendment”), the
Second Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 18, 2020 (the “Second
Amendment”), the Third Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 14, 2021 (the
“Third Amendment”), the Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September
April 28, 2022 (the “Fourth Amendment”), the Fifth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated
as of September 28, 2022 (the “Fifth Amendment”), and the Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of November 30, 2022 (the “Sixth Amendment”, and together with the First Amendment, the Second
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Amendment, the Third Amendment, the Fourth Amendment, the Fifth Amendment, the “Second Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement”), with KeyBank National Association (“KeyBank™) as administrative agent, and a syndicate of lenders, we,
through the Operating Partnership, as the borrower, have been initially provided with a $1.7 billion credit facility consisting of a
$750 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) maturing in September 2023 with
(subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions) and a series of three-month extension options, a $400 million senior
unsecured term loan maturing in April 2024 (the “$400M 5-Year Term Loan”), a $400 million senior unsecured term loan
maturing in December 2025 (the $400M 5-Year Term Loan), and a $150 million senior unsecured term loan maturing in April
2026 (the “$150M 7-Year Term Loan”) (collectively, the “KeyBank Loans”). The $200M 5-Year Term Loan was paid-off as
noted below. The credit facility also provides the option, subject to obtaining additional commitments from lenders and certain
other customary conditions, to increase the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility, increase the existing term loans
and/or incur new term loans by up to an additional $600 million in the aggregate. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining
capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $202.9 million.

The Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides that the Operating Partnership must maintain a pool of
unencumbered real properties (each a "Pool Property" and collectively the "Pool Properties") that meet certain requirements
contained in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The agreement sets forth certain covenants relating to the
Pool Properties, including, without limitation, the following:

. there must be no less than 15 Pool Properties at any time;

. no greater than 15% of the aggregate pool value may be contributed by a single Pool Property or tenant;

. no greater than 15% of the aggregate pool value may be contributed by Pool Properties subject to ground leases;
. no greater than 20% of the aggregate pool value may be contributed by Pool Properties which are under

development or assets under renovation;
. the minimum aggregate leasing percentage of all Pool Properties must be no less than 90%; and
. other limitations as determined by KeyBank upon further due diligence of the Pool Properties.

Borrowing availability under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement is limited to the lesser of the
maximum amount of all loans outstanding that would result in (i) an unsecured leverage ratio of no greater than 60%, or (ii) an
unsecured interest coverage ratio of no less than 2.00:1.00.

Guarantors of the KeyBank Loans include the Company, each special purpose entity that owns a Pool Property, and each
of the Operating Partnership's other subsidiaries which owns a direct or indirect equity interest in a SPE that owns a Pool
Property.

In addition to customary representations, warranties, covenants, and indemnities, the KeyBank Loans require the
Operating Partnership to comply with the following at all times, which will be tested on a quarterly basis:

. a maximum consolidated leverage ratio of 60%, or, the ratio may increase to 65% for up to four consecutive
quarters after a material acquisition;

. a minimum consolidated tangible net worth of 75% of the Company's consolidated tangible net worth at closing of
the Revolving Credit Facility, or approximately $2.0 billion, plus 75% of net future equity issuances (including OP
Units), minus 75% of the amount of any payments used to redeem the Company's shares or OP Units, minus any
amounts paid for the redemption or retirement of or any accrued return on the preferred equity issued under the
preferred equity investment made in our Predecessor in August 2018 by SHBNPP Global Professional Investment
Type Private Real Estate Trust No. 13 (H), and minus 75% of the tangible net worth of certain distributions and/or
dividends (defined as “Restricted Payments™) that are otherwise permitted by the Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement;
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. upon consummation, if ever, of an initial public offering, a minimum consolidated tangible net worth of 75% of the
Company's consolidated tangible net worth at the time of such initial public offering plus 75% of net future equity
issuances (including OP Units) should the Company publicly list its shares;

. a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.50:1.00;

. a maximum total secured debt ratio of not greater than 40%, which ratio will increase by five percentage points for
four quarters after closing of a material acquisition that is financed with secured debt;

. a minimum unsecured interest coverage ratio of 2.00:1.00;

. a maximum total secured recourse debt ratio, excluding recourse obligations associated with interest rate hedges, of
10% of our total asset value; and

. aggregate maximum unhedged variable rate debt of not greater than 30% of the Company's total asset value.

Furthermore, the activities of the Operating Partnership, the Company, and the Company's subsidiaries must be focused
principally on the ownership, development, operation and management of office, industrial, manufacturing, warehouse,
distribution or educational properties (or mixed uses thereof) and businesses reasonably related or ancillary thereto.

Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

On July 14, 2021, the Company, through the Operating Partnership, entered into the Third Amendment. The Third
Amendment amended the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to decrease the applicable interest rate margin for
the $150M 7-Year Term Loan. After giving effect to the Third Amendment, the $150M 7-Year Term Loan accrues interest, at
the Operating Partnership’s election, at a per annum rate equal to either (i) the LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from
1.25% to 2.15% or (ii) a base rate plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.25% to 1.15%, in each case such applicable margin
to be based on the Company's consolidated leverage ratio. Prior to the Third Amendment, the applicable margin for LIBOR
based loans was 1.65% to 2.50% and for base rate loans was 0.65% to 1.50%, in each case based on the Company's
consolidated leverage ratio. All other terms of the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement were unchanged. No new
term loan borrowings were incurred under the Third Amendment. The applicable rate for the $150M 7-Year Term Loan
decreased 35 basis points from 1.75% to 1.40%.

Fourth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

Pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, the Company amended the Company’s maturity extension option on the Revolving
Credit Facility from a one-year extension option (to June 2023) to a series of three-month extension options (to September 28,
2022, December 28, 2022, March 28, 2023, and June 28, 2023, respectively). The exercise of each extension option requires the
payment of a fee of 0.05% on the extended revolving loan commitments and is subject to certain other customary conditions.
On May 24, 2022, the Company exercised the first three-month extension option on the Revolving Credit Facility, which
extends the maturity date from June 28, 2022 to September 28, 2022.

Upon the sale of the Office Portfolio and property in Phoenix, Arizona, the Company repaid approximately $373.5 million
of the Revolving Credit Facility and paid off approximately $200.0 million of the 2023 Term Loan. See Note 3, Real Estate, for
details of the sale of the Office Portfolio.

Fifth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

Pursuant to the Fifth Amendment, the Company extended the maturity date on the Revolving Credit Facility from
September 28, 2022 to September 30, 2023 and amended the maturity date extension options to a series of three three-month
extensions (to December 30, 2023, March 30, 2024 and June 30, 2024, respectively). In addition, the contract interest rate was
amended from LIBOR to Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 0.10% per annum (collectively, the “Adjusted
SOFR”). See Note 2, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for details on the impact of the
Company’s hedge accounting.
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Based on the terms as of December 31, 2022, the interest rate for the credit facility varies based on the consolidated
leverage ratio of the Operating Partnership, us, and our subsidiaries and ranges (a) in the case of the Revolving Credit Facility,
from Adjusted SOFR plus 1.30% to Adjusted SOFR plus 2.20%, (b) in the case of each of the $400M 5-Year Term Loan, the
$400M 5-Year Term Loan 2025, and the $150M 7-Year Term Loan, from Adjusted SOFR plus 1.25% to Adjusted SOFR plus
2.15%. If the Operating Partnership obtains an investment grade rating of its senior unsecured long term debt from Standard &
Poor's Rating Services, Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or Fitch, Inc., the applicable SOFR margin and base rate margin will
vary based on such rating and range (i) in the case of the Revolving Credit Facility, from Adjusted SOFR plus 0.825% to
Adjusted SOFR plus 1.55%, (ii) in the case of each of the $400M 5-Year Term Loan, the $400M 5-Year Term Loan 2025, and
the $150M 7-Year Term Loan, from Adjusted SOFR plus 0.90% to Adjusted SOFR plus 1.75%. As of December 31, 2022, the
remaining undrawn capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $202.9 million.

Sixth Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

Pursuant to the Sixth Amendment, the Company amended the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by,
among other things, amending the covenant regarding Tangible Net Worth (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement) such that the calculation thereof takes into account certain distributions and/or dividends (defined as
“Restricted Payments”) that are otherwise permitted by Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

Midland Mortgage Loan and BOA Loan

As a result of the sale of the Office Portfolio, the Company repaid approximately $95.7 million and $388.5 million of the
Midland Mortgage Loan and BOA Loan, respectively, which included a prepayment premium of approximately $0.9 million
for the Midland Mortgage Loan and $12.3 million for the BOA Loan. See Note 3, Real Estate, for details of the sale of the
Office Portfolio.

Debt Covenant Compliance

Pursuant to the terms of the Company's mortgage loans and the KeyBank Loans, the Operating Partnership, in
consolidation with the Company, is subject to certain loan compliance covenants. The Company was in compliance with all of

its debt covenants as of December 31, 2022.

The following summarizes the future scheduled principal repayments of all loans as of December 31, 2022 per the loan
terms discussed above:

As of December 31, 2022

2023 $ 43,101
2024 433,929
2025 519,901
2026 152,546
2027 2,675
Thereafter 337,651
Total principal 1,489,803
Unamortized debt premium/(discount) 240
Unamortized deferred loan costs (4,641)
Total $ 1,485,402

6.  Interest Rate Contracts
Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives
The Company is exposed to certain risks arising from both business operations and economic conditions. The Company

manages economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity, and credit risk primarily by managing the amount, sources, and
duration of debt funding and the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically, the Company enters into derivative
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financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the payment of future known and
uncertain cash amounts, the values of which are determined by expected cash payments principally related to borrowings and
interest rates. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a counterparty in
exchange for making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount.
The Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

Derivative Instruments

The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements to hedge the variable cash flows associated with certain
existing or forecasted LIBOR based variable-rate debt, including the Company's KeyBank Loans. The change in the fair value
of derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges is initially recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
("AOCI") and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings.
Amounts reported in AOCI related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the
Company's variable-rate debt.

The following table sets forth a summary of the interest rate swaps at December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Fair Value Current Notional Amounts
December 31, December 31,
Derivative Effective = Maturity Interest
Instrument Date Date Strike Rate 2022 2021 2022 2021
Assets/(Liabilities)
Interest Rate Swap 3/10/2020  7/1/2025 0.83% $ 12,391 $ 1,648 S 150,000 $ 150,000
Interest Rate Swap 3/10/2020  7/1/2025 0.84% 8,244 1,059 100,000 100,000
Interest Rate Swap 3/10/2020  7/1/2025 0.86% 6,145 749 75,000 75,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020 7/1/2025 2.82% 4331 (7,342) 125,000 125,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020 7/1/2025 2.82% 3,444 (5,909) 100,000 100,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020  7/1/2025 2.83% 3,441 (5,899) 100,000 100,000
Interest Rate Swap 7/1/2020 7/1/2025 2.84% 3,408 (5,958) 100,000 100,000
Total $ 41,404 § (21,652) § 750,000 $ 750,000

(1) The Company records all derivative instruments on a gross basis in the consolidated balance sheets, and accordingly there are no offsetting amounts that
net assets against liabilities. As of December 31, 2022, derivatives in a liability position are included in an asset or liability position are included in the
line item "Other assets or Interest rate swap liability," respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The LIBO rate as of December 31,
2022 (effective date) was 4.12%.

The following table sets forth the impact of the interest rate swaps on the consolidated statements of operations for the
periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Interest Rate Swap in Cash Flow Hedging Relationship:
Amount of (loss) gain recognized in AOCI on derivatives $ 61,126 $ (18,165) $ (38,319)
Amount of (gain) loss reclassified from AOCI into earnings under “Interest expense” $ (2,056) $ (14,284) $ 8,165
Total interest expense presented in the consolidated statement of operations in which the
effects of cash flow hedges are recorded $ 84,816 $ 85,087 $ 79,646

During the twelve months subsequent to December 31, 2022, the Company estimates that an additional $21.5 million of
its expense will be recognized from AOCI into earnings.

Certain agreements with the derivative counterparties contain a provision that if the Company defaults on any of its

indebtedness, including a default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender within a specified
time period, then the Company could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations.
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As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the fair value of interest rate swaps that were in a liability position, which excludes
any adjustment for nonperformance risk related to these agreements, was approximately $0.0 million and $25.1 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had not posted any collateral related to these
agreements.

7. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31,
2022 2021
Interest payable $ 13,654 $ 9,683
Prepaid tenant rent 12,399 26,477
Deferred compensation 8,913 10,119
Property operating expense payable 7,960 11,126
Real estate taxes payable 6,296 14,751
Redemptions payable 4,383 —
Accrued tenant improvements 620 10,123
Other liabilities 25,950 26,842
Total $ 80,175 $ 109,121

8.  Fair Value Measurements

The Company is required to disclose fair value information about all financial instruments, whether or not recognized in
the consolidated balance sheets, for which it is practicable to estimate fair value. The Company measures and discloses the
estimated fair value of financial assets and liabilities utilizing a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between data obtained
from sources independent of the reporting entity and the reporting entity’s own assumptions about market participant
assumptions. This hierarchy consists of three broad levels, as follows: (i) quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities, (ii) "significant other observable inputs," and (iii) "significant unobservable inputs." "Significant other observable
inputs" can include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, as well as inputs that are observable for the
asset or liability, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted
intervals. "Significant unobservable inputs" are typically based on an entity’s own assumptions, since there is little, if any,
related market activity. In instances in which the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different
levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is
based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company's assessment of
the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors
specific to the asset or liability. There were no transfers between the levels in the fair value hierarchy during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The following table sets forth the assets and liabilities that the Company measures at fair value on a recurring basis by
level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Quoted Prices in Active

Markets for Identical Significant Other Significant
Assets/(Liabilities) Total Fair Value Assets and Liabilities Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs

December 31, 2022

Interest Rate Swap Asset $ 41,404 $ — 3 41,404 $ —
Mutual Funds Asset $ 6,191 $ 6,191 $ — 3 —
December 31, 2021

Interest Rate Swap Asset $ 3456 $ — 3 3456 $ —
Interest Rate Swap Liability $ (25,108) $ — 3 (25,108) $ —
Mutual Funds Asset $ 5543 $ 5543 $ — 3 —
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Real Estate Impairment

For the year ended December 31, 2022, in connection with the preparation and review of the Company’s financial
statements, the Company determined that eleven of the Company's properties were impaired based on shortened expected hold
periods and expected selling prices. The Company considered these inputs as Level 3 measurements within the fair value
hierarchy. The following table is a summary of the quantitative information related to the non-recurring fair value measurement
for the impairment of the Company's real estate properties for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Range of Inputs or Input
Unobservable Inputs Midwest Properties Southwest Properties
Market rent per square foot $8.50 to $12.75 $18.00- $23.00
Terminal capitalization rate 9.50% to 11.25% 7.23% - 7.75%
Discount rate 10.25% to 14.00% 8.60% - 8.81%

Range of Inputs or Input

Unobservable Inputs Southern Property Northeast Properties Southwest Properties West Properties

Expected selling price per square foot $295.96 $187 - $234 $268 $65 - $80

Estimated hold period Less than one year Less than one year Less than one year Less than one year
Goodwill Impairment

As a result of the updated composition of reporting units to align with the new segments, the Company concluded that it
was more likely than not that the fair value of the Office reporting unit was less than the carrying amount, especially given the
general decline in overall demand for office assets. Thus, the Company recorded a $135.3 million goodwill impairment.

The Company estimated the fair value of real estate assets within the goodwill impairment calculation using a discounted
cash flow model, including forecasted future cash flows based on significant assumptions such as market rent, and the
determination of appropriate discount and terminal capitalization rates. The Company considered these inputs as Level 3
measurements within the fair value hierarchy. The following table is a summary of the quantitative information related to the
non-recurring fair value measurement for the impairment of the Company's goodwill as it relates to the assets within the Office
reporting unit for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Range of Inputs or Input

Unobservable Inputs Industrial Office Other

Market rent per square foot $3.25- $27.00 $11.50 - $42.00 $4.00 - $27.50
Terminal capitalization rate 4.75% - 8.25% 5.75%- 9.50% 5.50% - 9.41%
Discount rate 5.75% - 9.00% 6.25%- 10.50% 6.50%- 9.50%

The Company also estimated the fair value of the mortgage loans within the goodwill impairment calculation as described
in the Financial Instruments Disclosed at Fair Value section. The Company considered these inputs as Level 2 measurements
within the fair value hierarchy. Refer to the table below for further details around the fair value of the mortgage loans. For the
remaining assets and liabilities included within the goodwill calculation, the Company determined that amounts within the
consolidated financial statements approximated fair value.

Financial Instruments Disclosed at Fair Value
Financial instruments as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 consisted of cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, accounts receivable, accrued expenses and other liabilities, and mortgage payable and other borrowings, as defined in

Note 5, Debt. With the exception of the mortgage loans in the table below, the amounts of the financial instruments presented in
the consolidated financial statements substantially approximate their fair value as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. The fair
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value of the nine mortgage loans in the table below is estimated by discounting each loan’s principal balance over the remaining
term of the mortgage using current borrowing rates available to the Company for debt instruments with similar terms and
maturities. The Company determined that the mortgage debt valuation in its entirety is classified in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy, as the fair value is based on current pricing for debt with similar terms as the in-place debt.

December 31,
2022 2021
Fair Value Carrying Value @ Fair Value Carrying Value
BOA Loan $ — § — 8 349,082 $ 375,000
BOA/KeyBank Loan 226,361 250,000 260,378 250,000
AIG Loan II 111,872 122,328 120,141 124,606
AIG Loan 89,526 99,794 99,697 101,884
Midland Mortgage Loan — — 95,720 95,792
Samsonite Loan 17,998 17,998 19,366 19,114
HealthSpring Mortgage Loan 19,107 19,107 19,639 19,669
Pepsi Bottling Ventures Loan 17,014 17,836 18,262 18,218
Highway 94 Loan 11,941 12,740 13,360 13,732
Total $ 493,819 $ 539,803 § 995,645 § 1,018,015
(1) The carrying values do not include the debt premium/(discount) or deferred financing costs as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. See Note 5, Debt, for
details.
9.  Equity
Classes

Class T shares, Class S shares, Class D shares, Class I shares, Class A shares, Class AA shares, Class AAA and Class E
shares vote together as a single class, and each share is entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of
the Company's shareholders; provided that with respect to any matter that would only have a material adverse effect on the
rights of a particular class of common shares, only the holders of such affected class are entitled to vote.

The following table sets forth the classes of outstanding common shares as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

As of December 31,
2022 2021
Class A 2,714,120 2,723,286
Class AA 5,272,834 5,288,013
Class AAA 102,993 102,993
Class D 4,608 4,668
Class E 27,630,545 27,676,520
Class I 212,414 212,416
Class S 200 200
Class T 62,124 62,807

Common Equity

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had received aggregate gross offering proceeds of approximately $2.8 billion
from the sale of shares in the private offering, the public offerings, the DRP offerings and mergers (includes our Predecessor
offerings and our Predecessor’s merger with Signature Office REIT, Inc., the Predecessor Mergers and the CCIT II Merger), as
discussed in Note 1, Organization. As part of the $2.8 billion from the sale of shares, the Company issued approximately
4,863,623 common shares upon the consummation of the merger of Signature Office REIT, Inc. in June 2015 and 19,442,394
Class E shares (in exchange for all outstanding shares of our Predecessor's common stock at the time of the Predecessor
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Mergers) in April 2019 upon the consummation of the Predecessor Mergers and 10,384,185 Class E shares (in exchange for all
the outstanding shares of CCIT II's common stock at the time of the CCIT II Merger). As of December 31, 2022, there were
35,999,898 shares outstanding, including shares issued pursuant to the DRP, less shares redeemed pursuant to the SRP and the
self-tender offer, which occurred in May 2019.

Distribution Reinvestment Plan (DRP)

The Company has adopted the DRP, which allows shareholders to have dividends and other distributions otherwise
distributable to them invested in additional common shares. No sales commissions or dealer manager fees will be paid on shares
sold through the DRP, but the DRP shares will be charged the applicable distribution fee payable with respect to all shares of
the applicable class. The purchase price per share under the DRP is equal to the net asset value ("NAV") per share applicable to
the class of shares purchased, calculated using the most recently published NAV available at the time of reinvestment. The
Company may amend or terminate the DRP for any reason at any time upon 10 days' prior written notice to shareholders, which
may be provided through the Company's filings with the SEC.

On July 17, 2020, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 for the registration of up to $100 million in
shares pursuant to the Company's DRP (the “DRP Offering”). The DRP Offering may be terminated at any time upon 10 days’
prior written notice to shareholders.

On October 1, 2021, the Board approved a suspension of the DRP, effective October 11, 2021.

The following table summarizes the DRP offerings, by share class, as of December 31, 2022:

Share Class Amount Shares
Class A $ 9,687 116,908
Class AA 19,047 229,819
Class AAA 290 3,502
Class D 21 248
Class E 311,405 3,588,818
Class 1 437 5,225
Class S — 1
Class T 177 2,121
Total $ 341,064 3,946,642

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had issued approximately $341.1 million in shares pursuant to the DRP
offerings, respectively.

Share Redemption Program (SRP)

Prior to its suspension in February 2023 in anticipation of the proposed listing of the Company’s common shares on the
New York Stock Exchange (the “Listing”), the Company had adopted the SRP that enables shareholders to sell their shares to
the Company in limited circumstances. The SRP was suspended on October 1, 2021 but resumed on a limited basis on August
5,2022 (i.e., limited to redemptions in connection with a holder’s death, disability or incompetence) with the cap on quarterly
redemptions tied to a dollar amount set by the Board and disclosed by the Company. Quarterly redemptions were capped at
$5 million (or some other quarterly or annual amount determined by the Board and announced at least 10 business days before
the applicable redemption date). In addition, during any calendar year, with respect to each share class, the Company was

permitted to redeem no more than 5% of the weighted-average number of shares of such class outstanding during the prior
calendar year.

Under the SRP, when the SRP is not suspended, the Company will redeem shares as of the last business day of each
quarter. The redemption price is equal to the most recently published NAV per share for the applicable class prior to quarter
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end. Redemption requests must be received by 3:00 p.m. (Central time) one business day before on the last business day of the
applicable quarter. Redemption requests exceeding the quarterly cap are filled on a pro rata basis, except that if pro rata
redemption would result in a shareholder owning less than the minimum balance of $2,500 of the Company's common shares,
then the Company would redeem all of such shareholder’s shares to the extent that there are funds available. All unsatisfied
redemption requests were treated as a request for redemption at the redemption date unless withdrawn by the shareholder.

The following table summarizes share redemption (excluding the self-tender offer) activity during the years ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
Common shares redeemed 149,730 248,053
Weighted average price per share $ 66.79 $ 81.29

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company received redemption requests of common shares for
approximately $15.9 million, which exceeded the limitation of approximately $10.0 million.

Since July 31, 2014 and through December 31, 2022, the Company had redeemed 3,294,722 shares (excluding the self-
tender offer) of common shares for approximately $275.5 million at a weighted average price per share of $83.61 pursuant to
the SRP.

Series A Preferred Shares

On August 8, 2018, our Predecessor entered into a purchase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with SHBNPP Global
Professional Investment Type Private Real Estate Trust No. 13(H) (acting through Kookmin Bank as trustee) (the "Purchaser")
and Shinhan BNP Paribas Asset Management Corporation, as an asset manager of the Purchaser, pursuant to which the
Purchaser agreed to purchase an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of Series A Cumulative Perpetual Convertible Preferred Shares
at a price of $25.00 per share (the "Series A Preferred Shares") in two tranches, each comprising 5,000,000 Series A Preferred
Shares. On August 8, 2018 (the "First Issuance Date"), our Predecessor issued 5,000,000 Series A Preferred Shares to the
Purchaser for a total purchase price of $125.0 million (the "First Issuance"). Our Predecessor paid transaction fees totaling 3.5%
of the First Issuance purchase price and incurred approximately $0.4 million in transaction-related expenses to unaffiliated third
parties. Our Predecessor’s former external advisor incurred transaction-related expenses of approximately $0.2 million, which
was reimbursed by our Predecessor.

Upon consummation of the Predecessor Mergers, the Company issued 5,000,000 Series A Preferred Shares to the
Purchaser. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser has agreed to purchase an additional 5,000,000 Series A
Preferred Shares (the "Second Issuance") at a later date (the "Second Issuance Date") for an additional purchase price of
$125.0 million subject to approval by the Purchaser’s internal investment committee and the satisfaction of certain other
conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser is generally restricted from
transferring the Series A Preferred Shares or the economic interest in the Series A Preferred Shares for a period of five years
from the applicable closing date.

The issuance of the Company's Series A Preferred Shares was not registered under the Securities Act and are not listed on
a national securities exchange. The articles supplementary filed by the Company related to the Series A Preferred Shares set
forth the key terms of such shares as follows:

Distributions

Subject to the terms of the applicable articles supplementary, the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares are entitled to
receive distributions quarterly in arrears at a rate equal to one-fourth (1/4) of the applicable varying rate, as follows:
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1. 6.55% from and after the First Issuance Date, or if the Second Issuance occurs, 6.55% from and after the Second
Issuance Date until the five year anniversary of the First Issuance Date, or if the Second Issuance occurs, the five
year anniversary of the Second Issuance Date (the “Reset Date”), subject to paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below;

il. 6.75% from and after the Reset Date, subject to paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below;

iil. if a listing of the Company's Common Shares or the Series A Preferred Shares on a national securities exchange
registered under Section 6(a) of the Exchange Act, does not occur by August 1, 2020 (the “First Triggering
Event”), 7.55% from and after August 2, 2020 and 7.75% from and after the Reset Date, subject to (iv) below and
certain conditions as set forth in the articles supplementary; or

iv. if such a listing does not occur by August 1, 2021, 8.05% from and after August 2, 2021 until the Reset Date, and
8.25% from and after the Reset Date.

Liquidation Preference

Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series A
Preferred Shares will be entitled to be paid out of the Company's assets legally available for distribution to the shareholders,
after payment of or provision for the Company's debts and other liabilities, liquidating distributions, in cash or property at its
fair market value as determined by the Company's Board, in the amount, for each outstanding Series A Preferred Share equal to
$25.00 per Series A Preferred Share (the "Liquidation Preference"), plus an amount equal to any accumulated and unpaid
distributions to the date of payment, before any distribution or payment is made to holders of common shares or any other class
or series of equity securities ranking junior to the Series A Preferred Shares but subject to the preferential rights of holders of
any class or series of equity securities ranking senior to the Series A Preferred Shares. After payment of the full amount of the
Liquidation Preference to which they are entitled, plus an amount equal to any accumulated and unpaid distributions to the date
of payment, the holders of Series A Preferred Shares will have no right or claim to any of the Company's remaining assets.

Company Redemption Rights

The Series A Preferred Shares may be redeemed by the Company, in whole or in part, at the Company's option, at a per
share redemption price in cash equal to $25.00 per Series A Preferred Share (the "Redemption Price"), plus any accumulated
and unpaid distributions on the Series A Preferred Shares up to the redemption date, plus, a redemption fee of 1.5% of the
Redemption Price in the case of a redemption that occurs on or after the date of the First Triggering Event, but before the date
that is five years from the First Issuance Date.

Holder Redemption Rights

In the event the Company fails to effect a listing of the Company’s common shares or Series A Preferred Shares by
August 1, 2023, the holder of any Series A Preferred Shares has the option to request a redemption of such shares on or on any
date following August 1, 2023, at the Redemption Price, plus any accumulated and unpaid distributions up to the redemption
date (the "Redemption Right"); provided, however, that no holder of the Series A Preferred Shares shall have a Redemption
Right if such a listing occurs prior to or on August 1, 2023.

Conversion Rights

Subject to the Company's redemption rights and certain conditions set forth in the articles supplementary, a holder of the
Series A Preferred Shares, at his or her option, will have the right to convert such holder's Series A Preferred Shares into the
Company's common shares any time after the earlier of (i) five years from the First Issuance Date, or if the Second Issuance
occurs, five years from the Second Issuance Date or (ii) a Change of Control (as defined in the articles supplementary) at a per
share conversion rate equal to the Liquidation Preference divided by the then Common Share Fair Market Value (as defined in
the articles supplementary).

Issuance of Restricted Share Units to Executive Officers, Employees and Board of Trustees
Restricted share units ("RSUs") are granted pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated Employee and Trustee

Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan provides for the grant of awards to the Company’s trustees, full-time
employees and certain consultants that provide services to the Company or affiliated entities. Awards granted under the Plan
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may consist of stock options, restricted shares, share appreciation rights, distribution equivalent rights and other equity-based
awards. The share-based payments are measured at fair value and recognized as compensation expense over the vesting period.
The maximum number of shares authorized under the plan is 777,778 shares. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 357,806
shares were available for future issuance under the Plan.

As of December 31, 2022, there was $10.8 million of unrecognized compensation expense remaining, which vests
between three months and three years.

Total compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 was approximately $9.6 million and
$7.5 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes the activity of unvested shares of RSU awards for the period presented:

Number of Unvested Shares of RSU Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair

Awards Value per Share

Balance at December 31, 2020 104,871

Granted 179917  $ 80.73

Forfeited (24,707)  $ 81.88

Vested (90,235) $ 83.18
Balance at December 31, 2021 169,846
Granted 116,749  $ 66.87
Forfeited (9,404) $ 80.38
Vested (119,056) $ 77.68
Balance at December 31, 2022 158,135

Distributions

Earnings and profits, which determine the taxability of distributions to shareholders, may differ from income reported for
financial reporting purposes due to the differences for federal income tax purposes in the treatment of loss on debt, revenue
recognition and compensation expense and in the basis of depreciable assets and estimated useful lives used to compute
depreciation expense.

The following unaudited table summarizes the federal income tax treatment for all distributions per share for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 reported for federal tax purposes and serves as a designation of capital gain
distributions, if applicable, pursuant to Code Section 857(b)(3)(C) and Treasury Regulation §1.857-6(e).

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Ordinary income $ — —% $ 0.03 9% $ 0.13 33 %
Capital gain — — % — — % — — %
Return of capital 0.35 100 % 0.32 91 % 0.27 67 %
Total distributions paid $ 0.35 100 % $ 0.35 100 % $ 0.40 100 %

10. Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests represent limited liability company interests in the Operating Company in which the Company
was the managing member. General partnership units and limited partnership units of the Operating Partnership were issued as
part of the initial capitalization of the Operating Partnership and GCEAR II Operating Partnership, in conjunction with
members of management's contribution of certain assets, other contributions, and in connection with the Self-Administration
Transaction as discussed in Note 1, Organization, which were then exchanged for units.
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As of December 31, 2022, noncontrolling interests were approximately 9.0% of total shares and 8.8% of weighted average
shares outstanding (both measures assuming OP Units were converted to common shares). The Company has evaluated the
terms of the limited liability company interests in the Operating Company, and as a result, has classified OP Units exchanged
for limited partnership interests issued in the initial capitalization, in conjunction with the contributed assets and in connection
with the Self-Administration Transaction, as noncontrolling interests, which are presented as a component of permanent equity,
except as discussed below.

The Company evaluates individual noncontrolling interests for the ability to recognize the noncontrolling interest as
permanent equity on the consolidated balance sheets at the time such interests are issued and on a continual basis. Any
noncontrolling interest that fails to qualify as permanent equity has been reclassified as temporary equity and adjusted to the
greater of (a) the carrying amount or (b) its redemption value as of the end of the period in which the determination is made.

As of December 31, 2022, the members of the Operating Company owned approximately $31.8 million of OP Units,
which were issued to affiliated parties and unaffiliated third parties in exchange for the contribution of certain properties to the
Company, and in connection with the Self-Administration Transaction and other services In addition, 0.2 million OP Units were
issued to unaffiliated third parties unrelated to property contributions. To the extent the contributors should elect to redeem all
or a portion of their OP Units, pursuant to the terms of the respective contribution agreement, such redemption shall be at a per
unit value equivalent to the price at which the contributor acquired its OP Units in the respective transaction.

The members of the Operating Company (now partners in the Operating Partnership), other than those related to the Will
Partners REIT, LLC ("Will Partners") property contribution, will have the right to cause the general partner of the Operating
Partnership, the Company, to redeem their OP Units for cash equal to the value of an equivalent number of shares, or, at the
Company’s option, purchase their OP Units by issuing one share of the Company’s common shares for the original redemption
value of each OP Unit redeemed. The Company has the control and ability to settle such requests in shares. These rights may
not be exercised under certain circumstances which could cause the Company to lose its REIT election.

The following summarizes the activity for noncontrolling interests recorded as equity for the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021:

December 31,
2022 2021
Beginning balance $ 218,653 $ 226,550
Reclass of noncontrolling interest subject to redemption 957 (159)
Repurchase of noncontrolling interest — —
Issuance of stock dividend for noncontrolling interest —
Distributions to noncontrolling interests (10,942) (10,942)
Allocated distributions to noncontrolling interests subject to redemption 17) (18)
Net income (loss) (39,714) 66
Other comprehensive loss 5,718 3,156
Ending balance $ 174,655 $ 218,653

Noncontrolling interests subject to redemption

OP Units issued pursuant to the Will Partners property contribution are not included in permanent equity on the
consolidated balance sheets. The members holding these units can cause the general partner to redeem the units for the cash
value, as defined in the partnership agreement of the Operating Partnership. As the general partner does not control these
redemptions, these units are presented on the consolidated balance sheets as noncontrolling interest subject to redemption at
their redeemable value. The net income (loss) and distributions attributed to these members are allocated proportionately
between common shareholders and other noncontrolling interests that are not considered redeemable.

11. Related Party Transactions

Summarized below are the related party transaction costs incurred by the Company for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and any related amounts receivable and payable as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:
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Incurred for the Year Ended December 31, Receivable as of December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021
Assets Assumed through the Self-Administration Transaction
Other fees $ — S — 3 243§ — 3 —
Due from GCC
Reimbursable Expense Allocation — 20 15 — 11
Payroll/Expense Allocation 5 19 653 — 260
Total incurred/receivable $ 58 3% oo s 00O0— 8 27
Incurred for the Year Ended December 31, Payable as of December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021

Expensed

Costs advanced by the advisor $ 705 $ 2275 $ 2,000 $ 67 $ 929

Consulting fee - shared services 1,351 2,520 2,500 522 461
Assumed through Self- Administration Transaction/
Predecessor Mergers

Earn-out — — — 130 197

Shareholder Servicing Fee — — — — 92
Other

Distributions 8,688 8,688 10,537 739 739
Total incurred/payable $ 10,744 § 13,483 § 15,037 $ 1,458 § 2,418

Dealer Manager Agreement

The Company entered into a dealer manager agreement and associated form of participating dealer agreement (the “Dealer
Manager Agreement”) with the dealer manager for the Follow-On Offering. The terms of the Dealer Manager Agreement are
substantially similar to the terms of the dealer manager agreement from the Company's initial public offering (“IPO”), except as
it relates to the share classes offered and the fees to be received by the dealer manager. The Follow-On Offering terminated on
September 20, 2020. See Note 9, Equity.

Subject to the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.'s limitations on underwriting compensation, under the Dealer
Manager Agreement the Company required payment to the dealer manager of a distribution fee for ongoing services rendered to
shareholders by participating broker-dealers or broker-dealers servicing investors’ accounts, referred to as servicing broker-
dealers. The fee accrued daily, is paid monthly in arrears, and is calculated based on the average daily NAYV for the applicable
month.

Conflicts of Interest
Affiliated Former Dealer Manager

Since Griffin Capital Securities, LLC, the Company's former dealer manager, is an affiliate of the Company's former
sponsor, the Company did not have the benefit of an independent due diligence review and investigation of the type normally
performed by an unaffiliated, independent underwriter in connection with the offering of securities. The Company's former
dealer manager is also serving as the dealer manager for Griffin-American Healthcare REIT III, Inc. and Griffin-American
Healthcare REIT 1V, Inc., each of which are publicly-registered, non-traded REITs, as wholesale marketing agent for Griffin
Institutional Access Real Estate Fund and Griffin Institutional Access Credit Fund both of which are non-diversified, closed-
end management investment companies that are operated as interval funds under the 1940 Act, and as dealer manager or master
placement agent for various private offerings.

Administrative Services Agreement
In connection with the Predecessor Mergers, the Company assumed, as the successor of our Predecessor and the

Operating Partnership, an Administrative Services Agreement (the “Administrative Services Agreement”), pursuant to which
Griffin Capital Company, LLC (“GCC”) and Griffin Capital, LLC (“GC LLC”) continue to provide certain operational and
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administrative services at cost to the Operating Partnership, Griffin Capital Essential Asset TRS, Inc., and Griffin Capital Real
Estate Company, LLC (“GRECO”). Our Executive Chairman is also the Chief Executive Officer of and controls GCC, which is
the sole member of GC LLC. The Company pays GCC a monthly amount based on the actual costs anticipated to be incurred
by GCC for the provision of services until the Company elects to provide such services for itself or through another provider.
Such costs are reconciled periodically and a full review of the costs will be performed at least annually. In addition, the
Company will directly pay or reimburse GCC for the actual cost of any reasonable third-party expenses incurred in connection
with the provision of such services. On March 30, 2022 and June 30, 2022, we amended the Administrative Services
Agreement to, among other things, reduce the scope of services provided, including removing the provision of office space and
advisor services. Following such amendments, GCC and GC LLC are obligated to provide us with human resources support and
general corporate support on an as-needed basis.

Office Sublease

On March 25, 2022, the Company executed a sublease agreement with GCC (the “Sublease”) for the building located at
1520 E. Grand Ave, El Segundo, CA (the “Building”) which is the location of the Company’s corporate headquarters. The
Building is part of a campus that contains other buildings and parking (the “Campus”). The Sublease also entitles the Company
to use certain common areas on the Campus. Prior to the sublease agreement being signed, the rent for the office space was paid
to GCC as part of the Administrative Services Agreement. The Campus is owned by GCPI, LLC (“GCPI”), and the Building is
master leased by GCPI to GCC. GCC is the sublessor under the Sublease. The Company’s Executive Chairman is the Chief
Executive Officer of and controls GCC and is also affiliated with GCPL

The Sublease provides for initial monthly base rent of $0.05 million, subject to annual escalations of 3% as well as
additional rent for certain operating expenses for the Building and portions of the Campus. The Company’s Executive
Chairman is the Chief Executive Officer of and controls GCC and is also affiliated with GCPI.

Certain Conflict Resolution Procedures

Every transaction that the Company enters into with affiliates is subject to an inherent conflict of interest. The Board may
encounter conflicts of interest in enforcing the Company's rights against any affiliate in the event of a default by or
disagreement with an affiliate or in invoking powers, rights or options pursuant to any agreement between the Company and its
affiliates. See the Company's Code of Ethics and Business Conduct available on the “Governance Documents” subpage of the
“Investors” section of the Company's website at www.pkst.com for a detailed description of the Company's conflict resolution
procedures.

12. Leases

Lessor

The Company leases commercial and industrial space to tenants primarily under non-cancelable operating leases that
generally contain provisions for minimum base rents plus reimbursement for certain operating expenses. Total minimum lease
payments are recognized in rental income on a straight-line basis over the term of the related lease and estimated
reimbursements from tenants for real estate taxes, insurance, common area maintenance and other recoverable operating

expenses are recognized in rental income in the period that the expenses are incurred.

The Company recognized $343.3 million, $378.3 million and $314.1 million of lease income related to operating lease
payments for the year ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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The Company's current leases have expirations ranging from 2023 to 2044. The following table sets forth the
undiscounted cash flows for future minimum base rents to be received under operating leases as of December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2022

2023 $ 230,669
2024 222,596
2025 208,874
2026 204,931
2027 186,630
Thereafter 821,712
Total $ 1,875,412

The future minimum base rents in the table above excludes tenant reimbursements of operating expenses, amortization of
adjustments for deferred rent receivables and the amortization of above/below-market lease intangibles.

Lessee

Certain of the Company’s real estate are subject to ground leases. The Company’s ground leases are classified as either
operating leases or financing leases based on the characteristics of each lease. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had five
ground leases classified as operating and two ground leases classified as financing. Each of the Company’s ground leases were
acquired as part of the acquisition of real estate and no incremental costs were incurred for such ground leases. The Company’s
ground leases are non-cancelable, and contain no renewal options. The Company's Chicago office space lease has a remaining
lease term of approximately two years and no option to renew.

The Company incurred operating lease costs of approximately $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and
$3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 respectively, which are included in "Property Operating Expense" in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Total cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating
lease liabilities was $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 and $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2021,
respectively.

The following table sets forth the weighted-average for the lease term and the discount rate as of December 31, 2022 and
2021:

As of December 31,
Lease Term and Discount Rate 2022 2021
Weighted-average remaining lease term in years 72 74
Weighted-average discount rate ") 475 % 4.83 %

(1) Because the rate implicit in each of the Company's leases was not readily determinable, the Company used an incremental borrowing rate. In determining
the Company's incremental borrowing rate for each lease, the Company considered recent rates on secured borrowings, observable risk-free interest rates
and credit spreads correlating to the Company's creditworthiness, the impact of collateralization and the term of each of the Company's lease agreements.

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022 were as follows:
As of December 31, 2022

Operating Financing
2023 $ 2,151 § 560
2024 1,906 360
2025 1,567 365
2026 1,501 375
2027 1,524 381
Thereafter 250,233 3,498
Total undiscounted lease payments 258,882 5,539
Less imputed interest (215,796) (2,106)
Total lease liabilities $ 43,086 $ 3,433
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13. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

From time to time, the Company may become subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business. The Company is not a party to any material legal proceedings, nor is the Company aware of any pending or
threatened litigation that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, cash flows or
financial condition should such litigation be resolved unfavorably.

Capital Expenditures and Tenant Improvement Commitments

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had an aggregate remaining contractual commitment for repositioning, capital
expenditure projects, leasing commissions and tenant improvements of approximately $29.7 million.

14. Segment Reporting

In the fourth quarter of 2022, the Company evolved the management strategy of its real estate portfolio to focus on three
different property types in order to maximize the value of the assets within each group. As a result, the Company changed to
three reportable segments: Industrial, Office, and Other. The Industrial segment consists of high-quality, well-located industrial
properties with modern specifications. The Office segment consists of newer, high-quality, and business-essential office
properties. The Other segment consists of vacant and non-core properties, together with other properties in the same cross-
collateralized loan pools. This segment includes properties that are either non-stabilized, leased to tenants with shorter lease
terms or are being evaluated for repositioning, re-leasing or potential sale. The Company recast its segment results for all prior
periods presented to show the three reportable segments.

The Company evaluates performance of each segment based on segment NOI, which is defined as property revenue less
property expenses. Interest expense and general administrative expenses are not included in segment profit as our internal
reporting addresses these items on a corporate level. Segment NOI is not a measure of operating income or cash flows from
operating activities is not indicative of cash available to fund cash needs and should not be considered an alternative to cash
flows as a measure of liquidity. Not all companies calculate segment profit in the same manner. The Company considers
segment profit to be an appropriate supplemental measure to net income because it assists both investors and management in
understanding the core operations of our properties. Additionally, the Company considers its interests in the Office Joint
Venture as corporate related activity and excludes such amounts from its segment reporting.
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A reconciliation of segment NOI for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 is as follows:

Industrial NOI
Total Industrial revenues
Industrial operating expenses

Industrial NOI

Office NOI
Total Office revenues
Office operating expenses

Office NOI

Other NOI

Total Other revenues
Other operating expenses
Other NOI

Total NOI

Reconciliation of Net Income to Total NOI
Net (loss) income

General and administrative expenses
Corporate operating expenses to affiliates
Impairment provision, real estate
Impairment provision, goodwill
Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense

Debt breakage costs

Other loss (income), net

Loss (income) from investment in unconsolidated entities
Loss (gain) from disposition of assets
Transaction expense

Total NOI

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2020
$ 61,347 $ 59,320 § 69,047
(7,870) (7,195) (9,210)
53,477 52,125 59,837
297,110 340,265 268,928
(66,143) (80,010) (70,815)
230,967 260,255 198,113
58,029 60,288 59,477
(19,252) (19,369) (18,682)
38,777 40,919 40,795
$ 323,221 $ 353,299 §$ 298,745
Year Ended December 31,
2022 2020
$ (441,382) $ 11,570 § (5,774)
39,893 40,479 38,633
1,349 2,520 2,500
127,577 4,242 23,472
135,270 — —
190,745 209,638 161,056
84,816 85,087 79,646
13,249 = =
45 (1,521) (3,228)
9,993 (8) 6,523
139,280 326 (4,083)
22,386 966 —
$ 323,221 $ 353,299 §$ 298,745
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The following table presents the Company’s goodwill for each of the segments as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Goodwill
Industrial
Office

Other

Total Goodwill

PEAKSTONE REALTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands unless otherwise noted and excluding per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021
68,373 68,373
— 135,270
26,305 26,305
94,678 229,948

See Note 8, Fair Value Measurements, for details regarding the inputs used in determining the impairment of goodwill.
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The following table presents the Company’s total real estate assets, net, which includes accumulated depreciation and
amortization and excludes intangibles, for each segment as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Industrial Real Estate, net
Total real estate $ 761,757 $ 788,339
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (137,738) (118,737)
Industrial real estate, net 624,019 669,602
Office Real Estate, net
Total real estate 2,020,463 4,045,732
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (305,829) (692,865)
Office real estate, net 1,714,634 3,352,867
Other Real Estate, net
Total real estate 715,036 736,089
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (201,072) (181,721)
Other real estate, net 513,964 554,368
Total Real Estate, net $ 2,852,617 $ 4,576,837

Total asset information by segment is not reported because the Company does not use this measure to assess performance
or to make resource allocation decisions.

15. Declaration of Distributions

On November 2, 2021, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common share, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on January 1, 2022 and ending on March 31, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each
shareholder of record on February 1, 2022, March 1, 2022, and April 1, 2022, respectively.

On March 29, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common share, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on April 1, 2022 and ending on April 30, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each shareholder
of record on May 2, 2022.

On April 26, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common share, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on May 1, 2022 and ending on May 31, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each shareholder of
record on June 1, 2022.
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On May 20, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common share, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on June 1, 2022 and ending on June 30, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each shareholder of
record on July 1, 2022.

On June 1, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of $0.008630136
per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common share, Class T
common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share, Class AA
common share and Class AAA common shares, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the period
commencing on July 1, 2022 and ending on July 31, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each shareholder of record
on August 1, 2022.

On June 30, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common shares, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on August 1, 2022 and ending on August 31, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each
shareholder of record on September 1, 2022.

On August 3, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common share, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on September 1, 2022 and ending on September 30, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each
shareholder of record on October 3, 2022.

On September 20, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common shares, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on October 1, 2022 and ending on October 31, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each
shareholder of record on November 1, 2022.

On October 20, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common share, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on November 1, 2022 and ending on November 30, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each
shareholder of record on December 1, 2022.

On November 2, 2022, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common
share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share,
Class AA common share and Class AAA common share, for shareholders of record at the close of each business day for the
period commencing on December 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2022. The Company paid such distributions to each
shareholder of record on January 3, 2023.

16. Subsequent Events
Sale of Property

On January 6, 2023, the Company sold one held for sale property located in Irvine, California for approximately
$40.0 million, less closing costs and other credits. The Company recognized an estimated gain of approximately $18.7 million.
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On February 16, 2023, the Company sold one property located in Clinton, South Carolina for approximately
$19.3 million, less closing costs and other credits. The property met the held for sale criteria subsequent to year-end and the
Company recognized an estimated gain of approximately $7.1 million.

On March 2, 2023, the Company sold one property located in Herndon, Virginia for approximately $110.3 million, less
closing costs and other credits. The property met the held for sale criteria subsequent to year-end and the Company recognized
an estimated gain of approximately $4.8 million.

Repayment of Mortgage Debt

On March 6, 2023, the Company repaid the outstanding balance of $19.1 million related to the HealthSpring mortgage
loan maturing in April 2023.

Extension of Revolving Credit Facility and Repayment of 2024 Term Loan

On March 21, 2023, the Company, through the Operating Partnership, entered into the Seventh Amendment to the Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 21, 2023 (the “Seventh Amendment”), which, among other things,
(i) permits the Operating Partnership to extend the Revolving Commitments (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement) of each Revolving Lender (as defined in the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) to January
31, 2026 (the “Subsequent Extension”); (ii) amended the covenant regarding Tangible Net Worth (as defined in the Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) to reduce the baseline calculation for the required Tangible Net Worth from
$2,030,720,237 to $1,000,000,000; and (iii) added a covenant that prohibits any special distributions from extraordinary non-
recurring income.

Prior to the Seventh Amendment, the final Revolving Credit Maturity Date (as defined in the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement) was June 30, 2024. The exercise of the Subsequent Extension by the Operating Partnership is
conditioned upon, among other things, (i) prior to June 30, 2024, the Company consummating a listing of its equity interests
which results in such equity interests being traded on the New York Stock Exchange and (ii) the payment of an extension fee on
the effective date of the Subsequent Extension in an amount equal to 20 basis points of the amount of Revolving Commitments
being extended in connection with the Subsequent Extension.

In connection with the Seventh Amendment, and as a condition to the effectiveness thereof, the Operating Partnership
prepaid the outstanding principal balance ($400,000,000) of the 2024 Term Loan (as defined in the Second Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement). The prepayment was funded through a draw on the revolving credit facility portion of the Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

Cash Distributions

On January 20, 2023 the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, based on 365 days in the calendar year, of
$0.008630136 per day ($3.15 per share annualized), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E share, Class
T share, Class S share, Class D share, Class I share, Class A share, Class AA share and Class AAA share for shareholders of
such classes as of the close of each business day for the period from commencing January 1, 2023 and ending on January 31,
2023. The Company paid such distributions to each shareholder of record on February 1, 2023.

On February 16, 2023, the Board declared an all-cash distribution rate, ($0.90 per share annualized), subject to
adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common share, Class T common share, Class S common share, Class D
common share, Class I common share, Class A common share, Class AA common share and Class AAA common share for
shareholders of such classes as of the close of each business day for the period commencing on February 1, 2023 and ending on
February 28, 2023. The Company paid such distributions to each shareholder of record on February 24, 2023.

On March 14, 2023, the Board declared an all-cash monthly distribution (for the month of March in the amount of $0.075
per share), subject to adjustments for class-specific expenses, per Class E common share, Class T common share, Class S
common share, Class D common share, Class I common share, Class A common share, Class AA common share and Class
AAA common share for shareholders of such classes (or any class into which common shares may be converted). The dividend
is payable on or about May 12, 2023 to shareholders of record as of May 2, 2023.
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Conversion, Name Change and Listing

On January 19, 2023, the Company converted its form of organization from a Maryland corporation to a Maryland real
estate investment trust and changed its name from Griffin Realty Trust, Inc. to Griffin Realty Trust.

On February 21, 2023, the Company announced its intention to list its common shares on the New York Stock Exchange
(the “Listing”). On March 10, 2023, the Company changed its name from Griffin Realty Trust to Peakstone Realty Trust and
the Operating Partnership changed its name from GRT OP, L.P. to PKST OP, L.P. in anticipation of the Listing.

Internal Restructuring
On November 10, 2022, the Company completed an internal restructuring pursuant to which the Operating Partnership

became wholly owned by the Operating Company. On February 23, 2023, the Company completed an additional restructuring
to restore the Company’s operating structure to its condition prior to the internal restructuring.

F-48



SEL'LET $ LSLT9L $  ¥8HE89 $ ELTSL S P00'6L S 08v'P09 $ ELTBL $  pECOVT $ [ernsnpuy [ejo,

s1eak Op-g 610T/1/S VIN 96L°€ 856'0C 208°61 9sT1°1 SOS°T L6T'8T 9511 — IN Jensnpuy 0adop sepy
steak 0p-g 1207/1/€ VIN S0S't 6L9'8Y LIL'SY 967 orE'l LLETY 967 — HO  [ewsnpuf 100wy
s1eak -5 1207/1/€ VN SLL £V8°TI I18I°11 2991 {434 9PLOT 7991 — an [ersnpug SOOIAIRS BuIping AM[OpLy
steak 0p-§ 020T/$/T VIN Teee Pr1°9€ LELTE LOY'E ¥56 £8L°1¢€ LOV'E 9€8°LI ON  [etnsnpup saimuaA Suimog 1sdag
s1edk Op-g 610T/1/S VIN ¥26'71 POLTIT 120°L01 ELLY 9P II SLY'S6 €LLY 00S°19 HO  [emsnpuy B - UOZBWY
s1eak Op-§ 6107/1/S VIN €96 156°L8 6r1°T8 08's 169 8SLSL w08's 009°€t gl [erusnpug NE
steak op-g 6107/1/S VIN ¥€6'T 991°91 0r6'vI 97Tl 8€0°T 206°€1 9TT'l — DS [emsnpup 0DEVM dZ
steak Op-§ 6102/1/$ VIN L00'Y €89°L1 S0L°91 8L6 895°T LEI'YI 8L6 — HO  [etusopup Xuead0)
steak Op-g 6107/1/S V/IN £86'C €01°61 066°ST €I1°e ISE°L 6£9°F1 €IT°E — VA [eHsnpup (oue ped
M 008) sfiesuy uojSununy
s1eak Op-g 610T/1/S VIN 0L6'C £00°61 £06°S1 001°€ €Tl 085°t1 001°¢ — VA [ernsnpuy (oue dueg
‘M 00€) S[[eSu] uoyFununpy
steak Op-§ 810/€/S VIN L8T'8 18529 9IT°LS S9v'S — 9IT°LS S9Y'S — VO [emsnpuf SaLSIpUL Meys
steak Op-g 810T/€1/€ V/IN PSI'8 798°09 6TH'SS [33 49 88 [ESS 2349 — T4 [eLosnpup oDisdog
steak Op-§ 9107/71/1 VIN 8TST 89L°68 SOEHL £9v°ST T69°LE £19°9¢ €911 — VD  [emsnpup HY
swak op-¢ S10T/11/2] V/IN 8SL°01 1SS°Ly 1s‘cy 0v0°S k4 06v'Ty 0r0°s 866°L1 T4 [eLosnpug duoswes
steak Op-§ €10T/S/11 VIN €69 LISYT T6'El SL8 L9S'T SLETT SL8 — DN [esnpup saLsnpu] ysnoy
180k (g €10T/E1/8 VN e 61t'sE TTLLe L69°L 6L8°S £78°1C L69'L — 1 [erasnpuy SISO UOISUIIY - UOZEUIY
steak 0p-g TI07/8/11 VIN ELI'S ¥T8°91 0ST¥I yL9'T 126 6TTEl yL9'T — I [ersnpuy [eqo[D Aug
s1eak Op-§ TI0T/1€/S VIN L8F'E pITEl 176 €LLE 1y 0£0°6 €LLE (N [emsnpuj wsiqsuel],
steak Op-g 0107/LT/8 VIN 91S'E £08'8 6788 yLT 796 L9S'L yLT — S [emsnpup supjdopy
s1eak Op-§ 6007/81/9 VIN 89€°01 S v6S'IT ¥61°0T $ 00¥'1 $  TI0T 8181 $ oov'r S — $ OS [ersnpug oyuRY
[eLysnpuy
pamdwos uonisimboy uonoONISU0) uonezniowy @10l © sjuawaAoIduy pue syuotuoAolduy sjuatuoAolduy pue © aeIg odA L Auadord
SIJUSWAE)S Joarq Joarq pue uonerddoq pue Surping pue Suipjing pue Suiping SQOUBIQUINOUL] Aadorg
auwodul PaAIR[NWNIIY
Isore] ur
uonerdaidop
orym 2207 ‘1€ 10quiooa(] (o Siseq 01 (1) Kuedwio) 011800 [eniug
uo .&_1_ Je Junowy Surkue)) ssoin Juounsnipy [ejo ],

(spuesnoy ur saejjoq)
NOILVZILJOINY ANV NOILVIDHAdAd dALVTINNNDIV ANV SLASSY HLVLSH TVII
I A TNAIHDS
LSMIL ALTVHA ANOLSMVAd



seak 0p-g  6102/02/6 VIN 6vT'L 80L°1¥ S0L°1¥ — oYLt 656°9¢ — — vy 200 (peoy ewilg

YHON [08S) UOSSININ

s1eak Op-g 6102/1/S VIN (3594 PPS0€ 618°9T stLe 1L6 818°ST seL'e — NI 200 OSIN

sreak (=g 6107/1/S VIN ELI'L SES8Y LISy 8IL'E SEL 780 8IL'E — IN 290 sneoz

s1eak (p-g 6102/1/S VIN [Seard 66L°C1 €6L°01 9007 €S 0LT01 900°C — VI 0 swaysAg ueosidey

steak (=g 6107/1/S V/IN w9yl SEL'T8 8S0°€L LLY'6 WLl 9IETL LLY'6 — IN 200 "0)) ‘2INSI 7 [2ABLL

s1eak (p-g 6102/1/S VN 8191 SL6'991 181°651 POLL LSH'1 PTLLST Y6LL 009°66 v 2030 Auedwo) woyinog

steak (=g 6107/1/S V/IN 188°6 POE'SL 1€9°69 £L9°S 120°C 019°L9 €L9°S 00€°Sy AN 2930 191

s1eak (p-g 6102/1/S VN STI'L cILor L6L'8E 9161 £TH'T PLEGE 916°l — ON 2030 DHL equysoL

steak (=g 8107/01/% VIN €ISTT 0I8°7E LS9'VE €51 L8€ 0LTYE €51 — v ELiitle} (peoy

Bwiid ‘N 10LS) WS UQ

steak (p-g 8102/01/% VN €26°11 818°SE 659°S€ 651 891 06t°€ 651 — v 200 (peoy

BULJ "N 109S) UOSSININ

S1A 0p-S  L10T/0E/11 VIN T61°9 WL 60S°1¢ €LT1 = 60S°1t LT = oS WO (K 1T 0101 1d'T

steak 0p-g  L10T/0€/11 VIN 88°Cl 79606 75698 9y — 75€°98 19y — oS 2010 (Kep

TdT0901 % $S01) 1dT

SaA 0p-S  910T/LT/Y VN TS6'E TSILL €ILEl 6¢t'e 0t 60€°€1 65t'€ 980°8 NL 0 (peoy

31D 181D 0S) BUBLD)

18k Op-g 910T/LT/Y VIN 6IE'S ST8'TT 8€1°81 L89' — 8€1°81 L89'% 120°11 NL RO (peoy

[0ILD) 11D (ES) SITY

steak 0p-g  S10T/11/21 VIN 0€9°S 9EY' YT 18¥°CC SS6°1 1769 0pS'ST SS6°'1 — XL 2090 (111 28e10H) wnjuswy

sk (p-g S102/01/9 VN SLO9T 9LTO11 019001 999°6 TIs'9T 860°7L 999'6 — VA 2010 sa[[nq 1e er] Ynog

sreak (=g S107/1/% V/IN YEL'ST L99°89 £88°69 ¥8LT (6Lt°01) LEG'SL 60T°€ — XL 20y30 (111 edIsap) dnoig pooy

18K Op-g ¥102/ST/9 VIN 006'S TLLL TLL9L 000°T — TLLI9T 000°1 — 14 YO uoj[ereq

sk 0p-§  $I0T/H1/1 VIN 869°8C 00076 00t°€8 009°8 — 00t°€8 009°8 — 00 200 Texe.

s1eak (-5 T10T/62/9 VIN SIL'S LL69T LLEYT 009°C LL8O1 00S°€1 009°T 00 200 [CELTIN

15e7]) SWaIsAS 20vds 10 X

sk 0p-g  TI0T/TT/E VIN $§9°01 6¥1'6T 66L°9C 089 ¥ ShL9T 059 — vd 200 Ddd

sk (p-g T10T/1¢/1 VN 6T1°C 010°L £66°S LLOL 9LL LS1'S LLO'L — 2N 20 (0ang

WL HN 09SH1) L®LY

sreak 0p-g  TI0T/1€/1 VN ¥L0°9 (43401 €2091 65T'€ S19 809°S1 65T°€ — VM 00 (10ang

WL AN 0TSHT) LBLY

stk Op-§ T10T/1€/1 VIN 1697 $  €v0'ST$ 609l YT S vS6 $  959°11 vEY'T  $ VM 2030 (10208

WL8 AN 00SP1) L®LV

20

pandwos uonismboy uonoNISU0)) uoneziowy g0 (o StudwdA01dw] pue 3 oxduwp il pue] © BilEN adAL Kadoig
SIIudWAE)S Joarq Joarq pue uoneroaido pue Suipjing pue Suipying pue Suiping $9oUBIQUINOUE Auadoig
woout pare[UINIIY
Jsore| ur
uonerdidap g
yorym 720T ‘1€ oquiasaq (o) Siseq 0 o Auedwo) 011500 [eniup

o 3511

e Junowry Sulkie)) ssoin Juounsnlpy [ejo,

S-2



swak 0y =g $107/TT/S VN 91T 9€€°6L 9EE9 0001 €81 £68°SH 000°S1 — 7y Yo yurodssor)
s1eak 0p-§ Y10T/€TY V/IN L99°ST LY8°66 LY9'€6 00T°9 Yov'T £51°16 0029 £68°TS (N HOUIO  SHOSIY % S[PIOH Weypuk
steak Op-g €102/€/01 VIN €5TIT 696°LS 699°TS 00€°s 106°S1 89L°9¢ 00€°s 965°€T IN Eeie) aouapuadapuy ¢
s183A (-5 €102/€/S VIN 961 881°6¢ 8S8°LE 0€€°l i 858°LE 0€€E°l I€4°1T ON RO Sa150[0uydd [, uodAEY
steak 0p-g €10T/1/S VIN 99°s1 £79°9F €€1vh 01T (606°€) WLl 008°C €11°LT XL PYo 1oB1equIniyds
sk (p-g €102/11/1 VIN s 96L°81 €5L°91 £10°T OL1L) 98°TT 9pI‘e i 00 PhHo 11 10D 02GaNQ)
steak 0p-g TI0T/81/21 VIN $99°01 8LSTT 96€°81 [0 yee TL0'81 4] — vO 10 D pig 0D dio) awiogd poo
Sk 0p-g  TIOT/EL/IT VN 1ILL LO1°81 L0891 00€°T 619 881°91 00€°1 17L'6 HO YO uewwni doxguoN
s1eak -5 S10T/01/9 VIN PEST S0€°SS 91€'8Y 6869 [ SL89Y 686°9 — an 20410 10U uIpueLy
s1eak (p-g S102/9/11 VN 1SL'8 L16°0€ 08T°5T LEY'S — 087°ST LEY'S OpLTL ONW LYo VSN AB1oug 1yoeny
s1eak Op-g €107/62/S VIN LIS'6 §  88¢'ce  § 8Tl 0981 § L 18t1€ S 0981 $ €I6Ll [ A YO (3]puey)) JUAY
210
678°S0€ S €95070°T$  S8IOSET S 8LTYILS  bTI‘9S $  8T96LT  $  TILLOLS LOOHIT  § 20 [BI0L
steak (p-g 1202/1/€ VN L£0°T 965°1€ 917°0¢ 08€°1 €6C°1 £26'8T 08¢€°1 — XL 2030 18D [EDIPAJN SIIULSL
sreak 0p-§ 1202/1/€ VIN 1Tyl 96L°91 869°€1 8€1°E L9 L86°TI 8EI'E — XL 20 “dio)) ereq Yoo L
s1eak Op-g 1202/1/€ VN 11t's TI6'8L 9€SLL 9LEL 88H°8 81069 9LEl — NL 200 Jadeg [puoneuIu]
s1eak (=g 1202/1/€ VIN $92°T 195°6T 9€8°0C sty 080 95L81 Sty — vd 200 (s1duog ssaxdxy) vust)
s1eak Op-g 1202/1/€ VN Tyl 12671 61501 08°1 [24 966'6 208°1 — ON 0 woade) 40T % 9¢1
sreak Op-g 120T/1/€ VN LLT'E LL8'YS $00°TS £L8°T S8E°T 619°08 €L8°T — an 2050 WM OF
s1eak (-g 1202/1/€ VN STETL €TI'ELL 198691 e 879 £€T°691 — YN 2030 (onuaAy ymnog
€6) 1addag "1 Sunay
sk (p-§ 1202/1/€ V/IN 069°€ L8EYS 9LT 6 s (5] Yov'8Yy 11's — VIN 2O (onuaAy ymog
€9) Joddog "1 Sunoy
steak 0p-g 1202/1/€ VIN 8SH'T £50°97 yISTC 6€S°e (520°6) £r1°0€¢ $86' — VN 20 SWRISAS [BAIPIIN 103201
S8k (-5 1202/1/€ VIN L10°€ $85°5€ 8LI1°0E LOV'S (€21°6) 6EL°LE 696°9 = VN ERINT) SwoIsAS Amoso
steak 0p-g 1202/1/€ VN €0TY See’Ly £26°07 v $29°'1 66T°6€ [t — VI 200 20ULIISHBY BAGLOD)
sk (-5 1202/1/€ VN 81T LEE'EE 96¥°9T 178°9 YOL'T 0LYT 1789 — 0D WO wWnd[0113 [EIUPIIO
steak 0p-g 1202/1/€ VN 10€°01 LLSTIT 08988 L68°€T 0sT'1 0€t°L8 L68°€T — VO 20 wurog Aajdo)) je sadeua .
sk (=g 1202/1/€ VIN 185 LLT'8E £88°7¢€ Y6E'S 7981 120°1€ Y6E'S — a4 290 (X1ua0Y ) Joury
steak (=g 1202/1/€ VIN 98¢€°11 0S64T1 989°0C1 P9TH 8 $09°0C1 Y9y — v 200 UBJONIN Hodaary
pandwos uonismboy uonoNISU0)) uoneziowy g0 (o StdwdA01dw] pue 3 oxduwp il pue] © BilEIN adAL Auadoig
SIIudWAR)S Joarq Joarq pue uoneroaido pue Suipjing pue Suipying pue Suiping saduBIqUINOUY Auadoig
woout pare[UINIIY
Jsore| ur
uoneaidap
Yorym 720T ‘1€ Joquiasaq (o Siseq 01 o Auedwoy) 011500 [enuy

o 351

e Junowry Sulkie)) ssoin

Juounsnfpy [ejo],

S-3



‘sonzadoad oy uo sudr| 95eS)ow Js11y POJNLRJOP-SSOIO PUB PIZI[LISIL[[0I-SSO0IO AQ PAINSos I ueo] yueghody/ vOd oyl (S)
(paypneun) uorfjiq z'¢$ Ajorewxoidde sem sosodind xe)y owooul [e10pa) 10 POUMO SOLIRIPISqNS PajepIjosuod pue Aueduio)) oy 9)e)so [eal Jo 1509 )eSa1S5e oy ‘7707 ‘1€ 1queasg jo sy ()
‘saimua A Surnog 1sdod pue TNV ‘BMoyS uedLwWyY ADIA DdOV ‘11 91e31sopm
‘Butuio) suomQ se [[om se ‘suonisinboe Axodoid SutidSyijea] pue aiuoswes ‘46 ALMySIH 9Y) Ul PIWNSSE 1GOp dY) 0} PAJL[I UOL[[IW ()’ [§ JO JUNOISIP UOIBN[BA UBO] JOU AU} SPN[OUI 10U SI0P Junowy  (g)
‘saSreyo juourredw pue ‘s3s09 juowdojosap 9)e)sa [eal amyipuadxo [edes jo sisisuo) ()
's1509 uondiosqe pue uoneurSuo jueud) apnjourl sjuowosoidwr pue Suipyng (1)

€E1°7S9 S 8SI'PIS'ES  8LOE6I'E $  080°IEES  TH6'FII $  SSS'IT0E $  8SY9'LEES  €08°6ES $
€10T/6T/01 VIN Y6v'L $ T069T $ 0€TET $ w9e § — $  0€TeT $ Tyt § — $ Vo [erusnpuy PeH X0
afes
10] PJoY S1OSSE LIS [BAY
6€9°PH9 $  9ST'L6F'ES  8Y8'691°E $  80FLIES TH6'PII $  STE'866'T $  986°CEES  €08°6ES $ 01]0J)104 [BIO],
TLOT0T $ 9E0SIL $  6LI‘0EY $ LS8P8 §  PIS6T $  LIT'L6S $ 0088 § T98PET  § 19O 18301
s1eak Op-§ 1c0z/1/e VIN L18'E 8T8'6T 128 L00°S €611 8T€'€T L00S - v YO g
s183K (-G 6102/1/S VIN 000°C 079°L €929 LSE'1 (885°8) 960°€1 601°¢ — 00 200 11 01U
9e10d10D) SMOPRIA SIed
s1eak Op-g 610T/1/S VIN 8101 ¥50°S 1€€y €L 97t SO1'Y €TL 98L°T AN RO (A1 JALID 056)
191ua) arerodio) WOW
183k (S 610T/1/S VIN 816'C 20T'S1 PI0°ET 881°C 165 £THTI 881°C 4343 AN Lo (oA 191D 088)
199ua)) arerodio) WO
s1ak 0p-§ 610T/1/S VIN 97T 17611 LOE01 P€9°1 600°1 867°6 vEY'l L6T'9 AN RO (2A1Q HOHD 0F8)
191u0)) 91e10dio) INOIN
s1eak Op-g 610T/1/S VIN £6T°T €59°T1 LOYOT Ll 18L 929°6 Ciza 8Y8°S Vd P00 SHUNOD) BIUBAJASUUSY
JO 92LJO dAnENSIUIWIPY
s1eak Op-§ 610T/1/S VIN LLO'TT 800°LS 667 91L°L 0L8 Ty 9IL'L 0S6°TE XL Lmo (11 21e1s941) dnoin pooy
s1eak (S 610T/1/S VIN 88H°€ 9€T°0T TT0°61 PITT P8¥°T 8€591 PITT £76°6 HO RPmpo WS IYIENH
s1eak Op-g 610T/1/S VIN sl 98€°9 615°S L98 101°1 81ty L98 6L1°E ON RO Suruio) suamQ
s19K 0p-§ 10T/1/8 VIN LIS'I vE0'8Y 08¥°LE ¥SS 01 €991 LI8'SE ¥$5°01 — (0e] EeLte) (3uQ d8prpied) € (2497
pamduiod uonismboy uonoNISU0)) uoneziowy [eog (o StudwdA01dw] pue S oxdup il pue] (€) BilEN adAL Kadoig
SIIudWIAR)S Joarq Joarq pue uoneroaido pue Suipjing pue Suipying pue Suiping sadUBIqUINOUY Kadorg
dwoout POIR[NWINOOY
15[ Ul
uoneaidap
Igm TT0T ‘1€ 12quiadag (o Siseq 01 ) Aueduio) o1 3500 [eniug

w0 oy e Junowry Suikie)) ssoin uausnipy [e10],

S-4



67STOP'E S LESILSY S LI9TS8T
€LLLIS §  €TEE66 $  6£9'H9
— — (r6v°L)
(89L°9) (908°L2) (SS9'9L)
(619°%) (098°S) —

— — Ly

— — (8€8°05)
= (zzr) =
950°191 8€9°60C 05€°981
£01°899 S €LLLIS §  €TEE66
W0E0IEY S 091°0LSS S 9STL6VE
= = (206'92)
(601°€S) (0v8°05) (990°9L8°1)
(eLy'e0) (Tre'y) (P1+°8L1)
— (zzv) —

— (9267 (621)
90€°TL THO'6T L£09°8
pr1°9¢ 967°68C°1 =
EEP'BLTY 20€01€Y S 091°0LS'S

0707 1202 7207

“I€ 19qUI22IQ PIPUF 4TI A Y} 10§ KIABIY

19U “SINIIOE) AJEIS [y

183K JO pud Je douBRg

[ES 10J P[AY] SIOSSE AJLISI [BIY 1SS

asuadxa uoneroadop sjosse ae1sa [Bal JO J[eS 1SS0
asuadxa uoneroadop s1osse Je)sd [BaI-UON] SO
syuaunsnipe LYo

uoistaoxd yusuwrredu

1500 uondI0sqe pue UONEUISLIO JUBUI) JO UMOP ALIA
asuadxe uoneznIowe pue uonearda(

1894 Jo Suruuroq je soue|eg

uonedadap pajenunIdy

182K JO pu? JE doUB[RY

9[es 10J P[AY SIASSE LIS [BIY

SJOSSE 2)EISd [BI JO J[eS

uorsiaoxd yuouLrreduwy

51500 uondiosqe pue UONEUISLIO JUBUA) JO UMOP LA
sysunsnipe YO

S)UOWAAOIAWI PUE §)S0 UOHONNSUO)

suonsmboy

1eak jo Suruuiaq je soueeg

SINIIOEJ 9)EISD [BIY

S-5



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]






[AA] Peakstone

Peakstone Realty Trust’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022 is included in this annual report. The exhibits
accompanying the report are filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) and can be accessed in the EDGAR database at the
SEC’s website, www.sec.gov. You may also obtain this information by
visiting our website at www.pkst.com. We will provide these items to
shareholders upon request.

Requests for any such exhibits should be made to:
Peakstone Realty Trust

1520 E. Grand Avenue

El Segundo, California 90245

Attn: Investor Relations

Peakstone Realty Trust has filed with the SEC as exhibits to its Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, the certifications, required
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, of its Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer relating to the quality of its public
disclosure.

June 20, 2023 at 9:00 am (PT)

Independent Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP

Investor Relations
ir@pkst.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare
800.679.2112

Peakstone Realty Trust is
traded on the New York
Stock Exchange under the
symbol PKST.



